Public Document Pack

QSwaIe

BOROUGH COUNCIL

AGENDA
PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING

Date: Thursday, 30 May 2019
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Council Chamber - Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

Membership:
Membership will be confirmed following Annual Council on 22 May 2019.
Quorum =6

RECORDING NOTICE
Please note: this meeting may be recorded.

At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being
audio recorded. The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where there are
confidential or exempt items.

You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act.
Data collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the Council’s data
retention policy.

Therefore by entering the Chamber and speaking at Committee you are consenting to being
recorded and to the possible use of those sound records for training purposes.

If you have any queries regarding this please contact Democratic Services.

Pages
1. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

The Chairman will advise the meeting of the evacuation procedures to
follow in the event of an emergency. This is particularly important for
visitors and members of the public who will be unfamiliar with the building
and procedures.

The Chairman will inform the meeting whether there is a planned
evacuation drill due to take place, what the alarm sounds like (i.e. ringing
bells), where the closest emergency exit route is, and where the second
closest emergency exit route is, in the event that the closest exit or route
is blocked.

The Chairman will inform the meeting that:



(a) in the event of the alarm sounding, everybody must leave the building
via the nearest safe available exit and gather at the Assembly points at
the far side of the Car Park. Nobody must leave the assembly point until
everybody can be accounted for and nobody must return to the building
until the Chairman has informed them that it is safe to do so; and

(b) the lifts must not be used in the event of an evacuation.
Any officers present at the meeting will aid with the evacuation.

It is important that the Chairman is informed of any person attending who
is disabled or unable to use the stairs, so that suitable arrangements may
be made in the event of an emergency.

Apologies for Absence and Confirmation of Substitutes
Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 25 April 2019 (Minute
Nos. 608 - 613) as a correct record.

Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner. They
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act
2011. The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be
declared. After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and
not take part in the discussion or vote. This applies even if there is
provision for public speaking.

(b)  Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct
adopted by the Council in May 2012. The nature as well as the existence
of any such interest must be declared. After declaring a DNPI interest,
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer,
having considered the facts would conclude that there was a real
possibility that the Member might be predetermined or biased the
Member should declare their predetermination or bias and then leave the
room while that item is considered.

Advice to Members: If any Councillor has any doubt about the
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Monitoring
Officer, the Head of Legal or from other Solicitors in Legal Services as
early as possible, and in advance of the Meeting.


https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g2135/Printed%20minutes%2025th-Apr-2019%2019.00%20Planning%20Committee.pdf?T=1

Part B reports for the Planning Committee to decide

5. Deferred ltem 1-90
To consider the following application:
18/503723/MOD106 — 153 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PA

Members of the public are advised to confirm with Planning Services prior
to the meeting that the application will be considered at this meeting.

Requests to speak on this item must be registered with Democratic
Services (democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or call us on 01795 417328)
by noon on Wednesday 29 May 2019.

6. Report of the Head of Planning Services 91—
187
To consider the attached report (Parts 1, 2 and 5).

The Council operates a scheme of public speaking at meetings of the
Planning Committee. All applications on which the public has registered
to speak will be taken first. Requests to speak at the meeting must be
registered with Democratic Services (democraticservices@swale.gov.uk
or call 01795 417328) by noon on Wednesday 29 May 2019.

Issued on Tuesday, 21 May 2019

The reports included in Part | of this agenda can be made available
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or
to arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please

contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out
more about the work of the Planning Committee, please visit
www.swale.gov.uk

Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT


mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

PLANNING SERVICES

Planning Items to be submitted to the Planning Committee

30 MAY 2019

Standard Index to Contents

DEFERRED ITEMS Items shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that
meeting may be considered at this meeting

PART 1 Reports to be considered in public session not included elsewhere
on this Agenda

PART 2 Applications for which permission is recommended
PART 3 Applications for which refusal is recommended
PART 4 Swale Borough Council’'s own development; observation on

County Council’s development; observations on development in
other districts or by Statutory Undertakers and by Government
Departments; and recommendations to the County Council on
‘County Matter’ applications.

PART 5 Decisions by County Council and the Secretary of State on appeal,
reported for information

PART 6 Reports containing “Exempt Information” during the consideration
of which it is anticipated that the press and public will be excluded

ABBREVIATIONS: commonly used in this Agenda

CDA Crime and Disorder Act 1998

GPDO The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England)
Order 2015

HRA Human Rights Act 1998

SBLP Swale Borough Local Plan 2017

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



INDEX OF ITEMS FOR PLANNING COMMITTEE — 30 MAY 2019

. Minutes of last Planning Committee Meeting
° Deferred Items
. Minutes of any Working Party Meetings

DEFERRED ITEMS

Def ltem1 18/503723/MOD106 SITTINGBOURNE 153 London Road

Pg1-90

PART 1

1.1 TPO No. 6 of 2018 DUNKIRK Blean Wood

Pg 91 - 96

PART 2

21 18/506323/FULL MINSTER Meadow View Park, Irwin Road

Pg 97 - 105

2.2 19/500050/FULL & TUNSTALL Tunstall Church of England Primary
19/500051/LBC School

Pg 106 - 120

23 18/506384/FULL HERNHILL Land South East of A299 Slip Road, Off

Pg 121 -133 Thanet Way

24 18/502735/FULL FAVERSHAM Land at Perry Court, Ashford Road

Pg 134 - 165

PART 5 - INDEX

Pg 166 - 167

51 18/505113/FULL IWADE 30 Ferry Road

Pg 168 - 169

5.2 18/502617/FULL EASTCHURCH Friston, Lower Road

Pg 170 - 172

5.3 18/506066/FULL FAVERSHAM 10 Althelston Road

Pg 173 - 176

54 18/505431/FULL NEWINGTON Ashfield Court Farm, School Lane

Pg 177 - 179

5.5 18/502592/FULL SHEERNESS 19 Victory Street

Pg 180 - 182

5.6 18/500751/FULL LEYSDOWN Coronation Drive

Pg 183 - 187

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 30 MAY 2019 DEFERRED ITEM
Report of the Head of Planning
DEFERRED ITEMS

Reports shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that Meeting

DEF ITEM 1 REFERENCE NO - 18/503723/MOD106

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Modification of Planning Obligation dated 18/05/2010 under reference SW/08/1124 to allow a
reduction of on site affordable housing.

ADDRESS 153 London Road Sittingbourne Kent ME10 1PA

RECOMMENDATION Grant Modification

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

The proposal would provide three on site affordable units. Although this a lower provision than
the eight units secured under the original Section 106 Agreement, it is at a level which complies
with policy DM8 of the adopted Local Plan and is appropriate when considered in light of the
viability evidence.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE

Initially called in by Clir Mike Baldock, subsequently called-in by Head of Planning Services at
Committee meeting on 7t March 2019 and deferred by Members at Committee meeting on 4t
April 2019.

WARD Borden And Grove PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL APPLICANT Clarity Properties
Park Ltd

AGENT Brachers LLP

DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
07/09/18 N/A

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining
sites):

App No Proposal Decision | Date

16/507631/LDCEX | Certificate of Lawful development to establish Approved | 08.12.16
that works commenced under the approved

planning permission, SW/13/0568, in the form
of demolition of the existing buildings on 23rd

May 2016.
16/508336/NMAM | Non r_nafterial amer)dm_ent to alter the Approved | 08.12.16
D description of application SW/08/1124 to reflect

the approved drawings which show 13 one
bedroom apartments and 13 two bedroom
apartments.

SW/13/0568 to replace an extant planning permission Approved | 08.08.13
SW/08/1124 (Demolition of existing buildings

and redevelopment of site to provide 12, two
bedroom apartments, 14, one bedroom
apartments, amenity space, 26, parking spaces and

1
Page 9




Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

cycle store and new vehicular access) in order to
extend the time limit for

implementation.

SW/08/1124 Demolition of existing buildings and Approved | 18.05.10

redevelopment of site to provide 12, two
bedroom apartments, 14, one bedroom
apartments, amenity space, 26 parking spaces

and cycle store and new vehicular access.

1.0

1.01

1.02

2.0

2.01

2.02

INTRODUCTION

Members will recall that this application was reported to Planning Committee on 7
March 2019 and 4" April 2019. These reports are appended (along with the
appendices which were attached to the previous committee report(s)) and provide
the details of the application site, the proposals considered at that time and relevant
policies. The application reported to Planning Committee on 7" March 2019 was
deferred following the Head of Planning calling in the application “as the Planning
Committee was minded to make a decision that would be contrary to officer
recommendation and contrary to planning policy and/or guidance.” As a result, the
application was reported back to Planning Committee on 4" April 2019.

The proposal submitted to the 4" April 2019 Planning Committee was amended to
provide a mechanism whereby in the first instance the provision of 3 on site
affordable housing units would be delivered if a Registered Provider (RP) was willing
to take this on. However, if after rigorous testing there were no RP’s willing to do so
then a commuted sum would be provided to contribute towards affordable housing
elsewhere in the Borough. Members resolved that the application was deferred “until
after the meetings with the Applicant and Registered Providers had taken place.”

PROPOSAL

Although it is contained in the appendices to this report, for clarity the proposal as
considered at the 71" March 2019 Planning Committee sought to modify the Section
106 Agreement so that prior to the occupation of the 21st unit, a commuted sum of
£40,000 is paid in one instalment for off site affordable housing. As set out above,
this application was deferred and subsequent to this a revised proposal was
submitted. This sought to modify the Section 106 Agreement to provide for 3
affordable units on site in the first instance. However, there was a fall back option
proposed that if on site affordable units were not able to be delivered then a
commuted sum of £40,000 would be provided. This proposal set out that no more
than 22 open market units would be occupied prior to the delivery of the affordable
units or commuted sum. This amended proposal was reported to 4" April 2019
Planning Committee and again deferred as stated above in paragraph 1.02.

Further to the latest deferral, discussions between the applicant and a RP have
progressed in a positive way and a further amendment to the proposal from that
previously considered has now been put forward. The agent has submitted the
following to describe the proposed modification now being considered:

(i) The s106 agreement will be varied to provide for 3x units of affordable housing on
site — the current affordable housing requirements in the Council’s adopted policy
require 10% on site provision equating to 2.6 units which has been rounded up to 3.

2
Page 10




Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

3.0

3.01

3.02

3.03

3.04

3.05

3.06

(ii) The three units will all be Shared Ownership.

(i) The Developer will not be permitted to occupy more than 22 Open market units
until such time as the AHUs have been transferred to a Registered Provider.

APPRAISAL

As set out above, the application now before Members has been amended quite
significantly from the original proposal to amend the Section 106 Agreement. The
modification now seeks to amend the Section 106 Agreement to provide 3 on site
affordable units. Any possibility of providing a commuted sum as the alternative to
affordable housing has been removed in its entirety from the modification being
sought.

For the avoidance of doubt, the current Section 106 Agreement requires 30% of the
units on site to be provided as affordable units. This would equate to 8 units.
However, this agreement was signed when the policies of the 2008 Local Plan were
applicable. Policy DM8 of the adopted Local Plan confirms that developments within
Sittingbourne will be required to provide 10% of the total number of units as
affordable, which in this case would equate to 3 units. Due to the specific viability
evidence submitted in support of the proposal | am of the view that a reduction from
30% to 10% is now wholly compliant with policy.

As Members will note from the above, the 3 units will be provided as Shared
Ownership tenure. The supporting text to policy DM8 does set out that in first
instance, of the affordable units, an indicative target of 90% affordable rent and 10%
intermediate products (usually Shared Ownership) will be sought. However, the
supporting text states that specific site circumstances may affect the viability of
individual proposals which may result in an alternative tenure being acceptable.

Throughout the course of the consideration of this proposal the Council’s Strategic
Housing and Health Manager has been heavily involved in discussions. This has
continued and | have discussed both the proposed quantum of affordable housing
and the tenure split with her. She has confirmed that the number of affordable units
on this site, totalling three, is acceptable. In respect of the tenure, she has stated
that this is a practical approach in management terms for a RP when delivering
affordable tenure within an open market block, which is the case here. Furthermore,
the specific viability evidence in this case demonstrates that the profit level of this
development is 0.65%. | also note that the original Section 106 Agreement does not
specify a tenure mix of the affordable units and therefore, it would have been
possible without modifying the agreement to provide all the affordable units as
Shared Ownership tenure.

Therefore when taking into account the adopted Local Plan, the viability evidence
and the comments of the Council’s Strategic Housing and Health Manager | am of
the view that the proposal to provide 3 affordable units, as Shared Ownership tenure
is acceptable.

The 26 residential units provided within the development are split as 12, two
bedroom and 14, one bedroom dwellings. The units that have been proposed to be
provided as the three affordable units are 2 x 2 and 1 x 1 bed units. | have also
discussed this with the Council’s Strategic Housing and Health Manager who
considers this mix to be acceptable. Therefore, on the basis of the split of the units
of the development as a whole | consider that the split of the affordable units would
be appropriate.

3
Page 11



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

3.07

4.0

4.01

4.02

5.0

NB

In terms of the trigger point, Members will note that no more than 22 open market
units can be occupied until the affordable units have been transferred to a Registered
Provider. Although this is slightly later than the proposal as considered at the 7t
March 2019 meeting, it is consistent with the trigger point for the proposal considered
at the 4" April 2019 meeting and which Officer's believed to be acceptable.
Therefore, as the proposal has now been amended to provide certainty in respect of
the delivery of on site affordable units, and removes the possibility of the commuted
sum, | consider this trigger point to be reasonable.

CONCLUSION

| note from the Committee Minutes of the 4™ April 2019 meeting that a number of
points by Members were made in respect of three affordable units on this site being
acceptable and that the commuted sum approach was not appropriate. In this
respect, the proposed modification secures 3 on site affordable units and removes
the commuted sum approach in its entirety. | am of the view that this is wholly
acceptable and in accordance with adopted policies.

In conclusion, | take the view that the Section 106 Agreement should be amended on
the basis of the wording as set out above and recommend that the modification is
granted.

RECOMMENDATION — GRANT maodifications to the existing Section 106 as set out
above and delegation to agree the precise wording of the modified planning
obligation under the instruction of the Head of Legal Services.

For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 12



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

IR

Rhoda Court |

18/503723/MOD106 - 153 London Road 2 ASTUN
;NA,M 1:700 ol TECHNOLoGY
Frintad on: 250272018 at 15:10 PM by JossphM B Astun Tad'l'ldcgthd

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1
PLANNING COMMITTEE - 4 APRIL 2019 DEFERRED ITEM
Report of the Head of Planning
DEFERRED ITEMS

Reports shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that Meeting

Def Item No. 1 REFERENCE NO - 18/503723/MOD106

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Modification of Planning Obligation dated 18/05/2010 under reference SW/08/1124 to allow
removal of on site affordable housing.

ADDRESS 153 London Road Sittingbourne Kent ME10 1PA

RECOMMENDATION Grant Modification

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

The proposal would provide a mechanism whereby the provision of on site affordable housing,
at a level which complied with policy DM8 of the Local Plan could be rigorously tested and
delivered if a Registered Provider (RP) is willing and able to take this on. However, if there are
no RPs willing and able to provide on site affordable housing then the mechanism provides a
fallback option whereby the Council would receive a commuted sum, this would be put towards
providing affordable housing elsewhere in the Borough. The commuted sum has been set at a
level which, when considered in the context of the viability evidence, is believed to be compliant
with Policy DM8 of the adopted Local Plan.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE

Initially called in by Clir Mike Baldock, but subsequently called-in by Head of Planning Services
at Committee meeting on 7 March 2019.

WARD Borden And Grove | PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL APPLICANT Clarity Properties
Park Ltd

AGENT Brachers LLP

DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
07/09/18 N/A

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining
sites):

App No Proposal Decision | Date

16/507631/LDCEX | Certificate of Lawful development to establish | Approved | 08.12.16
that works commenced under the approved

planning permission, SW/13/0568, in the form
of demolition of the existing buildings on 23rd

May 2016.
16/508336/NMAM | Non material amendment to alter the Approved | 08.12.16
D description of application SW/08/1124 to reflect

the approved drawings which show 13 one
bedroom apartments and 13 two bedroom
apartments.

6
Page 15



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

SW/13/0568 to replace an extant planning permission Approved | 08.08.13

SW/08/1124 (Demolition of existing buildings
and redevelopment of site to provide 12, two
bedroom apartments, 14, one bedroom
apartments, amenity space, 26, parking spaces and
cycle store and new vehicular access) in order to
extend the time limit for

implementation.

SW/08/1124 Demolition of existing buildings and Approved | 18.05.10

redevelopment of site to provide 12, two
bedroom apartments, 14, one bedroom
apartments, amenity space, 26 parking spaces

and cycle store and new vehicular access.

MAIN REPORT
1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.01 Members will recall that this application was reported to Planning Committee on 7"

2.0

2.01

March 2019. The report to that meeting is appended (along with the appendices which
were attached to this previous committee report) and provides the details of the
application site, the proposal which was considered at that time and relevant policies.
The application was deferred following the Head of Planning Services calling in the
application “as the Planning Committee was minded to make a decision that would be
contrary to officer recommendation and contrary to planning policy and/or guidance.”

PROPOSAL

For clarity the proposal as considered at the 7t March 2019 planning committee sought
to modify the Section 106 Agreement so that prior to the occupation of the 21st unit, a
commuted sum of £40,000 is paid in one instalment for off site affordable housing.
Since the deferral of the application, Officer's have been contacted by the agent in
relation to the possibility of amending the proposal. In light of this a meeting has taken
place between Officer's and the applicant and agent. As a result of this meeting, a
revised proposal has been submitted. In summary, this would seek to modify the
Section 106 Agreement to provide for 3 affordable units on site. However, there will,
due to potential delivery issues, which will be discussed in more detail below, be a fall-
back option if these units are unable to be provided as on-site provision. The agent
has submitted the following to describe the proposed modification:

(i) “The s106 agreement would be varied to provide for 3x units of affordable
housing on site — the current affordable housing requirements in the Council’s
adopted policy require 10% on site provision equating to 2.6 units which has
been rounded up to 3;

(ii) The Developer will not be permitted to occupy more than 22 Open market units
until such time as the AHUs have been transferred to a Registered Provider;

(iii) During a three month period from completion of the deed of variation the
Developer will offer the 3x units to the Registered Providers identified in our
meeting; i.e. Sage and Landspeed and any others which our client and your
Housing Department may identify. The developer will provide evidence of the
offers to the Council’s Planning and Housing Managers;

7
Page 16




Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

3.0

3.01

3.02

3.03

3.04

3.05

APPENDIX 1

(iv) If at the end of that three month period the developer can demonstrate to the
Council’s Planning and Housing Managers that no Registered Provider is
willing to take the units then the affordable housing provisions in the s.106 will
default to a financial contribution of £40,000;

(v) The default contribution will not be conditional upon a further viability appraisal
and will be payable before the occupation of more than 22 Open Market units.”

APPRAISAL

As Members will be aware, the current Section 106 Agreement requires 30% of the
units to be provided on site as affordable prior to the occupation of 50% of the market
units. However, this agreement was signed when the policies of the 2008 Local Plan
were applicable. Since this time, and as set out in the viability reports and detailed in
the appended report presented to the 7t March 2019 Planning Committee, the profit
of the development has been demonstrated as being 0.65%. This is significantly below
a ‘normal’ gross development profit of around 20% which would be considered as
‘normal’ and is typically accepted as such by Planning Inspectors.

Policy DM8 of the adopted Local Plan sets out that due to viability testing that was
carried out, developments in Sittingbourne will be required to provide 10% of the total
as affordable units. As a result of the considerations in this application | am of the view
that due to the specific viability evidence that has been submitted in support of this
proposal that a reduction from 30% to 10% is now wholly compliant with policy.

The above proposal, as Members will note, therefore now seeks to provide 3 on site
affordable units. However, it is also important to note that the proposal seeks to insert
a mechanism whereby if RP’s are not able to provide these units, then a commuted
sum, set at £40,000 is provided so that affordable housing can be delivered elsewhere
in the Borough. The reason for this fall-back option is due to, as set out previously,
the potential difficulties with securing on site affordable units. In reaching this view, |
have liaised closely with the Council’s Strategic Housing and Health Manager. From
her discussions with larger RP’s it has become evident that they are becoming
increasingly resistant to delivering a small number of units on site. There is also the
added complexity of RP’s often being unwilling to provide affordable units in mixed
blocks of accommodation, creating a further barrier to these units being delivered.

Despite the above, through my discussions with the Council’s Strategic Housing and
Health Manager, | have been made aware that there are a limited number of RP’s who
would potentially be able to provide these units. As such, the Council’s Strategic
Housing and Health Manager has made initial contact with these providers. This has
generated some interest. The Council's Strategic Housing and Health Manager and
myself are currently in the process of liaising with the RP’s and the applicants. There
is potential that these discussions will have progressed between the time of writing this
report and the meeting and if so | will update Members at the meeting. As a result of
the above, | am of the view that the proposed modification now allow for the best
opportunity to secure on-site affordable provision, at a level which is complaint with the
adopted Local Plan. | am also currently in discussions with the applicant / agent
regarding the tenure split and unit size of the affordable units. These matters have not
at this point been concluded and | will update Members at the meeting of the latest
position.

However, if, after rigorous testing, there are no RPs who are able to deliver these

affordable units on site, then there would still be the requirement to pay the commuted

sum of £40,000. As discussed in further detail in the report presented to the 7t" March
8

Page 17



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

3.06

3.07

3.08

3.09

3.10

APPENDIX 1

2019 planning committee (attached here as Appendix 1, | am of the firm view that a
commuted sum of £40,000 would in this scenario, due to the viability constraints, be
policy compliant. | do recognise that Members were minded to refuse the application
which solely proposed this commuted sum. However, | believe that if a RP is not able
to deliver the units on site, this would provide a fall back option, which would enable
the delivery of affordable housing units elsewhere in the Borough.

Turning to the commuted sum and the weight to be given to the viability report, | believe
it fundamentally important to draw Members’ attention to an appeal that was recently
allowed at Doubleday Lodge, Glebe Lane, Sittingbourne (PINS ref 3207752 — included
on this agenda as Item 5.1). In the case of Doubleday Lodge, Members may recall
that the application was refused in line with Officers’ recommendation. The application
sought to remove the maijority of developer contributions which had been agreed as
part of the original approved scheme. The reason being that due to additional
unexpected costs, the proposal would be unviable if the developer was required to pay
them. Although this application required a balancing of the harm of not providing the
contributions against the benefits of affordable housing, the Inspector was extremely
clear in that the viability report (the contents of which were assessed by the Council’s
independent consultants and conclusions agreed with), which demonstrated that the
development would not be viable, carried significant weight. It is important to note that
the Inspector commented that the applicant had complied with the relevant part of the
policy which required an open book assessment in order to seek to reduce developer
contributions.

In the case of the current application, the applicant’s have, as set out in the previous
Committee Report, demonstrated via an open book assessment that the development
would not be viable. Therefore, as required by Policy DM 8 | also give very significant
weight to the lack of viability that has been demonstrated in this case.

| do appreciate that the viability report which was submitted in the case of this current
application dates from 2017. However, Officers have undertaken a further assessment
of the variance in property prices since the date of the original viability report which
would, due to a slight reduction, generate a slight reduction in expected returns. On
this basis, it was considered that the viability evidence still carried significant weight.
Despite this, the applicant has offered to provide an update to the viability report so
that Members can be provided with up-to-date information. | have not received this at
the time of writing this report, however, | have been informed that the intention is to
provide this in advance of the Committee meeting. As such, once received this
updated viability evidence will be provided as a tabled update to Members in advance
of the Committee.

In addition to the above, the Inspector when deciding the Doubleday Lodge appeal,
did not consider that the advancement of development in that case should weigh
against the proposal. Instead, the view was taken that any further delay would have
led to the applicant incurring further costs. | believe that the same assessment could
be made here and as such even less weight, than the limited amount that was identified
in the previous report, should be given to this factor weighing against the proposal.

Furthermore, from a practical perspective, if a registered provider was unable to
provide affordable units on site, then the commuted sum approach would allow for
delivery of units off-site. | have discussed the way in which commuted sums are used
to provide affordable housing with the Council’s Strategic Housing and Health
Manager. In terms of this, as an example, in relation to the commuted sums received
under the applications discussed in the previous Committee Report - 14/506623/OUT

9
Page 18



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

4.0

4.01

4.02

4.03

5.0

NB

APPENDIX 1

for 18 dwellings at 109 Staplehurst Road and 16/501883/FULL for 45 one and two
bedroom dwellings at 4 Canterbury Road — the Council has agreed to support a RP
with the delivery of affordable housing units in the Borough. The commuted sum, if
provided in this case would also be put towards the delivery of affordable units, likely
through a similar arrangement. As such, | am very firmly of the view that if an RP is
unable to bring forward on site affordable provision then the commuted sum can be
used to enable the delivery of affordable housing off site, in the same way that the
commuted sums in the above two cases have been.

CONCLUSION

As a result of the above, | am very firmly of the view that the proposal now provides for
the potential for an RP to bring forward affordable units on this site. The level of
affordable provision is proposed to be 3 units which in light of the adopted Local Plan
and in the context of the viability evidence is in my view acceptable. However, due to
the potential barrier of providing these units, as has been discussed in both this and
the previous committee report, | am also of the firm view that having the commuted
sum as a fall-back option provides the Council with the certainty that, if necessary, this
scheme will contribute towards the provision of affordable housing elsewhere in the
Borough.

On the basis of the above, | believe that in light of the viability evidence, the recent
appeal decision and the revised proposal, this proposal is policy compliant. | therefore
consider that there are no material planning grounds on which this proposal could be
refused. As a result, if the Council were to refuse this application, | believe that there
is the strong possibility that a subsequent appeal would be extremely difficult to
successfully defend and that an award of costs could be made against the Council.

In conclusion, | take the view that the Section 106 should be amended on the basis of
the wording as set out above and recommend that the modification is granted.

RECOMMENDATION — GRANT modifications to the existing Section 106 as set out
above and delegation to agree the precise wording of the modified planning obligation
under the instruction of the Head of Legal Services.

For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

10
Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 7 MARCH 2019 PART 1
Report of the Head of Planning
PART 1

Any other reports to be considered in the public session

1.1 REFERENCE NO - 18/503723/MOD106
APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Modification of Planning Obligation dated 18/05/2010 under reference SW/08/1124 to allow
removal of on site affordable housing.

ADDRESS 153 London Road Sittingbourne Kent ME10 1PA
RECOMMENDATION Grant Modification

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

The proposal would provide a commuted sum for off site affordable housing which is considered
to be appropriate in these circumstances. The commuted sum has been set at a level which,
when considered in the context of the viability evidence, is believed to be compliant with policy
DMS8 of the adopted Local Plan, despite the advancement of the development.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Called in by ClIr Mike Baldock

WARD Borden And Grove | PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL APPLICANT Clarity Properties
Park Ltd

AGENT Brachers LLP

DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
07/09/18 N/A

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining
sites):

App No Proposal Decision | Date

16/507631/LDCEX | Certificate of Lawful development to establish | Approved | 08.12.16
that works commenced under the approved

planning permission, SW/13/0568, in the form
of demolition of the existing buildings on 23
May 2016.

16/508336/NMAMD | Non material amendment to alter the Approved | 08.12.16
description of application SW/08/1124 to
reflect the approved drawings which show 13
one bedroom apartments and 13 two
bedroom apartments.

SW/13/0568 to replace an extant planning permission Approved | 08.08.13
SW/08/1124 (Demolition of existing buildings

and redevelopment of site to provide 12, two
bedroom apartments, 14, one bedroom
apartments, amenity space, 26, parking
spaces and cycle store and new vehicular

Page121



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2
access) in order to extend the time limit for
implementation.
SW/08/1124 Demolition of existing buildings and Approved | 18.05.10

redevelopment of site to provide 12, two
bedroom apartments, 14, one bedroom
apartments, amenity space, 26 parking
spaces and cycle store and new vehicular
access.

MAIN REPORT

1.0

1.01

1.02

2.0

2.01

2.02

2.03

2.04

2.05

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

The application site is 0.09 hectares in size and rectangular in shape. It is directly adjacent to
the Wickes car park and fronts onto London Road (A2). The site lies to the west of Sittingbourne
Town Centre and residential properties lie opposite and to the west of the site. A Petrol Filling
Station is located on the opposite side of London Road slightly to the east.

Construction of the 26 residential units (granted planning permission as per the history section
above) has begun on site and has reached an advanced stage.

PROPOSAL

The current proposal is to modify the Section 106 agreement attached to the original planning
permissions (SW/08/1124 & SW/13/0568) to allow the removal of the requirement for on-site
affordable housing. Among other things, the requirement of the Section 106 agreement is
currently for the provision of 30% affordable housing on site (8 units), although a tenure split
was not specified.

In addition, the Section 106 agreement required the following developer contributions:

i) £227 per dwelling for library improvements;

i) an open space contribution of £17,940;

iii)) an adult social services contribution of £2362.85;

iv) a community learning contribution of £981.05;

V) a primary education contribution of £590.24 per dwelling; and
Vi) a secondary education contribution of £589.95 per dwelling.

Officer's have negotiated with the applicant that prior to the occupation of the 21st unit, a
commuted sum of £40,000 is to be paid in one instalment for off site affordable housing. The
wording of the Section 106 agreement will need to be modified to enable this change, the precise
wording of which would be agreed under the instruction of the Head of Legal Services.

It is important at this point to set out the background to this application as Members may recall
that a similar proposed modification was reported to Planning Committee on two separate
occasions in 2017 for the removal of on site affordable housing - For clarity, there is no reference
number for this previous application as it was not submitted separately as a formal modification
to the Section 106 agreement, but rather as a proposed modification under the original planning
permissions (as referenced above). Therefore | have included the previous committee reports
related to this proposal as appendices to this report which | will summarise as follows.

The previous application to modify the Section 106 was initially submitted proposing the removal
of on site affordable housing, a viability appraisal upon occupation of the 21st unit and a

Page 22



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

2.06

2.07

3.0

3.01

APPENDIX 2

commuted sum of a maximum of £31,000 if the scheme achieved a certain level of profit. This
proposal was reported to the Planning Committee of 2" February 2017 with an Officer
recommendation of approval. Members resolved:

“That the application be deferred to allow officers to advise the developer to either provide
affordable housing or more than £31,000 for offsite affordable housing, and that it can not be
dependant upon their profit margins.” As a result of this, the applicant undertook a viability
appraisal which was independently assessed and concluded that the scheme would not be
viable if affordable housing was provided. | have included this viability report and independent
assessment as appendices to this report.

The application was reported back to Members at the 14t September 2017 Planning Committee
meeting. The proposed modification was again to remove the requirement for on site affordable
housing with a viability re-assessment submitted upon the occupation of the 21st unit. However,
the proposal was altered to propose a commuted sum of a minimum of £31,000 if it was viable
to do so, despite the conclusions of the viability appraisal and independent assessment as
referred to above. There was again an Officer recommendation for approval. At the meeting,
Members resolved that “That the modification to the Section 106 Agreement for SW/08/1124 &
SW/13/0568 be rejected and officers discuss alternative options with the applicant.”

As set out above, the proposal considered in 2017 had not been submitted as a formal
modification under Section 106A of the Town and Country Planning Act. Therefore, there was
no requirement to issue a formal decision notice and there was no right of appeal for the
applicant.

POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Para 62: “Where a need for affordable housing is identified, planning policies should specify the
type of affordable housing required, and expect it to be met on-site unless:

a) off-site provision or an appropriate financial contribution in lieu can be robustly justified; and

b) the agreed approach contributes to the objective of creating mixed and balanced
communities.”

Para 57: “Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected from development,
planning applications that comply with them should be assumed to be viable. It is up to the
applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for a viability
assessment at the application stage. The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter
for the decision maker, having regard to all the circumstances in the case, including whether the
plan and the viability evidence underpinning it is up to date, and any change in site
circumstances since the plan was brought into force. All viability assessments, including any
undertaken at the plan-making stage, should reflect the recommended approach in national
planning guidance, including standardised inputs, and should be made publicly available.”

Page323



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

3.02

3.03

APPENDIX 2

National Planning Practice Guidance

Within the section entitled ‘Planning Obligations, the following is set out:

“Planning obligations must be fully justified and evidenced. Where affordable housing
contributions are being sought, planning obligations should not prevent development from going
forward.”

And

“Obligations should only be sought where they are necessary to make the development
acceptable in planning terms. Where they provide essential site specific items to mitigate the
impact of the development, such as a necessary road improvement, there may only be limited
opportunity to negotiate. Where local planning authorities are requiring affordable housing
obligations or tariff style contributions to infrastructure, they should be flexible in their
requirements. Their policy should be clear that such planning obligations will take into account
specific site circumstances.”

The section entitled ‘Viability’ states the following:

“Plans should set out the contributions expected from development. This should include setting
out the levels and types of affordable housing provision required”

And

“Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected from development, planning
applications that comply with them should be assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to
demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the
application stage.

Such circumstances could include, for example where development is proposed on unallocated
sites of a wholly different type to those used in viability assessment that informed the plan; where
further information on infrastructure or site costs is required; where particular types of
development are proposed which may significantly vary from standard models of development
for sale (for example build to rent or housing for older people); or where a recession or similar
significant economic changes have occurred since the plan was brought into force.”

And

“The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker, having
regard to all the circumstances in the case, including whether the plan and viability evidence
underpinning the plan is up to date, any change in site circumstances since the plan was brought
into force, and the transparency of assumptions behind evidence submitted as part of the
viability assessment.”

Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017

Policies ST1 (Delivering sustainable development in Swale); ST2 (Development targets for jobs
and homes2014-2031); CP3 (Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes); DM8 (Affordable
Housing).

Policy DM8 states that in Sittingbourne, the affordable housing provision sought (on
developments of 11 dwellings or more) will be 10%. Furthermore, it states that “In exceptional

Page 24



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

4.0

4.01

4.02

APPENDIX 2

circumstances, and in accordance with a supplementary planning document to be prepared by
the Borough Council:

a. on-site affordable housing provision may be commuted to a financial contribution to be used
off-site, singly or in combination with other contributions.”

The supporting text to policy DM8 at paragraph 7.3.10 states the following:

“The starting point for any planning application is the on-site provision of affordable housing. In
exceptional cases, the Council may consider affordable housing provision to be provided off-
site. In such a case, it may be possible to require a commuted sum (or payment in lieu), which
is an amount of money, paid by a developer to the Council when the size or scale of a
development triggers a requirement for affordable housing, but it is not possible or desirable to
provide it on the site. This option may be appropriate, for example, in cases of economic
difficulties, where provision on an alternative site could be of higher quality, or where
improvements to the quality of the existing housing stock are considered more appropriate.”

CONSULTATIONS

Clir Mike Baldock has commented that he would Yike this returned to the Planning Committee.’

| have had a number of discussions with the Council's Strategic Housing and Health Manager
regarding this application and | consider the most relevant comments to be as follows:

“I can confirm that | have recently been advised by Optivo, Moat and Golding Homes that they
are not accepting less than 20 - 60 affordable units per site. Therefore, it is likely that the
developer would struggle to secure an RP for the three (or eight) affordable flats required on
this site. Even if an RP were secured, | would expect

the flats to be provided as shared ownership tenure only, although based on recent
conversations with RP’s, marketing such a such a small number would be difficult and not cost
effective.

The issue of securing an RP for very low numbers of affordable homes came to light recently
after a developer of a small site at Swale Way notified us that they could not secure an RP to
take on four affordable units. Therefore it was agreed to accept a new provider called
‘Landspeed’ who will deliver these four homes as intermediate housing only e.g. shared
ownership or shared equity. Landspeed are not required to register with Homes England, like
other ‘traditional’ RP’s, because they only deal with Shared Equity/Shared Ownership, they will
not be the landlord of the units and they do not require grant funding to enable delivery.

To summarise, | think the likely outcome is that it would difficult to secure an RP here, and
outside of agreeing to a commuted sum it is likely that the only other option would be a company
such as Landspeed who could look to provide the flats as intermediate low-cost homeownership
housing.”

In addition, the following was stated:

“It is questionable whether or not a Registered Provider (RP’s) will purchase and take on the
management of such a low number of new build affordable flats, particularly as the units will be
located within a mixed tenure block that includes open market sales.

And then finally the Strategic Housing and Health Manager also stated that “In this particular
case | understand that a commuted sum may be necessary mainly due to potential issues in

Pages25



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

5.0

5.01

6.0

6.01

6.02

6.03

6.04

APPENDIX 2

securing an RP, however | should note that a commuted sum is always less preferable to actual
affordable housing delivery.”

BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS
The application includes a draft Section 106 agreement and a supporting statement.
APPRAISAL

The application now before Members has been formally submitted pursuant to Section 106A of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. It was initially submitted on exactly the same basis
as the original application described in the ‘Proposal’ section above (as reported to Members at
the 2" February 2017 Planning Committee), which for clarity was the removal of on site
affordable housing, a viability appraisal upon occupation of the 21st unit and a commuted sum
of a maximum of £31,000 if the scheme achieved a certain level of profit. However, as a result
of negotiation between Officer’s and the applicant, the proposal has now been amended to seek
modification of the Section 106 Agreement to remove the requirement for on site affordable
housing and the payment of a commuted sum for off site affordable housing of £40,000 in one
instalment, prior to the occupation of the 21st unit. This payment will not be dependant on a
further viability appraisal.

As referred to above, the application considered in 2017 included a viability appraisal which the
supporting statement submitted with the current application refers to. Having assessed the
independent review of this viability appraisal and the committee reports presented to Members
in 2017, the conclusion is clear in that the development would be unviable if the requirement for
30% of the dwellings (8 units) were required to be affordable. | do appreciate that time has
passed between the original viability appraisal and now. Therefore, in terms of the weight to be
given to this | have researched property prices in the locality of the application site. This shows
that in the past 12 months, property prices for flats in the same postcode area as this site in
Sittingbourne, have in fact fallen by 1.25% (although this is a limited sample size). However,
when | have searched for Sittingbourne as a whole, property prices for flats have fallen by
2.04%. As a result of this | am of the view that the viability assessment which was submitted to
support the previous application would still be relevant and still carries weight in the decision
making process.

| have also taken into consideration that as set out in policy DM8 of the Local Plan, the affordable
housing requirement on sites in Sittingbourne is 10%. This is a reduction from the previous
Local Plan’s requirement of 30% which was the level when the previous Section 106 agreement
was signed. This also gives a further indication of the viability issues which have impacted upon
sites in Sittingbourne and in my view gives some additional weight to the applicant’s viability
argument. | also note the Committee’s previous references to profit margins as referred to in
paragraph 2.05 above. Through case law and Government guidance, a gross development
profit of around 20% would be considered ‘normal’. In this case, as shown by the viability
assessment, the developer has sought to demonstrate that they would be making a profit of
0.65%. As such, it appears that the developer is not likely to make any significant profit on this
site.

Further to the receipt of the current application | have liaised with the Council’s Strategic Housing
and Health Manager. | also note from the previous committee reports that the Strategic Housing
and Health Manager was involved at the point that the previous proposals were considered and
was supportive of the commuted sum approach. As set out above, the Strategic Housing and
Health Manager in respect of this current proposal has commented that although on site
affordable housing is generally preferable, in this case a commuted sum is necessary. As stated

Page 26



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

6.05

6.06

6.07

6.08

APPENDIX 2

above, part of the reason for this is that Registered Providers (RP’s) are becoming increasingly
unwilling to provide small numbers of affordable units in mixed blocks, therefore in this case the
principle of a commuted sum, which would go towards affordable housing being provided
elsewhere in the Borough is acceptable in my view. On this basis | am of the view that in these
specific circumstances a commuted sum approach would be compliant with part 5.a of policy
DMB8 as quoted in the policy section above.

In terms of what is considered to be an appropriate amount, | have assessed other applications
in Sittingbourne where a commuted sum was received. Firstly, | note the application approved
under 14/506623/OUT for 18 dwellings at 109 Staplehurst Road where a commuted sum of
£65,000 was agreed after a viability assessment. At the time the Local Plan required 30% of
dwellings to be affordable (on developments of over 14 units) which would equate to 5 units in
this case. In terms of an application approved at No.4 Canterbury Road, Sittingbourne for 45
one and two bed apartments, after the submission of a viability appraisal, a commuted sum for
affordable housing of £62,300 was agreed, although the committee report sets out this would
equate to 0.92 affordable units. As such, these figures have been arrived at via a viability report,
rather than a set calculation.

Therefore in terms of this current application, based upon the viability report setting out that no
affordable housing would be viable, and then considering the previous proposals that have been
put forward to modify the Section 106 agreement, | am of the view that a commuted sum of
£40,000 is appropriate and would in these very specific circumstances be compliant with policy
DMS8 of the Local Plan. Furthermore, unlike the previous proposal, the commuted sum will not
be reliant on a further viability appraisal and would be paid in one instalment prior to the
occupation of the 21st unit. On the basis of the viability report which | consider to still carry
weight, and as this broadly aligned with the trigger point originally proposed | believe this to be
reasonable. Furthermore, as there will not be a requirement for a further viability appraisal as
set out above | am of the view that this provides more certainty for the Council if this modification
was to be approved than under the terms of the previous proposal.

| do appreciate that Members may, quite reasonably, consider that the argument of a lack of
viability carries less weight when the scheme has reached the advanced stage of development
as is very clearly the case here. In terms of this, usually, the reason for taking viability into
account is the resultant impact that this could have upon the delivery of the development. As
the development is nearing completion then the risk that the development does not proceed in
the first instance doesn’t apply in this case. However, when considering this, | also give weight
to the proposal as originally considered in 2017 which set the trigger point of the viability re-
assessment upon the occupation of the 21st unit. This means that Officer's had previously
factored in the expectation that the development would be completed before the viability was
re-assessed. Therefore this principle remains the same whereby the payment will be made prior
to the occupation of the 21st unit (at which point the development would be complete). As such,
although | believe that the advancement of the development should weigh against granting this
proposed modification, for this reason, | do not believe that this should weigh so heavily against
the acceptability of the proposed modification in these circumstances as what might usually be
the case.

In addition to the above consideration of the weight to be given to the advancement of the
development, | also believe that the comments of the Council’s Strategic Housing and Health
Manager are of importance. In terms of this, | consider that the obstacles there may be to
providing on site affordable housing in these circumstances would be relevant as a factor,
whether the development had begun or not. As a result, this further leads me to believe that the
near completion of the development should not weigh so heavily against the proposed
modification in the specific context of this application.

Page727/



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

6.09

7.0

NB

APPENDIX 2

In undertaking the assessment of the final planning balance, | give weight to the viability report
(and independent assessment) carried out in 2017 and that the scheme would be providing,
what is considered in this specific case, a commuted sum in accordance with the exceptional
circumstances as set out in policy DM8. Although the advancement of the scheme without any
guarantee that this modification will be accepted weighs somewhat against the proposal, | have
factored in that the trigger point at which the further viability report was to be submitted (as per
the original application to modify the Section 106 agreement) was set after the completion of the
development. As a result, it was taken into consideration and accepted by Officer’s previously
that the scheme would be delivered before this re-assessment took place. Therefore, as the
payment trigger remains subsequent to completion | do not believe that the advancement of the
development would in this case outweigh the reasons | have identified for granting the
modification. Furthermore, | give weight to the view that RP’s could have difficulty in providing
on site affordable housing in this case. Due to the above assessment, on balance, | am of the
view that the modification is acceptable.

RECOMMENDATION — GRANT modifications to the existing Section 106 as set out above and
delegation to agree the precise wording of the modified planning obligation under the instruction
of the Head of Legal Services.

For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 28



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019

i T E
—~—_— $ubSta

"-,____“_

——

e S :

DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2

18/503723/MOD106 - 153 London Road [ ASTUN
il
.e'f‘x Scale: 1:700 dli TECHNOLOGY
Printed on: 25/272019 at 15:10 PM by JosaphM © Astun Technology Litd

Page9a29



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2

APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report - 2 February 2017 ITEM 2.9

2.9 REFERENCE NO - SWi08/1124 & SWi13/0568

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Maodification of Section 106 agreement to allow removal of on-site affordable housing with a
viability re-assessment submitted upon occupation of the 21% unit and a commuted sum payable
at a maximum of £31,000 for off-site affordable housing. Original application - to replace an
extant planning permission SW08M124 {Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment of
site to provide 12, two bedroom apariments, 14, one bedroom apartments, amenity space, 26
parking spaces and cycle store and new vehicular access) in order to extend the time limit for
implementation.

ADDRESS 153 London Road, Sitiingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PA
RECOMMENDATION Grant modification

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

On-site affordahle housing would be difficult to provide.  Allowing a viability re-assessment once
the development has commenced and upon occupation of the 215 unit, would ensure that a
commuted sum is secured for off-site affordable housing, subject to there being a profit above
17%. This modification of the Section 106 agreement responds to the changing financial and
property markets in difficult economic times. The modification would allow the development of
much needed housing to be provided within an urban and sustainable site. It would also
significantly improve the appearance of the site which is an eyesore in a prominent position.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Maodification of Section 106 agreement

WARD Grove Ward PARISHITOWN COUNCIL APPLICANT Clarity Properties

Sittingbourne Ltd

AGENT Mr Keith Plumb

DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE
08/08M3 090117
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining
sites):
App No Proposal Decision | Date

16/507631/LDCEX | Certificate of Lawful development to establish | Approval | gg 12 15
that works commenced under the approved
planning permission, SW/13/0568, in the form
of demaolition of the existing buildings on 23rd
May 2016,

16/508336/NMAMD | Non material amendment to alter the Appraval 08.12.16
description of application SW/08/1124 to
reflect the approved drawings which show 13
ane bedroom apariments and 13 two bedroom
apartments.

SW/13/0568 to replace an extant planning permission Approval | ga.08.13
SWiD8/1124 (Demolition of existing buildings
and redevelopment of site to provide 12, two
hedroom apariments, 14, one bedroom
apariments, amenity space, 26, parking
spaces and cycle store and new vehicular
access) in order to extend the time limit for
implementation.

113

Page 30



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2
APPENDIX 1
Planning Committee Report - 2 February 2017 ITEM 2.9
SWID8M124 Demeolition of existing buildings and Approval 18.05.10

redevelopment of site to provide 12, two
hedroom apariments, 14, one bedroom
apartments, amenity space, 26, parking
spaces and cycle store and new vehicular
ACCcess.

MAIN REPORT
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 The application site is 0.0%ha and is rectangular in shape. [t is directly adjacent to the
Wickes car park and fronts onto London Road (the A2). On the site is a partially
demolished two % storey building and a single storey flat roof building to the rear of the
site.

1.02 The site lies to the west of Sittingboumne Town Centre. Residential properties lie
opposite and to the west of the site. There is a Petrol Filling Station on the opposite
side of London Road slightly to the east.  The site is cumrently messy and unsightly.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.01 Planning permission was originally granted under SW/08/1124 for the demolition of
existing buildings and redevelopment of the site to provide 12, two bedroom
apartments, 14, one bedroom apartments with amenity space and parking and a new
vehicular access. Permission to extend the time limit for implementation of the
development was granted under SW/M30568. Application reference
16/508336/NMAMD later corrected the description to accurately reflect the approved
plans which showed 13 one bedroom and 13 two bedroom apariments.

2.02  An application for a Lawful Development Certificate (16/507631/LDCEX) was later
submitted to establish that the 2008/2013 permissions had been implemented by virtue
of development commencing prior to the expiration of the time limit imposed. In this
case, the partial demolition of the property constituted the commencement of
development. The certificate was issued confirming that the permission was extant.
We are currently considering the details submitted pursuant to conditions attached fo
the 2008/2013 permissions. Upon approval of these details, the approved
development can continue.

2.03 lunderstand that the applicant was required to start the demaolition process due to the
unsafe state of the building fronting onto London Road. This Council served a Stop
Maotice on the applicant once this demaolition was started because the work did not have
the benefit of prior approval or planning permission. There has been no work on site
since then. The applicant is aware that the conditions details, including contaminated
land, will need to be agreed before any further work is carried out on site. | am
informed by the planning agent that the required contaminated land surveys are being
carried out and will be submitted shorty.

2.04 The cument proposal is to modify the Section 106 agreement attached o the original
permissions (SW/08/M124 & SW/M3/0568) to allow removal of the requirement for
an-site affordable housing. Among other things, the requirement of the Section 106
agreement is curmrently for the provision of 30% affordable housing on site (8 units),
though a tenure split was not specified.

114

Page131



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2

APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report - 2 February 2017 ITEM 2.9

2.05 In addition, the Section 106 agreement required the following developer contributions:

i) £227 per dwelling for library improvements;

i) an open space contribution of £17 940,

iii) an adult social services contribution of £2362.85;

iv) a community learning contribution of £981.05;

v) a primary education confribution of £5%0 24 per dwelling; and
vi) a secondary education contribution of £58% 95 per dwelling.

2068 We have negotiated with the applicant that a viability re-assessment would be
submitted upon the practical completion of the 21% unit and a commuted sum payable
at a maximum of £31,000 (plus an adjustiment for inflation) for off-site affordable
housing. This would be paid in three installments: 1% — practical completion of 21%
unit, 2™ - practical completion of the whole scheme and 3™ — sale of 26™ unit or &
months after the 2™ instalment, whichever is sconer. The wording of the Section 106
agreement will need to be modified to enable this change, the precise wording of which
would be agreed under the instruction of the Head of Legal Services.

3.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS
3.01 The National Planning Paolicy Framework (NPPF) — paragraph 173 is quoted below.
3.02 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG): Viability & Planning Ohligations

3.03 Swale Borough Local Plan 2008: SP1 (sustainable development); SP4 {housing) and;
H3 (affordable housing).

3.04 Bearing Fruits 2031 The Swale Borough Local Plan Proposal Main Modifications June
2016: 5T1 (sustainable development), ST2 (development targets for jobs and homes);
CP3 (delivering a wide choice of high quality homes) and; DM3 (affordable housing).

3.05 Supplementary Planning Documents: Developer Contributions 2009

3068 Section 106A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1880 allows the modification and
discharge of planning obligations.

4.0  CONSULTATIONS

401 The Head of Housing has been involved in the discussions and negofiations
throughout and is in agreement with the commuted sum approach in this case and to
the payment being capped at £31000 plus indexation. This is in response to a number
of viahility assessmenis that have been submitted - one in 2012, one in 2015 and the
most recent in 2016. Each appraisal has shown that the scheme would be unviable if
affordable housing were to be provided on site. They have agreed since 2012 that a
commuted sum in lieu of on-site affordable housing would be acceptable.

402 With regard specifically to the possible availability of grant funding, she comments as
follows:

“The current grant programme (Shared Ownership Affordable Homes Programme
2016-21) is for the delivery of shared ownership product only with imited affordable

rent tenure for speciafist/supporfed housing. Therefore our current affordable homes
delivery programme js based solely around shared ownership with Zero affordable

115

Page 32



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2

APPENDIX 1
Planning Committee Report - 2 February 2017 ITEM 2.9

rent. This also means that our new’ policy split of 90% affordable rent tenure with 10%
shared ownership will be difficuit fo meet, as has been the case so far”

5.0 BACKGROUMND PAPERS AND PLANS

5.01 Draft Section 106 agreement & application documents and plans for SW/08/1124 &
SW/13/0568.

6.0 APPRAISAL
Principle of Development

6.01 As noted above, Section 106A of the Town and Couniry Planning Act 1930 allows the
modification and discharge of planning obligations. NPPG - Planning Obligations
states:

“Planning obligations can be renegotiated af any point, where the local planning
authority and developer wish to do so. Where there is no agreement fo voluntarily
renegotiate, and the planning obligation predates April 2010 or is over 3 years old, an
application may be made to the local planning authority to change the obiigation where
it “no longer serves a useful purpose” or would continue fo serve a useful purpose in a
modified way ™.

6.02 In this case the planning obligation is over 5 years old, being completed on 18™ May
2010, and so the developer could have applied formally to the council for this
modification. Howewver, all negotiations to date have being successfully underiaken
without the need for the formal applicafion.

6.03  In April 2013, the Govemment produced guidance on Section 106 Affordable Housing
Requirements. This introduced a new temporary procedure, with the ability to appeal,
for the review of planning obligations were it relates to affordable housing under
Section 106BA of the Town and Country Planning Act. The guidance notes at
paragraph 2 that:

“Unrealistic Section 106 agreements negofiated in differing economic condifions can
be an obsfacle to housing building. The Government is keen fo encourage
development fo come forward, fo provide more homes fo meef a growing population
and fo promote construction and economic growth. Sfalled schemes due fo
econamically unviable affordable housing requirements result in no development, no
regeneration and no communify benefit. Rewviewing such agreements will result in
maore housing and more affordable howsing than would ofherwise be the case.”

6.04 Although this procedurs was repealed in April 2016, the guidance referred to ahove
and the change in legislation sets the tone for negotiations on the loosening of
requirements to provide affordahle housing on schemes that were approved at a time
of economic difficulty and for schemes that are proving difficult to get off the ground,
such as 153 London Road.

6.05 MNow that the temporary change in legislation has come to an end, the modification of
planning obligations can sfill take place under Section 1064 but, arguably, under a
less, streamlined process and without the right to appeal.

6.06 NPPG - Viability, notes that viahility can be important where planning obligations or
other costs are being introduced. In these cases decisions must be underpinned by an
understanding of wviability, ensuring realistic decisions are made to support

116

Pages33



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2

APPENDIX 1
Planning Committee Report - 2 February 2017 ITEM 2.9

development and promote economic growth. The guidance states that where the
viability of a development is in question, local planning authorities should look to be
flexible in applying policy requirements wherever possible. Where an applicant is able
io demonsirate to the satisfaction of the local planning authority that the planning
obligation would cause the development to he unviable, the local planning authority
should be flexible in seeking planning obligations. This is paricularly relevant for
affordable housing contributions which are often the largest single item sought on
housing developments. These contributions should not be sought without regard to
individual scheme viahility. The financial viability of the individual scheme should he
carefully considered in line with the principles in this guidance.

6.07 Paragraph 173 of the NPPF states:

“...To ensure viabilify, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to
development, such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure
contributions or other requirements should, when taking account of the normal cost of
development and mitigation, provide compefitive refurns fo a willing land owner and
willing developer fo enable the development to be deliverable.”

G.08 In the case of 153 London Road, the guidance is clear that we should be flexible in
terms of the provision of affordable housing. The applicant has submitied three
separate viahility assessments, one in 2012, one in 2015 and the most recent in
October 2016. All of these assessments demonstrate that the scheme would be
unviable with affordable housing provided on site. It is my strong view that the
proposed modification would allow the development of the site to come forward much
more quickly then it would do if affordable housing was required to be provided on site
at 30%. The requirement for a viability re-assessment, which would be independently
assessed, will ensure that if the developer makes a profit above 17% (which is
considered to be a reasonable % for developer profit and has been similarly applied to
other schemes), a contribution of £31,000 (index linked) will be paid to the Council.
This would be used towards the provision of afiordable housing elsewhere within the
Borough. The capping of the contribution at £31,000 gives the developer the cerainty
that they require in order to secure the necessary funds to develop the site. | consider
that this is reasonable in this case.

6.08 The figure of £31,000 has heen amived at following extensive negotiations. The
developer had originally offered a much smaller figure of £19,800 based on their
calculations of the value of the market value of the 8 affordable units. We queried this
figure based on our knowledge of larger commuted sums that had been secured on
sites within close proximity to 153 London Road. The developer has agreed to pay
this higher figure on the terms set out at paragraph 2.06 above.

6.10  Allowing the planning obligation to be modified in the way proposed will enable the
provision of much needed housing and would improve the appearance of the site
which | consider is, at present, an eyesore.

7.0 CONCLUSION

7.01  The proposal to modify the planning obligation in respect of the affordable housing
provision on site would enable the development of much needed housing to come
forward and would result in a significant visual improvement of the site. These factors
weight significantly in favour of the modification which would see the loss of all on-site
affordable housing. However, the scheme would still he subject to a wviahility
re-assessment which would see £31,000 secured towards off-site affordable housing,
should the developer make a profit of more than 17%.

117

Page 24



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2

APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report - 2 February 2017 ITEM 2.9

8.0 RECOMMENDATION — To Grant modifications to the existing Section 106 as set out
above and delegation to agree the precise wording of the modified planning obligation
under the instruction of the Head of Legal Services.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council's website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

118

Pages35



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2

APPENDIX 2

Planning Committee Report
14 September 2017

REPORT SUMMARY

REFERENCE NO - SWi08/1124 & SW/13/0568

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Modification of Section 106 agreement to allow removal of on-site affordable housing with a
viahility re-assessment submitted upon occupation of the 215 unit and a commuted sum
payable at a minimum of £31,000 for off-site affordable housing. Ornginal application - fo
replace an extant planning permission SW/08/1124 (Demolition of existing buildings and
redevelopment of site to provide 12, two bedroom apartments, 14, one bedroom apartments,
amenity space, 26 parking spaces and cycle store and new vehicular access) in order to extend
the time limit for implementation.

ADDRESS 153 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PA
RECOMMENDATION Grant modification

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

On-site affordable housing would not be viable to provide.  Allowing a viahility re-assessment
once the development has commenced and upon occupation of the 21¥ unit, would ensure that
a commuted sum is secured for off-site affordahle housing, subject to there being a profit above
20%. This modification of the Section 106 agreement responds io the changing financial and
property markets in difficult economic times. The modification would allow the development of
much needed housing to be provided within an urhan and sustainable site. It would also
significantly improve the appearance of the site which is an eyesore in a prominent position.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Modification of Section 106 agreement

WARD Grove Ward PARISHTOWN COUNCIL APPLICANT Clarity Properties

Sittingboumne Ltd

AGENT Mr Keith Plumb

DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE
08/08M3 090117
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining
sites):
App Lo Proposal Decision | Date

16/507631/LDCEX | Cerificate of Lawful development to estahlish Appraval 08 12.16
that works commenced under the approved

planning permission, SW/M3/0568, in the form
of demalition of the existing buildings on 23rd

May 2016.
16/508336/NMAM | Mon material amendment to alter the Approval | g2 12.16
D description of application SW/08/1124 1o reflect

the approved drawings which show 13 one
hedroom apariments and 13 two bedroom
apartments.

SWiM13M0568 to replace an extant planning permission Approval 080813
SWI0E/1124 (Demolition of existing buildings
and redevelopment of site to provide 12, two
bedroom apartments, 14, one bedroom
apartments, amenity space, 26, parking
spaces and cycle store and new vehicular

Page 36



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2
APPENDIX 2
Planning Committee Report
14 September 2017
access) in order to extend the time limit for
implementation.
SWI08/M1124 Demuolition of existing buildings and Approval 18.05.10

redevelopment of site to provide 12, two
hedroom apariments, 14, cne bedroom
apartments, amenity space, 26 parking spaces
and cycle store and new vehicular access.

MAIN REPORT
1.0 INTRODUCTIOMN

1.01 The proposal to modify the Section 106 agreement as set out above was brought
before Members of the Planning Committee on 2™ February 2017. The original
committee report and the relevant minutes of this meeting are appended.

1.02 Members resolved that the application be deferred to allow officers to advise the
developer o either provide affordable housing or more than £31,000 for offsite
affordable housing, and that it cannot be dependent upon their profit margins.
Memhers also requested that the viability assessment be made available to them
when the proposed modification is reported back to them. The viahility assessment
is provided under Part 6 of this agenda as the information contained within it is
financially sensitive.

1.03  In response to Members' concems, the developer instructed his financial advisor to
provide an up to date viability assessment to enable the Council to review it. Officers
have commissioned an independent review of this viability assessment by CBRE.
The report on this review is provided under Part & of this agenda.

1.04 Members are asked to refer to the original report that is appended in respect of the
history of the site, planning policy, consultee responses, background papers and
appraisal.

1.05 Since the proposed maodification was reporied to the February Planning Committes,
the Bearing Fruits 2031: Swale Borough Local Plan 2017 (adopted LP) has been
adopted. Policy DM8 of the adopted LP in part states:

“..In exceptional circumstances, and in accordance with a supplementary planning
document to be prepared by the Borough Council:

a. on-sife affordable housing provision may be commuted to a financial contribution to be
used off-site, singly or in combination with other contributions. Commuted sums may
also be considered in respect of sites af Faversham and the rural areas so as fo support
the provision of affordable housing in less viable locations; or

b. where no Registered Social Landiord is available, the full affordable housing provision
requirement will be cascaded to anather provider andfor site or via a commuted sum, its
calculation having regard fo the full amount of markef housing that kas been achieved on
the site; or

c. where an apphicant can demonstrate that providing the full affordable housing
provision would resulf in the scheme becoming unviable, a reduced requirement may be
considered and will be subject fo a legal agreement to ensure that full provision of

Pager37



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2

APPENDIX 2

Planning Committee Report
14 September 2017

affordable housing is reconsidered should land values rise prior to the commencement of
development or any subsequent phases and/or an adjustment made to the tenure split.

If evidence demonstrates that economic conditions, or the proposed characteristics of
the development or ifs locafion, have positively changed the impact of viability of the
provision of affordable housing, the Council will seek a proportion of affordable housing
closer to the assessed level of need, or higher i development wability is nof
compromised.”

1.06 Under Palicy DM8, for development in Sitlingbourne of 11 or more dwellings, 10%
affordable housing is required as opposed to the previous 30% under the old Local Flan
2008.

1.07  Since the February Planning Committee, the building that was on the application site
has been demolished, the land cleared and foundations have been laid.

2.0 APPRAISAL

201 Members will have read in the original commitiee report that the principle of
modifying a Section 106 agreement in respect of the level of affordable housing is
accepted in Mafional Planning Policy, providing that a wviability assessment
demonstrates that a reduction is justified.

2.02 Policy DM8 of the adopted LP also allows the level of affordable housing to be
reviewed under a viability assessment and a reduction allowed:

“..where an applicant can demonstrate that providing the full affordabie housing
provision would result in the scheme becoming unviable, a reduced requirement may
be considered...”

2.03 ligoes on to seek to ensure that a clause is huilt into the revised Section 106 to allow
a review of the viahility at a certain trigger point with the aim of capturing an increase
in sale prices, profit for the developer andfor uplift in land value.

2.04 The proposed modification to remove the requirement for affordable housing to be
required on the application site would meet the requirements of Palicy DMS in my
view. The viability assessment that has heen submitted has been independently
reviewed by CBRE (see report at part 6 of this agenda) and they conclude that the
revised proposal submitted by the applicant is reasonahle:

“ln light of the review undertaken and assumptions applied, CBRE's analysis shows
that the scheme cannot suppart the delivery of on-site affordable housing in addition
to the £40 000 5106 contribution allowed for. Therefore we consider the applicant’s
offer of £40,000 5106 contributions and a viability review following the occupation of
the 21% unit with a minimum additional payment of £31,000 to be reasonable.

However as noted in paragraph 5.12 above we would suggest that there is a formal
viahility review undertaken at the point of occupafion of the 21% unit utilising an
agreed baseline appraisal. We believe this should be a condition of the planning
consent. This should test whether a payment above the £31,000 offer be applicable
at that point in time.”

Page 28



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2

APPENDIX 2

Planning Committee Report
14 September 2017

2.05 Members may have noted that the developer has agreed to change the terms under
which the viability re-assessment would be based, refeming to a minimum commuted
sum of £31,000 as cpposed o @ maximum commuted sum of £31,000. It is entirely
reasonable, as Members righfly considered at the February planning commitiee (see
minutes as appendix A), that the commuted sum should be based on the amount that
the developer can afford to pay at the time, as demonstrated in a viahility
re-assessment.

206 As noted at paragraph 2.06 of the original report, we have negotiated with the
applicant that a viability re-assessment would be submitted upon the practical
completion of the 21% unit. Should the viability re-assessment demonstrate that the
scheme can afford a commuted sum payment, a minimum of £31,000 (plus an
adjustment for inflation) for off-site affordable housing would be made to the Council.
This would be paid in three instalments: 1% — practical completion of 21 unit, 2™ -
practical completion of the whole scheme and 3™ — sale of 26™ unit or & months after
the 2™ instalment, whichever is sooner. The wording of the Section 108 agreement
will need to be modified to enable this change, the precise wording of which would he
agreed under the instruction of the Head of Legal Services.

207 In response to Members concerns about the provision of affordable housing being
dependant upon the developer's profit, it is entirely reasonable for the developer to
make a profit from the development. Indeed, paragraph 173 of the NPPF states:

“...To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely fo be applied to
development, such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure
contributions or other requirements should, when taking account of the normal cost of
development and mitigation, provide competitive returns fo a willing land owner
and willing developer to enable the development to be deliverable.”

207 Delivery of housing in this Borough and across the country is dependent on
profit-making developers. It is widely recognised that a reasonable level of profit for
a developer is within the range of 17.5-20%. As Members wil see from the
submitted viability assessment (see part 6), the developer seeks to demonsfirate that
they would actually be making a profit at 0.65%. Given the significantly reduced
profit level for this development, the developer's financial advisor states:

“ln my opimion, this scheme is such a long way off being viable that any Section 106
payments at all simply adds to the costs and will reduce the viability further.
However, as previously mentioned the developer is keen to build the scheme and
exit the site and is willing to honour the previous commitment to provide a total
package of £40,000 in paymenis, alimost double the total projected profit of this
scheme.”

2.08 CBRE have conducted their viability assessment based on a 18.5% profit and
consider this to be reasonable noting that in their experience elsewhere, a higher
profit margin has been accepted. Despite the differences on the profit assumptions,
CBRE continue to conclude that it would not be viable to provide affordable housing
on this site.

Paged39



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2

APPENDIX 2

Planning Committee Report
14 September 2017

208 Membhers should note that the developer has requested that the viability
re-assessment should be bhased on the developer receiving a 20% profit. The
developer's financial advisor justifies this as follows:

“It is widely accepted that, for a scheme to be technically viable in pfanning terms, an
acceptable return for a developer is in the range of 17.59% fo 20%. On complex
brownfield sites, and particwlarly post-Brexit, it is widely accepted that refurns will be
at the upper end of this specfrum going forward, certainly much closer to 20%. As
alluded fo previously in this Report, the profit margin is crucial for absorbing
unexpected shocks in the economy, along with hidden costs on brownfield sites, and
is a suitable sum commuted on the risk faken by the developer. ...

...I believe in this case, a reasonable return to the land owner would be recouping
the costs of the 2007 purchase of the site, which sfands at £630,000. Additionally, a
willing developer would reasonably be expected to make a return in the region of
17.5% fo 20%, as supported by the research paper in Appendix B [see part 6 item].
This refurn insulafes the developer from risk and wider economic factors, which is
particularly prevalent in this case considering the time of the site purchase.”

210 As CBRE have based their appraisal on a profit of 18.5%, | would advise Members
that this should also be the basis of the re-assessment and not the 20% as
suggested by the applicant’s financial advisor.

211  In summary, CBRE and the developers financial advisor conclude that the scheme
would he unviahle without the removal of the requirement for affordable housing at
this site. The developer is, however, willing to build in a review of the viability upon
occupation of the 21% dwelling allewing a commuted sum of a minimum of £31,000 to
be released if it is viable to do so. This is entirely compliant with Policy DM& of the
adopted LP and the relevant paragraphs of the NFPF. There is no reason why the
Section 106 should not be modified in the way that is being requested by the
developer.

3.0 CONCLUSION

301 The proposal to modify the planning cbligation in respect of the affordable housing
provision on site would enahble the development of much needed housing to come
forward. This factor weighs significantly in favour of the modification which would see
the loss of all on-site affordable housing. However, the scheme would still be
subject to a viability re-assessment which would see at least £31,000 secured
towards off-site affordable housing, should the developer make a profit of more than
20%. The proposed modification would be enfirely compliant with the adopted LP
and the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION — To Grant modifications to the existing Section 106 as set out

above and delegation to agree the precise wording of the modified planning
obligation under the instruction of the Head of Legal Services.

MEB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer 1o the relevant
Public Access pages on the council's wehsite.

Page 4©



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 2

APPENDIX 2

Planning Committee Report
14 September 2017

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page141



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1

APPENDIX 3

153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE -
Viability Report

Prepared for Clarity Properties Limited and Swale Borough Council
87 June 2017

Tim Mitford-Slade MLE MRICS

Planning Application Reference: SWi130568 which supersedes planning permission SW/0SM1124.

32
Page 43



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3
Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1
APPENDIX 3
Contents
Report
1. Executive Summary 3
2. The Site 4
3. Background 5
4, DBasis of Appraisals 1]
5. Viability and Planning [
6. VBS {or Land CostValue Input, alzo referred to as Site Viability Benchmark Sum) 7
7. The Proposed Scheme 11
8. Market Value of Existing Site (Viability Benchmark) 13
9. Alternative Use Value (AUV]) (Development Scheme) 13
10. Development Value Appraisal 13
11. Conclusion 14
Appendices
Planning Decision Motice A
Planning Viability Research Report B
Appraisal C
Prepared by Tim Miford-Slade, Strutt & Parker LLP, Canterbury, 01227 473705 2

33
Page 44



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3
Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 ftem 1.1
APPENDIX 3
153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE
1. Executive Summary
1.1 I have been instructed by Clarity Properties Limited to camry out an independent financial appraisal of

the proposed development scheme for which planning permission was granted under refersnce
SWH3N568, along with a Section 106 Agreement, for the redevelopment of 153-155 London Road,
Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE (“the Property”). The planning decision notice is attached as
Appendix A. This independent financial appraizal is required in order to assess the viability
imphications of proposed planning obligations in respect of affordable housing and wider Section 108
costs.

1.2 This Viability Report supports the planning permission for redevelopment of the Property to provide 26
flats together with new access, parking, cycle store and amenity space following demeliticn of the
existing buildings. The site is also subject to a Section 106 Agreement, although it has already been
accepted that the developer cannot provide on-site affordable housing. Instead, on a without prejudice
basis the developer is willing to make a confribution towards off-site housing, as put to members of the
planning committee on 2™ February 2017. The planning committee defemed the application to advise
the developer to provide affordable housing, or increase the confribution. Having assessed the
reasons behind this decision, this Report sets out my opinion that the planning committee has ignored
the principles sat out in the Mational Planning Policy Framework (*NPPF") which form the basis of
viability assessments, namely the entitement of a willing landowner or willing developer to receive
competitive retums to enable the development to be deliverable. Subsequently, this Viability Report
seeks to address whether or not the proposed scheme can be deliverad in compliance with existing
policy or whether or not, on viability grounds, due regard needs to be given fo the quantum, if any, of
affordable housing and wider Section 106 obligations.

1.3 I have given due regard to the NPFPF, The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors Guidance Note 12
Edition Financial Wiability in Planming and the *Haman” report being Viabilify Tesfing Local Flans
produced by the Local Govemment Association, The Home Builders Federation and the NHBC
chaired by Sir. John Harman June 2012. The guidance contained in these documents has assisted in
formulating the opinions set cut in this report.

14 Having undertaken a detailed analysis of the proposed development | have reached the conclusion
that the scheme remains unviable even with a Section 106 contribution in the form of a fixed
commuted sum of only £40,000 (made up of £36,191 as requested, and topped up to £40,000). The
developer purchased the site at a market peak in 2007, and has since weathered a severe economic
downtum and incurred significant holding costs over the course of a decade. Therefore, despite the

34
Page 45



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committes — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1
APPENDIX 3

153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE

blatant wnviakility of this project, the developer is willing to build out the project as an exit strategy to
recoup some of the costs outlaid. Any additional Section 106 costs would only weaken the financial
ability of the developer to do so. Although | accept the council would lose out on financial
contributions, there are clear benefits to this strategy, such as eradicating an eyesore on an arterial
route into town which i an obvious magnet for antisocial behaviour.

15 The developer is willing to bring the site forward given their long standing invelvement during a difficult
pencd in the housing market, albeit accepting that marging are now essentially non-existent. They can
only do so without the burden of further Section 106 costs over and above the £40,000 allowed for. |
also note that the costs being incurred whilst being unable to develop the site, such as security and
interest, are only like to erode the viability of this figure as time goes on. At committee, the developer
offered a further commuted sum of £31.000 payable at pre-determined trigger points if and when the
development yields an appropriate profit margin. This offer will be withdrawn if the application is again
deferred or refused as this viability report clearly identifies that it cannot be justified under viability
grounds.

2. The Site

21 The Property is located on London Road (A2) just outside Sittingboume town centre in the County of
Kent. London Road itself is characterised by Victorian teraced residential properties in a linear
formation interspersed with a handful of commercial premises and a large state school. The Property
itself is ound to the north by the A2 with residential dwellings and a petreol filling station beyond. To
the east and south of the Property lies a Wickes DIY store with associated parking. This site is
understood to have previously been occupied by Berpul Chemical Products operating as a fertiliser
factory. Immediately to the west of the Property lies a detached bungalow and its associated garden
with residential dwellings beyond.

22 The Property is located approximately 1 mile west of Sittingbourne town centre and 1 mile east of the
A249 junction which provides a link onto Junction 5 of the M2 and Junction 10 of the M20. The M2
provides access to the coast in one direction and on towards London (46 miles) in the other. Mearby
towns include Faversham (7 miles), Rainham (7 miles), Sheemess (10 miles), Maidstone (12 miles)
and Canterbury (16 miles). There is a bus stop almost directly opposite the Property which provides
fransport to varous local towns and there is a mainline station at Sittingboume which connects to
London Victoria with an estimate journey time of 80 minutes. Sitingboume town centre provides a full
range of retail, business, leisure, educational and civic amenities with a further range in nearby towns.
An ESS0 garage is within S0 metres of the subject Property on the opposite side of London Road
along with a local newsagent.

23 The site extends to approximately 0.35 acres (0.14 hectares) and is roughly rectangular in shape and
of gently sloping topography from the southemn to northern boundary. |t is curently occupied by a
derelict building which has been subject to extensive fire damage. The rest of the site is hard surfaced,
brownfield land. It should be noted that | have not seen a copy of the Title Plan and these boundaries
are therefore indicative only and ought to be verified by the lender.

24 The original access to the Property off London Road has been blocked up and a new access has been

created to the east over the new adopted standard road to the Wickes DIY store. This new
arangement is to satisfy the requirements of the Highways Authority and the trade-off is that Wickes

35
Page 46



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Item 1.1
APPENDIX 3

153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE

have provided some additional land including six parking spaces. The area of the site has therefore
been marginally extended to the east since it was purchased by the Bormower. At present, the
Property provides the remains of a fire damaged office to the front with a number of lock-up garages to
the rear.

3 Background

31 Planning permission was granted by Swale Borough Council under application reference SW/D8/M1 124
for “demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment of site to provide 12, two bedroom apariments,
14, one bedroom apartments, amenity space, 26 car parking spaces and cycle store and new
vehicular access”. The site is also subject to a Section 106 Agreement which requires a secondary
education contributicn of £589.95 per 2-bedroom flat, a library contribution of £227 per dwelling, an
adult education contribution of £180 per dwelling and an open space confribution of £17,940.
Furthermore, the policy requires 30% of the residential units to be affordable, which iz defined as
“subsidised housing that will be available to persons who cannot afford to rent or buy housing
generally available on the open market™. This report has been commissioned to establish exactly what
quantum of affordable housing and Section 106 costs can be bome by the proposed scheme whilst
remaining viable in planning termes.

32 Planning permission was granted on 8t August 2013 under the reference SWH3/0568 to “replace an
extant planning permission SWIDSM1247 in onder to “extend the time limit for implementation®. The
notification of grant of pemission again referred fo the Section 106 Agreement relating to this
development.

33 A modification of the Section 106 agreement went to planning committee on 2™ February 2017. It
proposed that on-site affordable housing was removed, with a viability re-assessment submitted upon
occupabion of the 21 unit and a commuted sum payable at a minimum of £31,000 for off-site
affordable housing. The chairman moved the officer recommendation to approve the application and
this was seconded. However, following the meeting the resolution was to defer the application o
allow officers to advise the developer to either provide affordable housing or more than £31,000 for
off-site affordable housing, and that it cannot be dependent upon their profit margins’. Upon
conclusion of this Viability Report, it is my opinion that the sum offered by the developer was in excess
of what should be considered reasonable, and it would now be unrealistic to expect any offer over and
above the £40,000 in Section 106 costs that is already agreed, comprising just £3,809 towards
affordable housing. The developer is nevertheless prepared to commit to the additional £31,000 as
put to the committee but this offer will be withdrawn if the application is again deferred or refused as
thig viahility report clearly identifies that it cannot be justiied under viability grounds.

34 I have had sight of the notes, which | fieel reflect a wider sentiment of frustration towards developers
which has unfairly been aimed towards this particular project. Firstly, it is unreasonable to demand a
developer does not take into account their profit margin — a just rewand for the risk taken in property
development, and a suitable way of limiting lesses in the effect of wider market conditions which are
out of the developer's control. More agreeable iz the view of the Senior Planning Officer, who rightly
pointed out that while affordable housing may have been viable in 2008 with the housing market at its
peak, that does not mean it B now. Since then there have been huge economic consequences
resulting from the recession which continue to impact interest rates, lender sentiment, house prices,
building costs and developer confidence. Indeed, an attached Strutt & Parker ressarch paper
(Appendix B) refers to a BNP Parbas report which indicated developers were working on profit
margins of 15-17% of GDV in 2007, which has resulted in banks now demanding higher profit margins

36
Page 47



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1

APPENDIX 3
153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE

to reflect “perceived and actual risk”. I should be expected that developers and lenders alike ars
much more cautious and responsible in the market now, which is reflected within my viability
appraisals.

35 The NPPF refers to ensuring viability and delivery of development at Sec. 173-177 and states “to
ensure viability, the costs of any requirement likely to be applied to development, such as
requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other requirements
should when taking account of the nomnal cost of development and mitigation provide competitive
refums to a willing land owner and willing developer to enable the development to be deliverable™. |
believe in this case, a reasonable retum to the land owner would be recouping the costs of the 2007
purchase of the site, which stands at £630,000. Additionally, a willing developer would reasonably be
expected to make a retum in the region of 17.5% to 20%, as supported by the research paper in
Appendix B. This return insulates the developer from risk and wider economic factors, which is
particularly prevalent in this case considering the time of the site purchase.

4. Basis of Appraisals

41 The appraisals and figures provided herein do not strictly speaking fall within the scope of the RICS
(Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors) *Red Book™ and is not a formal valuation in that context.
However, the principles of good practice have been followed and detailed justification for the indicative
values andior component valuation appraisals are provided. More fo the point, the appraisal is in
direct line with the RICS Guidance on Financial Viability in Planning.

42 The report is provided purely to assist planning discussions with Swale Borough Council.

43 The viability report is provided on a confidential basis and | therefore request that the report should not
be disclosed to any third parties (other than Swale Borough Council and their advisers), under the
Freedom of Information Act 2000 (Section 41 and 43/2) or under the Environmental Information

Regulation. The report is not to be placed in the public domain. In addition, | do not offer Swale
Borough Council, their advisers andfor any third parties a professional duty of care.

5 Viability and Planning
51 Scheme viability iz normally assessed using residual valuation methodology.

52 A summary of the residual process is:

| Bluilt Value of proposed private residential and other uses
+

| Built Value of affordable housing

Build Ciosts, finance costs, other section 108 costs, sales fees,
developers’ profit etc

|  Residual Land Value (*RLV") |

RLV is them compared to a Viability Benchmark Sum
[“WBS"). If RLV is lower andlor not sufficiently higher than the

VBS — project is not technically viable.

37
Page 48



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Itern 1.1
APPENDIX 3

153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE

5.3 If the RLV driven by a proposed scheme is reduced to significantly below an appropriate VBS, it
follows that it is commerdially unviable to pursue such a scheme, and the scheme is unlikely to

procesd.

54 The RLY approach (as summarised above) can be inverted so that it becomes a ‘residual profit
appraisal' based upon the insertion of a specific land costivalue (equivalent to the VBS) at the top. By
doing this, the focus is moved onto the level of profit driven by a scheme. This is a purely
presentational alternative.

G. VBS (or Land CostValue Input, also referred to as Site Viability Benchmark
Sum)

6.1 The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors ("RICS") published their long awaited Guidance Mote on
this subject in 2012 (Financial Viability in Planning — RICS Guidance Mote — GN 34/2012 August
2012).

6.2 The RICS have consulted more extensively than any other body on this subject to date and | believe
that their latest guidance now represents the best possible consolidated guidance on this subject.
However, due regard has also been given fo the Harmman guidance already refemred to.  The
fundamental difference between the two is the approach to the WVBS. Haman believes the dominant
driver should be Existing Use Value ("EUV) (whersupon | believe they mean Cumrent Use Value, or
SCUWT which, based upon RICS guidance, excludes all hope value for a higher value through
altemative uses). On the other hand, RICS states that the dominant driver should be Market Value
{assuming that any hope value accounted for has regard to development plan policies and all other
material planning considerations and disregards that which is contrary to the development plan).

6.3 A few local authorities and their advizors are still trying to disregard premiums applicable to EUVs or
CUV= {i.e. ELVICUY only - which was the basis being incomectly enforced for several years) but the
reference to ‘competitive retums’ in the NPPF and planning precedent has now extinguished this
stance.

5.4 There has been concem about how one can identify and logically justify what premium should be
added to an EUV or CLV and what exactly EUY means. It is not as straight-forward as one might
initially think.

6.5 There has also been some concern about Market Value potentially being influenced by land
transaction comparables andfor bids for land that are excessive (thus triggering an inappropriate
benchmark). However, | believe that any implied suggestion that developers deliberately (or might
deliberately) over-pay for land in order to awvoid having to deliver 5.106 affordable housing
contributions is misguided. Land buyers and developers seek fo secure land for as little money as
possible. They do not seek to overpay and are aware of the associated planning and financial risks
should they do so. My view is that, if professional valuers digregard inappropriate land transaction
comparables (e.g. where over-payments appear to have occurred accidentally or for some other
legitimate but odd reason) and other inappropriate influences in deriving Market Value, both of which
they should, Market Value iz on-balance the more justifiable, logical, reaszonable and realistic
approach — albeit not perfect.

38
Page 49



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Iterm 1.1
APPENDIX 3

153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE

6.6 I beleve that the premium ower EUN or CUV to identify an appropriate VBS is in fact the same as the
percentage difference between EUV or CUY and Market Value. In other words, both approaches
should lead to the same number. However, Market Value is the logical side to approach this
conundrum from.

6.7 As such, | have followed the latest RICS Guidance herein as well as recent Planning Inspectorate
decigions including that by Clive Hughes BA (Hons) MA DMS MRTPI in Land at The Manor, Shinfield,
Reading under Reference APP/X036NAM2M2179141.

6.8 Of particular note, the RICS guidance says:

a) Site Value either as an input into a scheme specific appraisal or as a benchmark iz defined in
the guidance note as follows, “Site Value should equate to the Market Value subject to the
following assumption that the value has regard to development plan policies and all other
material planning considerations and dizregards that which is contrary to the development plan.”

b) An accepted method of valuation of development sites and land is set out in RICS Valuation
Information Paper (VIP) 12. This paper is shortly to be re-written as a Global Guidance Note.

c) Reviewing altemative uses is very much part of the process of assessing the Market Value of
land and it iz not unusual to consider a range of scenarios for certain properties. Where an
altemative use can be readily identiied as generating a higher value, the wvalue for this
altemative use would be the Market Value.

d}  The nature of the applicant should nomally be disregarded as should benefits or dis-benefits
that are unigue to the applicant.

e) The guidance provides this definition in the context of undertaking appraisals of financial
viability for the purposes of town planning decisions: An objective financial wiability fest of the
ability of a development project to meet its costs including the cost of planning obligations,
whilst ensuring an appropnate site value for the landowner and a market nsk adjusted return fo
the developer in delivering that project.

f) With regard to indicative cutline of what to include in a viability assessment it iz up to the
practiioner to submit what they believe is reasonable and appropriate in the particular
circumstances and for the local authority or their advisors to agree whether this is sufficient for
them to undertake an objective review.

al For a development to be financizally viable, any uplift from current use value to residual land
value that arses when planning permission is granted must be able to meet the cost of planning
obligations whilst ensuring an appropriate site value for the landowner and a market risk
adjusted retumn to the developer in delivering that project (the NPPF refers to this as
‘competitive retums’ in paragraph 173 on page 41). The return to the landowner will be in the
form of a land value in excess of cumrent use value but it would be inappropriate to assume an
uplift based upon set percentages, given the heterogeneity of individual development sites. The
land value will be based upon market value which will be risk-adjusted, so it will normally be
less than current market prices for development land for which planning permission has been
secured and planning obligation requirements are known.

39
Page 50



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1
APPENDIX 3
153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE

1] Sale prices of comparable development sites may provide an indication of the land value that a
landowmer might expect but it is important to note that, depending on the planning status of the
land, the market price will include risk-adjusted expectations of the nature of the permission and
associated planning obligations. If these market prices are used in the negotiations of planning
obligations, then account should be taken of any expectation of planning obligations that is
embedded in the market price (or valuation in the absence of a price). In many cases, relevant
and up to date comparable evidence may not be available or the heterogeneity of development
sites requires an approach not based on direct comparison. The importance, however, of
comparable evidence cannot be over-emphasised, even if the supporting evidence is very
limited, as evidenced in Court and Land Tribunal decisions.

i The assessment of Market Value with assumptions is not straightforward but must, by definition,
be at a level which makes a landowner willing to sell, as recognised by the NPPF. Appropriate
comparable evidence, even where this is limited, is important in establishing Site Value for a
scheme specific as well as area wide assessments.

1] Viability assesaments will usually be dated when an application iz submitted (or when a CIL
charging schedule or Local Plan is published in draft). Exceptions to this may be pre-application
submissions and appeals. Viability assessments may occasicnally need to be updated due to
market movements or if schemes are amended during the planning process.

k) Site purchase price may or may not be matenal in armiving at a Site Value for the assessment of
financial viability. In some circumstances the use of actual purchase price should be treated as
a special case.

] It is for the practitioner to consider the relevance or otherwise of the actual purchase price, and
whether any weight should be attached to it, having regard to the date of assessment and the
Site Value definiticn set out in the guidance.

m} Often in the case of development and site assembly, vanous interests need to be acquired or
negotiated in order to be able to implement a project. These may include: buying in leases of
existing occupiers or paying compensation; negoliating rights of light claims and payments;
party wall agreements, over sailing rights, ransom stripsfiights, agreeing armangements with
utility companies; temporanyffacilitating works, etc. These are all relevant development costs
that should be taken into account in viabilty assessments. For example, it is appropriate to
include rights of light payments as it is a real cost to the developer in terms of compensation for
loss of rights of light to neighbouring properties. This is often not reflected in Site Value given
the different views on how a site can be developed.

nj It is important that viability assessments be supported by adequate comparable evidence. For
this reason, it iz important that the appraisal is undertaken by a suitably qualified practitioner
who has experience of the type, scale and complexity of the development being reviewed or in
connection with appraisals supporting the formulation of core strategies in local development
frameworks. This ensures that appropriate assumplions are adopted and judgement formulated
in respect of inputs such as values, yields, rents, sales periods, costs, profit levels and finance
rates to be assumed in the appraisal. This should be carmied out by an independent practitioner
and ideally a suitably qualified surveyor.

40
Page 51



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Iterm 1.1
APPENDIX 3

153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE

)] The RICS Valuation Standards 9% Edition (“Red Book™) gives a definition of Market Value as
follows:

m The estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an am’s-length transaction after propery
marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without
compulsion.

m The Red Book also deals with the situation where the price offered by prospective buyers
generally in the market would reflect an expectation of a change in the circumstances of the
property in the future. This element is often refemred to as ‘hope value’ and should be
reflected in Market Value. The Red Book provides two examples of where the hope of
additional value being created or obtained in the future may impact on the Market Value:

= the prozspect of development where there is no current permission for that development;
and

= the prospect of synergistic value arising from merger with another property or interests
within the same property at a future date.

m The guidance seeks to provide further clarification in respect of the first of these by stating
that the value has regard to development plan policies and all other material planning
considerations and disregards that which is contrary to the development plan.

= The second bullet point above is particularly relevant where sites have been assembled for a
particular development.

m |t should be noted that hope value is not defined in either the Valuation Standards. That is
because it is not a basis of value but more a convenient way of expressing the certainty of a
valuation where value reflects development for which permissicn is not guaranteed to be
given but if it was, it would produce a value above curmrent use.

m To date, in the absence of any guidance, a wvariety of practices have ewvolved which
benchmark land value. One of these, used by a limited number of practiticners, has been to
adopt Current Use Value (SCUVT) plus a mangin or a variant of this (Existing Use Valus
{(“EUNVT) plus a premium). The EUV / CUV basis is discussed below. The margin is an
arbitrary figure often ranging from 10% to 40% abowve CLUV but higher percentages have
been used particularly in respect of green-field and rural land development.

= |n formulating this guidance, well understood valuation definiions have been examined as
contained within the Red Bock. In arriving at the definition of Site Value (being Market Value
with an assumption), the Working Party / Consultant Team of this guidance have had regard
to other definitions such as EUV and Altemative Use Value (“AUVT) in order to clarify the
distinction necessary in a financial viability in a planning context. Existing Use Value is
defined as follows:

= “The esimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an am’s-length transaction after propery

marketing and where the parties had sach acted knowledgeably, prudently and without
compulsion assuming that the buyer is granted vacant possession of all parts of the property

10

41
Page 52



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1
APPENDIX 3

153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE

required by the business and disregarding potential alternative uses and any other
characteristics of the property that would cause Market Value to differ from that needed to
replace the remaining service potential at least cost.”

m |t is clear the above definition is inappropriate when considered in a financial viability in
planning context. EUV is used only for inclusion in financial statements prepared in
accordance with UK accounting standards and as such, hypothetical in @ market context.
Property does not transact on an EUY (or CUVY) basis.

m |t follows that most practitioners have recognised and agreed that CUY does not reflect the
workings of the market as land does not sell for its CUV, but rather at a price reflecting its
potential for development. Whilst the use of CUV plus a margin does in effect recognise
hope value by applying a percentage increase owver CUV it is a very unsatisfactory
methodology when compared to the Market Value approach set out in the Guidance and
above. This iz because it assumes land would ke released for a fixed percentage above
CL that is arbitrary inconsistently applied and above all does not refiect the market.

m Accordingly, the guidance adopts the well understood definition of Market Value as the
appropriate basis to assess Site Value, subject to an assumption. This is consistent with the
MPPF, which acknowledges that “willing sellers” of land should receive “competitive refurns”.
Competitive retums can only be achieved in a market context (Le. Market Value) not one
which is hypothetically based with an arbitrary mark-up applied, as in the case of EUV (or
CLW) plus.

m So far as altemative use value is concemned, the Valuation Standards state where it iz clear
that a purchaser in the market would acquire the property for an altemative use of the land
because that altemative use can be readily identified as generating a higher value than the
cumrent use, and is both commercially and legally feasible, the value for this alternative use
would be the Market Value and should be reported as such. In other words, hope value is
also refiected and the answer is still Market Value.

T The Proposed Scheme

71 Planning pemission has been granted for a scheme of 26 apariments on site. The planning consent,
onginally dated 158" May 2010 and superseded by SW/M13/0558 dated 8% August 2013 is for
“demoliion of existing buildings and redevelopment of site to provide 12, two bedroom apartments, 14,
one bedroom apartments, amenity space, 26, parking spaces and cycle store and new wehicular
access”. However, the consent also relates to amended drawings received 25" February 2009 and
additional information received 17" February and 23 February 2009. The amended drawings clearly
show 13, two bedroom apartments and 13 one bedroom aparments. As such, it is this scheme which
is the subject of the Viability Report and | assume that the wording of the consent has now been
superseded by the revised drawings.

T2 The proposed development is in an L-shaped block with five storey accommedation on the comer of
London Road and the road into the Wickes site.  The roof height then falls away to three storey

accommodation. The drawings appear to show a fraditional brick and block concrete frame
construction, and | have hence assumed this to be the preferred method of construction.

i

42
Page 53



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019

7.3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019

I have besn provided with a schedule of areas which is as follows:

0 om o= @ ot & W R

MMMMHMM-L-L-L-L-L-L-L-L-L-L
o th B e = B = = - s T O P R T =]

First
First
First
First
First
Second
Second
Second
Second
Second
Second
Second
Third! Fourth
Ground
First
First
First
Second
Second

- = R R

{5 T 5 T S T |

-

Area Area

(sqmj)
1 220 4529
1 341 3029
1 408 3789
1 408 3789
1 543 2976
1 456 42 37
1 430 4183
1 S3F 4991
1 530 4924
1 422 3920
1 422 3920
1 i) 6183
1 456 4238
1 430 4183
1 237 4991
1 341 30.30
1 422 3920
1 422 3920
1 543 2976
2 a01 7442
1 493 4637
1 493 4637
1 460 4271
1 460 4271
1 a08 4713
1 ar3 3465

43
Page 54

DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Item 1.1
APPENDIX 3
153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE

Small garden

Garden

Patic

Patic

Patic

Ower vehicular entrance
Cwer vehicular entrance
Balconies to front and rear
Comer balcomy

Balconies to front and rear
Balconies to front and rear
Balconies to front and rear
Ower vehicular entrance
Ower vehicular entrance
Balconies to front and rear
Comer balcony

Balconies to front and rear
Balconies to front and rear
Balconies to front and rear
Private Iift and balcony
Patio

Balconies to front and rear
Balcony to rear

Balcony to rear

Large balconies to front and rear

Large balcony to rear

12



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3
Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 ftem 1.1
APPENDIX 3
153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE
8. Market Value of Existing Site (Viability Benchmark)
8.1 I have had =ight of the Title Register for the Property, which confirns the current owner purchased the

site for a sum of £630,000 in 2007 at the height of the market reflecting good prospects for
development and attractive retums. Due to the fact the original planning application was submitted in
2008, | believe this purchase price is an accurate reflection of value at the time in relation to a
potential residential development site.  The market subsequently collapsed, with the Land Registry
figures reporting a 19.2% decrease in residential values in Kent between the top of the market in
December 2007 and the bottom in Aprl 2009, The value of flats fell even greater than the average
property according to the same data. This absolutely emphasises the necessity of developers allowing
for a risk adjusted retum due to wider market factors.

82 Since the purchase in 2007, the existing buildings on the site have been severely damaged by fire,
which had led us to consider the subsequent impact on land value. However, the buildings were to be
demolished as part of the planning application, and | would therefore argue that the value of the
original development opportunity did not take the existing buildings into account.

8.3 Finally, due regard has been given to the land value of a vacant brownfield site in an urban location
with clear development potential.

84 The conclusion reached is that the Property has an Existing Use Value or Viability Benchmark Sum, in
line with the orginal purchase price of £630,000 against which the profit margin of the proposed

scheme can be tested.
9. Alternative Use Value (AUV) (Development Scheme)
91 In looking at the market soluticn for the site it is not possible to carmy out full appraisals of all potential

development options. This report therefore examines the scheme as detailed under planning
application reference SW/I13/0568.

10. Development Value Appraisal

101 In order to assess the wviability of the proposed scheme to bear affordable housing and 106
contributions | have constructed a development appraisal using the Argus Property Software Package,
a widely used and recognised appraisal tool. The appraisal is attached as Appendix C and can be
summarised as follows:

A, Acquisition Costs — | have inserted the 2007 purchase price of £630,000 into the appraisal, along
with the historc stamp duty paid at £13,700. Other fees brng the total acquisition costs to
£B87 500, whilst an additional uplift of £25 psf over 10,000 =q ft was also payable at £77,000,

B. Revenue (Gross Development Value) — Based upon comparable evidence in the market place,
the Gross Development Value is assessed at between £225 psf and £270 psaf, dependent on the
size of the units. Capital values therefore range from £100,000 for the smallest one-bedroom flat,
to £180,000 for the largest 2-bedroom apariment. This takes into account comparable transactions
in the locality as well as the particular characteristics of this site which is located on a relatively

13

44
Page 55



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 20149 ftem 1.1
APPENDIX 3

153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE

busy arterial road with a mixture of sumounding uses involving petrol stations and retail
warehouses amongst other residential stock. The reversicnary freehold interest in the land is also
included at £75,000.

B. Construction Costs — All construction costs are based on BCIS endorsed tender priced costings
rebased for Kent as at 13 May 2017. For new build flats extending to 3 storeys, this is £139 psf.

A contingency allowance has been adopted at 5% in line with standard market practice taking into
account that this is a brownfield site likely to require remediation and demolition works.

C. Other Construction Costs — Due regard has been given to demeliion and remediation works
totalling approximately £58,000 in order to prepare the site for a residential led redevelopment.
Alzo included i £19,500 to cover the wamanties associated with the completed new builds, along
with £30,000 as an appropriate figure for the secunty costs incured since the purchase of the
Property.

D. Fees and Finance — Along with acquisition costs and planning fees an allowance has been made
for professional fees at 10% in line with industry standards along with agents and marketing fees
and legal costs.

Finance rates of 6.25% have been adopted, based on interest costs and bank fees, over a total
cash activity period of 15 months comprising a 12 month phased build programme and a 6 month
sales programme with the last units being sold 3 months’ post construction.

E. Section 106 Costs — At this juncture an allowance for Section 106 costs has been made as

follows:
= Section 106 Agreement £36,191
= Additional affordable housing confribution £3,809

In total this would provide for a total Section 106 cost of £40,000.

11. Conclusion

111 The appraisal yields a profit, or developers retum, of just 0.65% on GDV. It is widely accepted that,
for a scheme to be technically viable in planning terms, an acceptable retum for a developer is in the
range of 17.5% to 20%. On complex brownfield sites, and parficulary post-Brexit, it is widely
accepted that returns will be at the upper end of this spectrum geing forward, certainly much cleser to
20%. As alluded to previously in this Report, the profit margin is crucial for absorbing unexpected
shocks in the economy, along with hidden costs on brownfield sites, and is a suitable sum commuted
on the risk taken by the developer. Clearly, a retumn of just 0.65% is significantly below any form of
acceptable margin and is absolutely not viable in planning terms.

11.2 In my opinion, this scheme is such a long way off being viable that any Section 106 payments at all
simply adds to the costs and will reduce the viability further. However, as previously mentioned the
developer is keen to build the scheme and exit the site and is willing to honour the previous
commitment to provide a total package of £40,000 in payments, almost double the total projected
profit of this scheme.

14

45
Page 56



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Item 1.1
APPENDIX 3

153-155 London Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PE

11.3 Upon conclusion of this Viability Report, it is my opinicn that the sum offered by the developer was in
excess of what should be considered reasonable, and it would now be unrealistic to expect any offer
over and above the £40,000 in Section 106 costs that is already agreed, comprising just £3,509
towards affordable housing. The developer is nevertheless prepared to commit to the additional
£31,000 as put to the committes but this offer will be withdrawn if the application is again deferred or
refused as this viability report clearly identifies that it cannot be justified under viability grounds.

g R P

Tim Mitford-Slade MLE MRICS
Pariner & Head of Development & “Valuation
Strutt & Parker LLP

& June 2017

15

46
Page 57



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1
APPENDIX 3

STRUTT

“PARKER

APPENDIX A

47
Page 58



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 ltem 1.1 APPENDIX 3
ST
+Swale House, East Street,

" Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3HT - N
1 DX59900 Sittingbourne 2 wa e
Phane: 01795 417850

Fax: 01795 417141
www.swale.gov.uk

BOROUGH COUNCIL
Making Swale a better place

TOWRN AND COUNTRY PLANMING ACT 1580 Application: SW/13/0568
Case no: 00744
NOTIFICATION OF GRANT DIF PERMISSION TO DEVELOP LAND X

TO:  Clarity Properties Lid
Cia Mr Keith Plumb
Woodstock Associates
53 Woodstock Road
Sittingbourns
Kent
ME10 4HJ

TAKE NOTICE that Swale Berough Council, in exerciss of its powers s & Local Authority under the Town and
Country Planning Acts, HAS GRANTED PERMISSION for development of land situated at:

163 Londan Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 1PA

and being  Applicafion to replace an extant planning permission SW/08/1124 (Demaolition
of existing buildings and redevelopment of site to provide 12, two bedroom
apartments, 14, one bedroom apariments, amenity space, 28, parking spaces
and cycle store and new vehicular access) in nrder‘to axtend the time limit for
implementation.

refarred to in your application for permission for development accepted as valid on 8" May 2013.
SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS specified hersunder:-

{1)  The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.

Grounds: In pursuanece of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1980
as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchass Act 2004

{2)  The development hereby approved shall be carried cut in accordance the following
approved drawings:

Grounds: For the avoldance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

YOUR ATTENTION IS DRAWN TO THE NOTES OVERLEAF
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION - SEE ATTACHED SHEET

-1 ( INVESTORS
Haveg your 2ay - halp shape Swale M PEOPLE o =
www.swale.gov.uk/LEF

48
Page 59



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Commitiee — 7 March 2019 Item 1.1 APPENDIX 3
WEEP SCHIED
-Swale House, East Street,

Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3HT :
T DX59900 Sitlingbourne 2 w a e .
Phone: 01795 417850

Fax: 01795 417141
www.swale.goviuk

BOROUGH COUNCIL
Making Swale a better place

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLAMNING ACT 1880 Application: SW/13/0568
Case no: 00744
Prior to commencemeant

{3) Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved details of the
materials to be used in consiruction shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with
those approved details.

Gro : In the Interests of visual amenity.

(4)  Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a plan indicating
the position, details and materials of the boundary treatments has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The boundary treatment
shall be completed prior to the occupation of the first residential dwelling and shall
thereafter be retained.

Grounds: In the interests of visual amenity.

(5)  Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved full details of both
hard and soft landscaping works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Lacal Planning Authority. These details shall include proposed finish lavels of
contours, means of enclosure, parking layouts, hard surfacing maferials, planting
plans with written specifications and heights.

Grounds: In the interests of visual amenity of the area.

{8}  Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, the Code for
Sustainable Homes registration number, a design stage cerificate and confirmation
of the code level that will be achieved for dwellings as indicated in the submitted
application shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details unless any varation has been approved in wriing by the Local Planning
Authority. All dwellings within the development shall achisve a minimum of Code
Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes as confirmed within the submitted
documents, or an eguivalent rating in any subsequent replacing standard that has
been agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority,

Grounds: In the interests of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable
development.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION - SEE ATTACHED SHEET

-

Have your say — help shape Swale
www.swale.gov.uk/LEF



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 ltem 1.1 APPENDIX 3
WP SIDAHRED
_ ~Bwale House, East Street,

Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3HT - . - i
! DX59900 Sitingbourne 2 wa e
Phone: 01785 417850

Fax: 01795 417141
www.swale.gov.uk

BOROUGH COUNCIL
Making Swale a better place

TOWM AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1890 Application: SW/13/0568
Casano: 00744

(7)  Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved a contaminated
land assessment (and associated remediation strateqgy if relevant) shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall
comprise:

i} An  investigation, including relevant scil, scil gas, surface and
groundwater sampling, caried out by a suitably gqualified and
accredited consultant/contractor in accordance with a Quality Assured
sampling and analysis methodoiogy.

ii) A site investigation repaort detailing all investigative works and sampling
on site, together with the resulis of analyses, risk assessment to any
receptors and a proposed remediation strategy which shall be of such
a nature as to render harmless the identified contamination given the

proposed end-use of the site and surrounding environment, including
any controlled waters.

Grounds:  To ensure any contaminated land is adequately dealt with.

(8)  The commencement of the development shall not take place until a programme for
the suppression of dust during demalition of the existing buildings and construction
of the development has been submitted to and approved in wriling by the Local
Planning Authority. The measures approved shall be employed throughout the
period of works unless any variation has been approved by the Local Planning
Althority,

Grounds: In the interests of visual amenity.

(3)  Notwithstanding the submitted plans and prior to the commencement of
development hereby approved, detalls of the elevations of the southemn block of
developmant and any noise attenuation measures to be provided to the building
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority,
Development shall be carried out in accordance with those approved details.

Grounds: In the interests of ameanity.

FOR FURTHER CONDITIONS & GROUNDS - SEE ATTACHED SHEET

e i"" INVESTORS &
IN PEOPLE

P
f Have your say — help shape Swails g
www.swale.gov.uk/LEF o

50
Page 61



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3
Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Item 1.1 EPF'EM’*@K -
' . -Swale House, East Street, '
Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3HT X e
¢ DX58800 Sittingbourne 2
Phone: 01795 417850
Fax: 01795 417141 BOROUGH COUNCIL

www.swale gov.uk

Making Swale a better place

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1850 Application: SW/13/0568
Case no: 00744

During Construction

{10) Mo impact pile driving in connection with the construction of the development shall
take place on the site on any Saturday, Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other
day except between the following times: Monday to Friday 0900 - 1700 hours unless
in association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the Local
Planning Autharity.

Grounds:; In the interests of residential amenity.

(11) Construction activity in association with the development herein approved shall only
take place between the hours of Monday to Friday 0730 to 1900 hours and
Saturdays 0730 io 1300 and no works shall take place outside of these times
including on any Sunday or Bank or national holidays. ’

Grounds; In the interasts of residential amenity
Prior to occupation

(12} Before any part or agreed phase of the development is occupied, all remediation
works identified in the contaminated land assessment and approved by the Local
Planning Authority shall be carried out in full (or in phases as agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority) on site under a quality assurad scheme to demonstrate
compliance with the proposad methodology and best practice guidance. If, during
the works, contamination Is encountered which has not previously been identified,
then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate
remediation scheme agreed with the Local Planning Autharity.

Grounds: To ensure any contaminated land is adequately dealt with.

{13) Upon completion of the works identified in the contaminated land assessment, and
before any part or agreed phase of the development is occupied, a closure report
shall be submitted which shall Include details of the proposed remediation works with
quality assurance certificates to show that the works have been carried out in
accordance with the approved methodology. Details of any post-remediation
sampling and analysis to show the site has reached the required clean-up criteria
shall be included in the closure report together with the necessary documentation
detailing what waste materials have been removed from the site.

Grounds: To ensure any contaminated land is adequately dealt with.

FOR FURTHER CONDITIONS & GROUNDS - SEE ATTACHED SHEET

' -4- wvssmns ﬂ,ﬁf‘
j° Have your say — help shape Swale rhl PEOPLE
www.swale.gov.uk/LEF

51
Page 62



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3
APPENDIX 3
Report to Planning Committes — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1 KR SD
.. Swale House, East Street, . o

Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3HT N _

. DX59900 Sittingbourne 2 wa e
Phone: 01795 417350
Fax: 01795 417141 BOROUGH COUNCIL

www.sWale.gov.uk

Making Swale a better place

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1950 Application: SW/M3/0568
Case no; 00744

(14} All hard and soft landscaping plans shall be carried out in accordance with those
approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of the first
dwelling in accordance with a programme agreed by the Local Planning Authority,
The approved planting stock shall be maintained for a minimum period of five Years
following its planting and any of the stock that dies or is destroyed within this period
shall be replanted in accordance with details to be submitted and approved by the
Local Planning Autharity.

Grounds: In the interests of visual amenity of the area.

{15) No dwelling shall be occupied until spaca has been laid out within the site in
accordance with the details shown on the application plans for cycles to be parkad,

Grounds:  To ensure that there is sufficient cycle parking at the site in the
interests of sustainable development .

On-going

(16} The areas shown for vehiclks parking shall be kept available for such a use and no
development wheather .permitted by the Town and Country Planning (Genaral
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amendad) or any Order revoking or re-

enacting that Ordar shall be carried out on the land so at to preclude vehicular
access and parking.

Grounds: In the interests of amenity and to prevent on-street parking and
inconvenience to other road users.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION - SEE ATTACHED SHEET

oy - 5 - 65 1'; b

:'%. INVESTORS 8 {f GOLD

0\ .- Have your say — halp shape Swafe IN FEOPLE “af, 5 o
-

= www.swale.gov.uk/LEF



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

APPENDIX 3
W ELED

.. Swale House, East Street, - . I . .
Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3HT gt =y
¢ DX59900 Sittingbourne 2 Swa I e
Phone: 01795 417850

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 20159 ftem 1.1

Fax: 01785 417141
www.swale.gov.uk

BOROUGH COUNCIL
Making Swale a better place

TOWHN AND COUNTRY PLANMING ACT 1290 Application: SW/13/0558
Case no: 00744

Council’s approach fo this application

The Councll recognises the advice in paragraphs 188 and 187 of the National Flanning
Policy Framework (NPPF) and sesks to work with applicants in a positive and proactive
manner by offering & pre-application advice service; having a duty planner service; and
seeking to find solutions to any obstacles to approval of applications having due regard to
the responses to consultation, where it can reasonably be expected that amendments to an
application will result in an approval without resulting in a significant change to the nature of

the application and the application can then be amended and determined in accordance
with statutory timescales,

In this case the application was acceptable as submitted,

PLEASE ALSO NOTE THAT THERE IS AN AGR EEMENT UNDER SECTION 106 OF
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 RELATING TO THIS DEVELOPMENT

8" August 2013

.................................................................. James Freeman
Head of Plannng

s
: “6- INVESTORS é‘]}@f
Have your say ~ helo shape Swala N PEOPLE " To'
www.swale.gov.uk/LEF

53
Page 64



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1
APPENDIX 3

STRUTT

“PARKER

APPENDIX B

54
Page 65



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 ftem 1.1
APPENDIX 3

South East Valuations and Development & Planning STRUTT

PARKER

Viability in Planning

The Appropriate Level of Developers Profit in Viability Appraisals

November 2016

Introduction

Viability assessments are considered a crucial tool in assisting with the development of plans
and planning policy. and have become ever more ingrained in the planning process since the
introduction of the National Planning Policy Framework in 2012. As a result, Strutt & Parker are often
instructed by clients to produce viability appraisals, of which an important element is the regularly
disputed developer's profit. In paragraph 015 of the NPPF it is stated that viability should consider
“competitive returns to a willing landowner and willing developer to enable the development to be
deliverable”. After extensive market research, Strutt & Parker adopted a 20% profit on Gross
Development Value (GDV) for use in our viability appraisals, and this paper briefly summarised some
of the evidence used to reach that conclusion.

Executive Summary

= RICS guidance dictates that for a scheme to be viable, a developer's return cannot fall below the
level which is acceptable in the market for the risks involved in undertaking a scheme of that nature.

= Without viability assessments, it is conceivable that approzimately half of major developments in
the UK would not take place,

= Strutt & Parker use a developer’s profit of 2096 GDV as a cost in Residual Land Valuations when
assessing whether or not a scheme is viable,

m  There is evidence across the industry which supports a developer’s profit of 20% on GDV being
used in viability appraisals from House Builders, Local Planning Authorities, Appeal Cases and
Surveying Firms.

= Strutt & Parker conclude that a developer’s profit of 20% on GDV is a figure reflective of attitudes
towards risk is aligned with current market expectations and is supported by research from across
the industry.

Viability Appraisals

Guidance for the application for developer’s profits in viability appraisals is outlined in Section
3.3 of the RICS Professional Guidance Note titled Financial Viability in Planning and is as follows:

55
Page 66



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1
APPENDIX 3

STRUTT

“‘PARKER

“3.3.1 When a developer’s return is adopted as the benchmark variable. a scheme should be considered

viable, as long as the cost implications of planning obligations are not set at a level at which the developer's

return (after allowing for all development costs including Site Value) falls below that which is acceptable

in the market for the risk in undertaking the development scheme, [fthe cost implications of the obligations

erode a developer’s return below an acceptable market level for the scheme being assessed, the extent of
those obligations will be deemed to make a development unviable as the developer would not proceed on

that basis.

3.3.2 The benchmark return, which is reflected in a developer’s profit allowance, should be at a level
reflective of the market at the time of the assessment being undertaken. It will include the risks attached
to the specific scheme. This will include both property-specific risk, Le. the direct development risks within
the scheme being considered, and also broader market risk issues, such as the strength of the economy and
occupational demand, the level of rents and capital values, the level of interest rates and availability of
finance. The level of prafit required will vary from scheme to scheme, given different risk profiles as well as
the stage in the economic cycle. For example, a small scheme constructed over a shorter timeframe may be
considered relatively less risky and therefore attract a lower profit margin, given the exit position is more
certain, than a large redevelopment spanning a number of years where the outturn is considerably more
uncertain. 4 development project will anly be considered economically viable if a market risk adjusted
return is met or exceeds a benchmark risk-adjusted market return.”

Importance in Planning

There are several planning obligations imposed on developers by Local Authorities which
include 5106, s106BC (affordable housing) and CIL among others. Viability assessments play a crucial
role in ensuring these obligations are not set at a level which would make the scheme unviable for the
developer, and are often the basis for negotiations with the Council. According to official Government
Planning Inspectorate Statistics!, 439 of 5106 Planning Obligations Appeals were allowed in
2015/2016 across the UK, with 44% of s106BC Appeals also allowed. These figures peaked in 2014/15
when 599 of 5106 Planning Obligations appeals were allowed throughout the UK. This demonstrates
that without these appeals, which are often supported by viability assessments, approximately half of
the proposed major development in the UK would potentially fail to take place. Due to the importance
of these assessments in taking development forward, there is huge serutiny placed on the inputs which
form the basis of the viability appraisals.

Industry Commentary

To reach our adopted input of 20% developer's returns on GDV, Strutt & Parker gathered
extensive market commentary on the topic. This includes (but is not limited to) the opinions of industry
experts, planners, house builders, planning law and official appeal cases. Some of these are included as
follows:

! Omline at https:/fwenw gov.uk/government/statistics/planmng -inspectorate-statistics

2

56
Page 67



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 ftem 1.1
APPENDIX 3

STRUTT

“‘PARKER

RICS Research

The RICS Financial Viability Appraisal in Flanning Decisions: Theory and Practice paper researched
viability and stated “there is no evidence .. that there is a generally accepted level of profit from
development”, This is in line with the NPPF Para 024, which discourages a set figure in order to reflect
current market conditions - "4 rigid approach to assumed profit levels should be avoided and comparable
schemes or data sources reflected wherever possible”, However, the report does go on to cite the Land at
the Manor, Shinfield case as evidence of an appeal which explores the relevant level of developer profit
to be used in viability appraisals. Recognition by the RICS makes the Shinfield case a key reference for
this topic.

Land at the Manor. Shinfield

The Inspector's decision relating to Land at the Manor, Shinfield, deemed that a “reasonable”
competitive return to the developer was a 20% margin on the GDV of both market and affordable
housing, This was based on evidence provided by developers - “the national house builder’s figures are
to be preferred and that is a figure of 20% of GDV™.

Barratt Homes

Barratt Homes outlined their policy for including profit in their appraisals during a presentation titled
“Assessing Viability — A House Builders Perspective” given by Philip Barnes. They stated that a 209} profit
on GDV is used in their appraisals mainly to protect in the event of costs overrunning, and to avoid
investors abandoning the company if there is a repeat of the pre-2007 irresponsible land buying. The
evidence they used to justify their 20% figure during the presentation is as follows:

u "My experience is that bankers will not provide funding with a profit of less than 20% of GDV™ -
Planning Inspectorate Review of Stockton EVA, here discussing the levels of developer returns in
Para 2.10.2.

u  In the Viability Study BNP Paribas - London Borough of Brent, it is noted how developer profits
ranged from 15% to 17% of GDV in 2007 before the financial crisis. BNP use this as their foundation
to explain how “banks currently require a scheme to show higher profits” to “reflect perceived and
actual risk” [Para 3.19). Consequently Barratt argue a return of 20% on GDV is their minimum profit
requirement as they do not believe banks will support the scheme otherwise.

Barratt also put emphasis on their presentation in how profit should be calculated as a % of GDV, not
costs. To justify this, they refer to the Harman Report which references Page 37 of Viability Testing Local
Flans - Advice for Flanning Practitioners, Here it states “developer margin expressed as percentage of GDV
should be default methodology, with alternative modelling techniques used as the exception”, although it
gives no indication of what level of profit should be applied.

57
Page 68



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Iterm 1.1
APPENDIX 3

STRUTT

“‘PARKER

Indications from Local Authorities

There is a common perception that developers and Local Planning Authorities are divided over the
assumptions which should be used in a viability appraisal. However, there are several examples of LPA's
both in London and the UK Regions citing 20% of GDV as a reasonable level of developer's profit, some
of which are as follows:

= On 20% April 2015 Ashford Borough Council held a developer's workshop as part of their Plan and
CIL Viability Review. which Strutt & Parker attended. In point 10 of their Viability Presentation, ABC
included a 20%) developer return on GDV in their Build Costs schedule in their example of a suitable
Residual Value Approach.

m  The London Borough of Barking references a 20% profit on GDV for developers on Page 16 of
their EVA Affordable Housing and CIL publication.

= The Examiner's Report (July 2012} for the Bristol City Council Draft CIL Charging Schedule noted
that “using an average figure of 20% [profit] across the city is not unreasonable or unrealistic”,

Savills

Savills Research published a report in 2014 titled CIL - Getting It Right, in which they outlined the
viability appraisal assumptions applied by the company’s surveyors on Page 6. 5avills apply a standard
set of assumptions in their residual appraisals, amongst which “the appraisal should allow for a
competitive return to the developer”. For this return, they use a “20% margin on GDV across all tenures,
in line with evidence that this is a minimum requirement across the cycle”. This is a good indication that
surveyors across the industry are using the same profit assumptions in their viability appraisals.

Conclusion

We realise that the level of required profit margins in viability assessments will continue to be
disputed throughout the industry. However, we are confident that the market research included in this
paper has given us a strong foundation to form our opinion of 20% profit on GDV as a suitable input for
developer’s returns. This figure is reflective of current attitudes towards risk and lending, is aligned
with current market expectations and is firmly supported by research from across the industry.

Prepared by:

Luke Mullaney (BSc)

South East Valuations and Development & Planning
Telephone: 01227473703

Email: luke.mullaney@struttandparker.com

58
Page 69



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019

APPENDIX C

59
Page 70

[tem 1.1

APPENDIX 3

STRUTT

“PARKER

DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1
APPENDIX 3

Strutt & Parker LLP

Development Appraisal

153-155 London Road Sittingbourne

Viability Appraisal for Swale Borough Council

SW/13/0568

Report Date: 21 June 2017

Prepared by Tim Mitford-Slade MLE MRICS

60
Page 71



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 ftem 1.1
APPENDIX 3

APPRAISAL MMAR STRUTT & PARKER LLP|

1534155 London Road Sittingbourne
Viability Appraisal for Swale Borough Council

Summary Appraisal for Phase 1

Currency in £
REVENLUE
Sales Valuation Units fit* Rate ft* Unit Price  Gross Sales
Flat 1 GF 2 bed 520 sq ft 1 520 250.00 130,000 130,000
Flat 2 GF 2 bed 541 sq ft 1 541 248.54 135,000 135,000
Flat 3 GF 1 bed 408 sq ft 1 408 257.35 105,000 105,000
Flat 4 GF 1 bed 408 sq ft 1 408 257.35 105,000 105,000
Flat § GF 2 bed 843 sq ft 1 43 241.08 155,000 155,000
Flat 8 FF 1 bed 458 sq ft 1 458 25218 115,000 115,000
Flat 7 FF 1 bed 450 sq ft 1 450 255.56 115,000 115,000
Flat 8 FF 2 bed 537 sq ft 1 537 248.74 132,500 132,500
Flat 9 FF 2 bed 530 sq ft 1 530 24528 130,000 130,000
Flat 10 FF 1 bed 422 sq ft 1 422 260.66 110,000 110,000
Flat 11 FF 1 bed 422 sq ft 1 422 260.66 110.000 110,000
Flat 12 FF 2 bed 686 sq ft 1 i3} 240.24 160,000 180,000
Flat 13 5F 1 bed 4568 sq ft 1 458 25218 115,000 115,000
Flat 14 55 1 bed 450 sq ft 1 450 255.56 115,000 115,000
Flat 15 5F 2 bed 537 sq ft 1 537 248.74 132,500 132,500
Flat 16 S5F 2 bed 541 sq ft 1 541 248.54 135,000 135,000
Flat 17 SF 1 bed 422 sq ft 1 422 260.66 110,000 110,000
Flat 18 S5F 1 bed 422 sq ft 1 422 260.66 110,000 110,000
Flat 19 5F 2 bed 843 sq ft 1 43 241.06 155,000 155,000
Flat 20 Pent 2 bed BO1 sq ft 1 E01 22472 180,000 180,000
Flat 21 GF 2 bed 488 sq ft 1 488 250.50 125,000 125,000
Flat 22 FF 2 bed 488 sq ft 1 488 250.50 125,000 125,000
Flat 23 FF 1 bed 480 sq ft 1 460 250.00 115,000 115,000
Flat 24 FF 1 bed 480 sq ft 1 460 250.00 115,000 115,000
Flat 25 5F 2 bed 508 sq ft 1 508 248.06 125,000 125,000
Flat 26 SF 1 bed 373 sq ft 1 T3 268.10 100,000 100,000
Rev Freehold Interest 1 1] 0.00 78,000 78,000
Totals 27 13,074 3,338,000
NET REALISATION 3,338,000
OUTLAY
ACQUNSITION COSTS
Fined Price 630,000
Stamp Duty 13,700
Agent Fes 1.00% 5,300
Lagal Fes 0.75% 4,725
Town Planning 28un  1,000.00 fun 28,000
Surey 5,000
887,725
Other Acquisition
Uplift of £25 psf over 10,000 sq ft 75,850
76,850
CONSTRUCTION COSTS
Construction ft* Rate fi* Cost
Flat 1 GF 2 bed 520 sq ft 520 = 130.00 pF 72,280
Flat 2 GF 2 bed 541 sq ft 541 2 130.00 pf 75,190
Flat 3 GF 1 bed 408 sq ft 408 = 130.00 pf 56,712
Flat 4 GF 1 bed 408 sq ft 408 f* 130.00 pf 56,712
Flat 5 GF 2 bed 843 sq ft 543 2 130.00 pf 80,377
Flat 8 FF 1 bed 458 sq ft 458 f* 130.00 pf 63,334
Flat 7 FF 1 bed 450 sq ft 450 f= 130.00 pf 62,560
Flat 8 FF 2 bed 537 sq ft 53T 130.00 pf 74,843
Flat 9 FF 2 bed 530 sq ft 530 f= 130.00 pf 73,670
Flat 10 FF 1 bed 422 sq ft 422 f# 130.00 pf 58,658

File: WSp-fs-0Tcanterbury 1"WFL\inew circlelDatal153- 155 London Rd 2017 Viability.wofx
ARGUS Developer Version: §.00.005 Date: 21/08/2017

61
Page 72



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1
APPENDIX 3

APPRAISAL MMAR STRUTT & PARKER LLP|

1534155 London Road Sittingbourne
Viability Appraisal for Swale Borough Council

Flat 11 FF 1 bed 422 sq ft 422 fi2 130.00 pf 58,658
Flat 12 FF 2 bed 666 sq ft 666 fi* 130.00 pf Q2,574
Flat 13 5F 1 bed 458 sq ft 455 fi 138.00 pf 63,334
Flat 14 55 1 bed 450 sq ft 450 fi2 130.00 pf 62,550
Flat 15 5F 2 bed 537 sq ft B3T 2 138.00 pf 74,843
Flat 16 5F 2 bed 541 sq ft 541 @ 138.00 pf 75,188
Flat 17 5F 1 bed 422 sq ft 422 fi2 130.00 pf 58,658
Flat 18 5F 1 bed 422 sq fi 422 fi* 130.00 pf 56,058
Flat 189 5F 2 bed 843 sq ft 543 2 130.00 pf 20,377
Flat 20 Pent 2 bed 801 sq ft BO1 f* 138.00 pf 111,338
Flat 21 GF 2 bed 488 sq fi 400 fi* 130.00 pf 0,381
Flat 22 FF 2 bed 480 sq ft 400 f2 130.00 pf 0,381
Flat 23 FF 1 bed 460 sq ft 480 fi 138.00 pf 63,840
Flat 24 FF 1 bed 460 sq ft 480 f* 130.00 pf 63,040
Flat 25 5F 2 bed 508 sq ft 508 fi* 138.00 pf 70,612
Flat 26 5F 1 bed 373 sq ft v 13000 pf 51.847
Communal Areas 1.850 fi 56.00 pf 108,200
Totals 16,024 ft* 1,926 486 1,926 486
Caontingsncy 5.00% 05 324
Dremolition 28,000
Section 106 38,191
180,515
Other Construction
NHBC Warranties 26 un 750.00 fun 18,500
Commuted Sum 3.808
Remediation Contingency 20,000
Site Security Costs 30,000
73,308
PROFESSIONAL FEES
Prof Fees 10.00% 192,640
192,548
MARKETING & LETTING
Marketing 1.00% 32,600
32,600
DISPOSAL FEES
Sales Agent Fee 1.25% 41,725
Sales Legal Fes 0.75% 25,035
86, 760
FINANCE
Dwebit Riate 6.250% Credit Rate 1.250% (Mominal}
Land 42,815
Construction 48,141
Cither T7.533
Total Fimnance Cost 89,488
TOTAL COSTS 3,316,383
PROFIT
21,8617
Performance Measures
Profit on Cost% 0.65%
Profit on GDVe% 0.65%
Profit on MDW% 0.65%
IRR B.63%
Profit Erosion (finance rate 8.250%) Dyrs 1 miths
File: WSp-fs-02\canterbury 1V2FLinew circlelDatal 153-155 London Rd 2017 Viability. wofx
ARGUS Developer Version: §.00.005 Date: 21/08/2017

62
Page 73



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3
Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Iterm 1.1
APPENDIX 3

TIMESCALE AND PHASING GRAPH REPOR STRUTT & PARKER LLP
153-155 London Road Sittingbourne

Viability Appraisal for Swale Borough Council

Project Timescale Summary

Project Start Date Jun 2017

Project End Date Aug 2018

Project Duration (Inc Exit Period) 15 months

Phase Phase 1

Start Daie Duration End Diate

Project Jun 2047 15 Maonih(s) Aug 2018 (==~ =~z
Purchase Jun 2017 0 Month{s) | ! ! , ! |
Pre-Caonstruction Jun 2047 0 KMonih{s) | s 5 q i n
Caonstruction Jun 2017 12 Monih(s) May 2048 " {

Past Development Jun 2018 0 Monih{s) : : : | :

Letting Jun201% 0 Monih{g) : ' : | :

Income Flow Jun 2018 0 Monih{s) . : . | -

Sale Mar2048  GMonthis)  Aug 2018 : : [es——]

Cash Aclidty Jun 2017 1smonhis)  Augzoiz A

1 4 T 10 13

File: WEp-fs-02\canterbuny TWI'\FL\new circle\Datal 153-155 London Rd 2017 Viability wofx
ARGUS Developer Version: §.00.005 Report Data: 210872017

63
Page 74



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — ¥ March 2019 Item 1.1

APPENDIX 4

SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

153 - 155 London Road, Sittingbourne

Viability Assessment

Avugust 2017

&) Swale

BOROUGH COUNCIL

CBRE

64
Page 75



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Commitiee — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1

APPENDIX 4

CONTENTS

1.0 Introduchion s s s sssa s seasns 1
2.0 ThE SO cieiiiieiieieee e e e e e e ee e e s e e s e s e e e e e e ne e e annnnnn e
3.0 Key Viability IssUes e

4.0 Development Appraisal Assumptions and Methodology............

—r

5.0 Development Appraisal Results.. ..o

o L =] I kY

—

6.0 Summary and Recommendation ... .

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 - Site Location Plan ... 19
Appendix 2 — Additional Land......ccciiiinesneeinee 20

Appendix 3 - Sales Comparablas ... 21

CBRE

65
Page 76



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [tern 1.1

. APPENDIX 4
1.0 Intreduction

1.1 CBRE has been appointed by Swale Borough Council (SBC) to provide viability advice in
relation to the proposed residential development at 133 — 133 London Road, Sithingbourne.
Clarity Properties Limited is the applicant and SBC is the Local Planning Authority. Strutt and
Parker LLF is providing wiability advice to Clarity Property Limited [the applicant] as part of
the process.

1.2  CBEE is providing speciahst viability advice to SBC relating to the proposed development ot
Lendon Road by interrogating the issues associated with the viability of the scheme and by
reviewing the development appraisals and supporting information submitted by the applicant.

1.3  The intention of CBRE"s review is to analyse and crifically appraise the appropriate level of
affordable housing provision that the scheme can withstand when toking into account what
is considered “viable’. CBRE will cntically evaluate the applicant’s assertion that the
development is suffering in terms of viability ond cannot support any further contribution to
affordable housing above the commuted sum already allowed for.

1.4  We understand the site currently benefits from a detailed planning consent {which incledes a
signed 5106 ogreement) ond was granted on 8% August 2013 (planning reference
SW/13/0568). The applicant submitted a modification to the 5106 ogreement which went to
Planning Committee on 2™ Febreary 2017, proposing the removal of on-site affordable
housing, with a viability review on cccupation of the 217 unit and a commuted sum payable
at a minimum of £31,000. The 5106 agreement allows for confributions totalling £34,191,
the applicant has offered an odditional £3,809 os a commuted sum towards off-site
afferdable housing. We understand the addiional £3,309 has not yet been agreed by SBC.

1.5 SBC's policy requires 10% offordable housing provision within Sittingbourne with the tenure E’
split being 0% rented and 10% shared ownership as set out in the recently aodopted Local -
Plan ‘Beanng Frurts 2031°. §
1.6 CBRE’s opprooch is based on undericking a ‘toclkit’ development appraisal based on E

industry best practice” and considering whether there is a need for SBC to consider a reduction
in its requirements (affordable housing and/or 5104 obligations).

1.7  CBEE has had regard to the following reports and informahen in underfaking this report
Comprsing:
B \Viability Report as prepared by Struft and Parker LLP on behalf of the applicant dated
June 2017; and
B Development Appraisals prepared by Struit and Parker LLF dated June 2017 appended
to the applicant’s Viability Report.

1.8 There hos been an exchange of emails with Strutt and Parker to clanfy some of the
assumphons and inputs to the model.

1.9  Vighility is at the heart of the delivery of development and this princple is embodied in the
2012 Natienal Planning Policy Fromework. This report therefore analyses and presents the
wvigbility issues aoffecfing this site leading to o recommendation as fo the appropnate
gffordable housing provision and level of 5106 contnbutions that the scheme can support.

Viability Testing Lecal Plans, Advice for Planning Practiioners — Local Housing Delivery Group
Chaired by Sir John Harman, June 2012

RICS Professional Guidance England — Financial Viakility in Planning 1st Edition [GH 24/2012)

CBRE

66
Page 77



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [term 1.1

APPENDIX 4
2.0 The Site

21 The site comprises a cleared brownfield site circa 1.6 km (1 mile) to the west of Sitingbourne
town centre, on the southern side of London Road (A2). Access to the A249 is within 1.4 km
(1 mile) to the west of the site which provides direct access to the M2 motorway ot Junchion 3.
Sittingbourne railway station is 1.4 km (0.9 mile) to the east of the site, providing services to
London Victonia and Lendon 5t Pancras Internohonal as well as lecal connechons.

2.2  The whole site extends to approximately 0.14 ha [(0.33 acres) and we understand from the
applicant’s design and occess stotement that the site s roughly rectangular in shape. It
formerly consisted of o derelict office building which had been subject to fire doamage and a
number of lock-up garages. These buldings have now been cleared. We understand from
the opplicant's viability assessment that the site hos previously been occupied by Berpul
Chemical Products operating as a feriliser factory. We have not underoken a site visit.

2.3  The site boundaries comprise London Road to the Morth; the access road (unnamed) to the
‘Wickes store to the east; the rear of the Wickes store to the south; and @ neighbouring
property to the west.

2.4  Aste plan is attached ot Appendx 1.

2.3  The onginal occess to the property which was token off London Road has been stopped up
and a new access has been created to the east of the site, off the newly adopted road to the
‘Wickes DIY Store. Wickes have provided some additional lond, including six car parking
spoces and the area of the site has therefore been marginally extended to the east since it
was purchased by the applicant. A plan showing the additional land shaded in purple is
provided ot Appendix 2. The applicant has not confirmed whether the 0.14 ha (0.35 acres)

£
gquoted above includes these two additional small parcels of land. E
246  The immediate surrounding uses are largely residential, as well as a number of commercial i
uses, including a Wickes DIY Store to the south of the site and various local amenities along E

London Rood, including a convenience store, petrol stetion, public house, take-oway and
hotel. Westlands Secondary School, Elvy Court Mursing home and Lyndhurst Mursery are also
lzcated in close proamity to the site.

SITE AND PLANNING HISTORY

2.7  As referred to in the introductory seclion of the report, the site benefits from a detailed
planning consent for the site by wirtue of application reference SW/08/1124 which comprised
‘demaclihon of existing buildings and redevelopment of the site to provide 12 no. two bedroom
apartments, 14 no. one bedroom apartments, amenity space, 26 no. cor parking spoces and
cycle store along with a new vehicular access.’

28  Applicaton SW/08/1124 waos occompanied by a 5104 Agreement which required the
following items:

B Education contribution of £589.93 per two bedroomed flat;
B Library coninbution of £227 per dwelling;

B Adult education contribution of £180 per dwelling;

B Open space contribution of £17,940; and

B 30% of the residential units to be offordable.

2.9  An opplication was then submitted and approved on 8% August 2013 to ‘replace an extant
permission SW/05/1124 in order to extend the ime Imit for implementation”. The notification
of the grant of permission again referred to the 5108 Agreement relating to this development.

CBRE

67
Page 78



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3
Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1

APPENDIX 4

210 A modification of the 5104 Agreement was submitted and was presented to plenning
committes on 2™ February 2017. The application proposed that the obligation to provide
on-site affordable housing was removed and a viability assessment would be submitted upon
the accupation of the 217 dwelling and a commuted sum payable ot a minimum of £31,000
for off-site affordable housing. We understand the chairman moved the officer
recommendahon to approve and this was seconded. The resalvhon however referred to a
deferring of the application to allow officers fo advise the developer to provide affordable
housing on site or to improve the offer of £31,000 ot the viability review.

211 We understand that 5106 contributions are otherwise ogreed ot £36,191. The applicant has
offered an addihional £3,809 contnbution to affordable housing via a commuted sum in liew
of on-site provision. The commuted sum [minimuem £31,000) to be ossessed at a viability
review after the occupation of the 21 unit is in addion to the £34,171 (plus potenhally an
addihonal £3,809 fotalling £40,000) agreed figure.

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS

212 The scheme put forward by the applicant proposes 26 no. apartments, comprising 12 no.
two bedroom apartments and 14 no. one bedroom apariments. These proposals are as per
the onginal planning consent (SW/08/1124) and superseded consent [SW/13/0388).
Howewver, the consent also relates to amended drawings which were received on 23th
February 2009 and additional information received on 17th and 23rd February 2009 which
show 13 no. two bedroom apartments and 13 no. one bedroom apartments. Therefore, the
apphcant has assumed the wording of the consent has now been superseded by the revised
drawings and has assumed this unit mix as a basis for their Viability Report.

Pages 3

213 We have set out the applicant’s accommedaotion schedule in the table overleaf (Table 1),
assumning a nil affordable houwsing contribution.

TESE

CBRE

68
Page 79



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3
Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 [tem 1.1
APPENDIX 4

Table 1: Accommedation Schedule and Floor Areas

FLAT NO/LOCATION TYPE FLOOR AREA (NIA)

Flat 1 Gmend Floor 2 bedwom 48 sgm (520 o &)

Flat 7 Gmund Floar 2 bedwom 50 5g m (541 o &)

Flat 3 Gxund Floor 1 bedmom 38 sqgm (408 = &)

Flot 4 Gmwnd Floor 1 bedmom 38 sq m (408 o &)

Flat 5 Gmund Floar 2 bedwom 05 m (643 o &}

Flat & First Floor 1 bedrmom 424 5 m (456 g f)

Flot 7 First Floor 1 bedmom 41.8 53 m (450 50 f)

Flat & First Floar 2 bedwom 5005 m (537 o &)

Flat 9 First Floor 2 bedioom 49 sgm (530 o &}

Fat 10 Fit Foar i 395 m (222 §)

Flot 11 First Floar 1 hedmam 39 sqm (427 o &)

Flat 12 Firet Floor 2 bedioom 62 5qm (666 2 &)

Flot 13 Szcond Flear 1 bedmom 42.4 5qm (456 5q f)

Flat 14 Second Floor i 418 5g.m (450 3 )

Flot 15 Second Floer 2 bedioom 5003g m (537 ag &}

Fat 16 Szcond Flear 2 bedwom 50 sg m (541 o &) -
Flat 17 Sacand Fleas 1 bedioom Wagm (4228 =
Flat 18 Second Floer 1 bedroum 39 sqm (427 = ) E
Flat 19 Second Flot 2 bedioom 60 sq m (643 = &) -
Flot 20 Fenthouse 2 bedwom 74 sqm (801 = &)

Flot 21 Geound Floar 2 bedioom 46 3gm (499 og &)

Flat 22 First Floar 2 bedwom 63gm (499 o &)

Flot 23 First Floar 1 bedmom 43 sgm (460 oq &)

Flot 24 Firzt Floor 1 bediam 43 3g m (460 aq &)

Flat 25 Second Floor 2 bediom 47 sqm (508 = &}

Flot 26 Szcond Floar 1 bedmom 35sgm (373 o &)

Todal 26 units 1,463 m {13,074 sq )

Source: Sirutt and Parker LLF, June 2017

CBRE

69
Page 80



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019

DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Item 1.1
APPENDIX 4

3.0 Key Viability Issues

31

3.2

i3

34

35

36

3.7

ia

The purpose of the instruchon is to examine the applicant’s concerns as presented to SBC in
relation to the viability of the development. The applicant has suggested that the development
is currently suffering in ferms of wiability and therefore cannot wiably support any on-site
afferdable houwsing provision in addition to 5106 contributions of £40,000.

CBRE has reviewed the applicant’s Viobility Report and approisal dated June 2017 as
prepared by Strutt and Parker LLP, as well as additonal supporing informaticn.

The applicant’s appraisal assumes a nil on-site affordable howsing confribution, but does
include a 5104 contribution of £40,000, part of which {drca £ 3,809) is allocated for an
affordable housing commuted sum payment. The applicant’s aoppraisal does not allow

payment of the minimum sum of £31,000 ot the viability review.
The applicant’s appraisal produces the following results:

Table 2: Applicant’s Appraisal Quitcomes
TOTAL DEVELOPMENT  FIXED LAND

RESIDUAL PROFT

{COST (TDC) VALUE

EXCLUDING LAND (INCLUSIVE OF

(11 SDIT/FEES)
0% afferdable £3,338,000 £2 666,303 E650,000 £21,617
heusing (£40,000
5104 contribufien)

Source: Sitrutt and Parker LLF, 2017

The applicant seggests that the development is suffering in viability terms as the outturn
residual profit level is significantly below current market expectations. As such the
development does not produce o reasonable profit level to incentivise the applicant to deliver
the development as proposed.  The appraisal does however include the historic site purchase
price which reflects the acquisition costs of the site as incurred by the applicant in 2007

The wiability issues to highlight within the applicant’s appraisal largely relate to the following:

B inclusion of the historic purchase price by the opplicant which is £530,000 (net of SDLT
and fees), equating to £4.43 million per gress ha (£1.8 million per gross acrel;

B the phasing of the historic purchase price as a month one cost in the cashflow;

B cost related to an addihonal overage payment of £76 830 given the development wall
be delvering over 10,000 sq #;

B the base build cosis;
B the sales values adopted by the applicant;

B the applicant's development appraisal includes minimal abnormal costs (arca £48,000)
given the previous use of the sife.

The outcome of the applicant’s appraisal and Viability Report is demonsirating that the
scheme is unviable given thaot it preduces o marginal developer’s proft.

The applicant’s Viability Report concludes by stating that the 5106 offered by the applicant is
in excess of what should be considered reasonable and it would be unrealistic to expect any
offer over and above the £40,000 in 51046 contributions, which comprises £3 809 towards
afferdable housing (yet to be agreed by SBC).

Piges 5

NEY YWBILITY I55LES

CBRE

70
Page 81



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3
Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Item 1.1

APPENDIX 4

3.9  The Viebility Report states, however, that the applicant is willing to proceed on the basis of o
nil on-site affordable housing provision and a £40,000 3106 contribution as well as
committing to the additional minimum sum of £31,000 (ot the viability review) as put to the
committee. They do state that the offer will be withdrown if the application is again deferred
or refused.

Piges &

NEY YWBILITY I55LES

CBRE

71
Page 82



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Commitiee — 7 March 2019 Iltem 1.1

APPENDIX 4

4.0 Development Appraisal Assumptions and Methodology

4.1 ‘We have been provided with information from the applicant in relation to key cost and value
assumptions, including build costs, sales values and sales rotes. This is in the form of o
Viability Report (June 2017) and development appraisals prepared by Strutt and Parker LLP.

4.2  'We hove also liaised with Strutt and Parker to clanfy some assumptions and inputs into the
model. Further information has been provided in an email dated 28th July 2017.

4.3 CBEE has undertaken a ‘toolkit’ residual based development appraisal (prepared in Argus
Developer) using a combinaton of information provided by the applicant (independently
verified by CBRE); CBRE assumptions where these differ from the applicant’s; industry
standard assumptions; and inputs which relate fo SBC"s assumptions (i.e. 5106 contnbutions).

4.4  This methodology has allowed us to test the assumphons, inputs and calculations and assess
the overall viability of the development. The Argus model is an industry standard development
appraisal tool that uvhlises a residual development appraisal cashflow model as its basis. The
outcome of the appraisal 1s a residual land value {or profit level) which can then be compared
to benchmark lond values in the area [or market appropnate profit levels) to establish the
averall viability of the scheme.

4.5  We have tested a boseline scenano assuming:
B no offordable housing on site

B 51046 contnbuhions of £40,000 (we have not included the £31,000 mimmum payment
at the viability review)

B the unit mix as set out by the applicant in Toble 1 Accommedation Schedule in the
previous sechon

B g fixed profit on GDV of 15.5%

B the outturn of the appraisal is a Residual Land Value (RLY], which can then be
compared to o benchmark land value based on the site and its locahon.

COST ASSUMPTIONS

Build Costs

[IEE LM B T AFPRAISAL ASS0A8 T OB MO A TH O LUOGY | P 7

4.6  The total base build cost adopted by the applicant is £1,926,4846 equating fo an overall rate
of £1,380 per sq m (E128.23 per zq fi}). This sum excludes external works, contingency
allowance and professional fees.

4.7  The base build cost has been estimated by the applicant vsing the current RICS Building Cost
Informahon Serace (BCIS) costs (using ‘mean’ figures) for flats (3-3 storey) rebased to Kent.
These costs have been taken as at 13th May 2017 and relate to the defoult pericd. BCIS
includes preliminaries, but does not include external works and contingencies. Mean build
costs for flats (3-5 storeys) equate to £1,499 per sgq m (£E139.25 per sq fi).

4.8 The applicant has then allowed for circulation space at 181 sq m (1,930 sq f) ond applied a
much lower build cost of £603 per sg m (£56 per sq fi). The applicant has not explained how
they have arrived at this assumption.

4.9  CBEE believes the use of BCIS to calculate the base build costs for the purpose of the viability
assessment to be reasonable. However, we have rebased the calculation to Swale rather than
Kent. We have utlised median costs for three to five storey apartments.

CBRE

72
Page 83



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 ltermn 1.1

APPENDIX 4

4.10 (CBEE has therefore adopted median BCIS costs dated 19th Auvgust 2017 (rebased to Swale)
over the default period which equate to £1,344 per sq m [(E123 per sq fi). We have applied
these costs to the net area of 1,213 sq m (13,074 sq fi).

4.11 We hove also allowed for arculation space at 181 sg m (1,930 sg ft) but applied our build
cost of £1,344 per sq m (€123 per sg fi).

412 CBRE’s total base build cost equates to a capital cost of circa £1.878 million, compared to
the applicant’s total bose build cost of £1_.93 million.

Other Development Costs

4.13 The applcant has adopted a development contingency of 3% which 1s applied to the bas=
build costs only. This equates to a total of £96 324, CBRE considers this fo be ot the top end
of the range expected which 15 generally antiopated to be between 3% and 3%. However
given the scheme comprises a brownheld site with o number of abnormal costs and nisks
attaching, CBRE has alse adopted a development contingency of 5% and appled this to
standard buwild costs which equates to £93,900.

4.14 The applicont has adopted professional fees ot 10% (£192,5649) and has applied these to all
base build costs only. In CBRE's opinicn this is considered o be in the range expected, which
is generally anficipated between 8% and 10%. Once ogain given the scheme comprises a
brownfield site with @ number of risks attaching, CERE has adopted the 10% allowance and
has applied these to base build costs and externals which equates to £197,190.

415 The applicant has not included any allowence to cover axternal works (ie. internal estate
reads, cor parking, landscaping etc). CBRE has therefore allowed 3% of base build costs
given the development is on apariment led scheme and the site is relafively small and
therefore estate roods and landscaping should be kept to a minimuem. This cost equates to
£87,173.

4.16 The applicant has also allowed for the following costs wathin their development appraisal:
B Town planning - £1,000 per vnit bosed on 28 vnits = £28,000;
B Survey = £3,000;
B MHBC warrantes - £730 per units based on 246 vnits = £19,500

[IEE LM B T AFPRAISAL ASS0A8 T OB MO A TH O LUOGY | P &

B Site secunty costs = £30,000
B Total = £62,500

4.17 The applicant has not provided any supporting informaton to jushfy these costs. They have
stated that secunty costs relate to costs incurred since they purchased the property in 2007.
Given our expenence of undertaking development appraisals elsewhere they are considered
reascnable and we have adopted these in our appraisal. However, we have adopted a slightly
lower town planning fee based on 24 units rather than 28. CBRE's total cost therefore equates
to £80,500.

4.18 The applicant has not included any costs assoaated with the access to the site which is token
from the new access road for Wickes. They also haven't included any costs associated wath
the addiional two parcels of land that they have obtained since their inifial acguisiion. We
consider that these would be reasonable costs fo include [subject fo verification), but have not
included any costs given the applicant has not included costs associoted with these items and
they would be dificult for CBRE to estimate.

CBRE

73
Page 84



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2018 Item 1.1

SWALE BORDUGH COUNCL APPENDIX 4

Abnormal and Infrastructure Costs

4.19 The applicant has included other construction costs which have been opplied os edditicnal
costs over and above the standard BCIS construction costs outlined above. These relate to
site specific abnormal costs and comprise demcliion at £28,000 and remediation
confingency at £20,000. We assume the remediation contingency was in the absence of a
ground investigotion given at the fime of the submission of the applicent’s Viability Report.
Ziven the previous use of the site we consider these costs to be reasonable. However, given
the building has now been demolished and site surveys can now be undertaken the applicant
should hove a more accurate idea of the costs of demohiion (as it has now been completed)
and remediation and these costs could be reviewed in the light of up to date information.

5106 Costs

4.20 The applicant’s appraisal includes 5106 costs equating to £40,000, of which £346,191 is
included to cover the 5106 contnbutions allowed for in the 5106 Agreement. The apphcant
has incleded an additional £3,809 as a commuted sum in lieu of on-site provision. CBRE
has adopted these costs within our development appraisal.

421 In addition, the apphicant has confirmed that they are willing to agree to an odditicnal
minimum payment of £37,000 following a viability review on occcupaton of the 21st unit.
This cost is not allowed for in the current opproisal. We assume that this £31,000 is o
guaranteed payment, but may be increased, should the wigbility of the scheme improve. We
comment in the following sechon on the basis of the viability review.

Profit, Marketing and Other Assumptions

422 The applicant has adopted fees and marketing costs of 3% of market GDV, consisting of 1%
marketing costs; 1.23% sales agency fees and 0.75% saoles legal fees, which equates to
£99 360, CBRE haos adopted the applicant’s marketing fees despite this being on the low
side, however we hove adopted soles agent fees of 1% and sales legal fees of 0.5% given
our experience of undertoking wviability assessments elsewhere. This equates to a cost of
£84 314,

4.23 The applicant has adopted the approach of to residualising their profit in fovour of adopting
a fixed land value for the site. The applicant’s residual profit equates to £21,617 (0.63% on
gross development value (GDV)]). CBRE has approached it based on adophng a fixed proht
level and residualising the land value. We have therefore calculated proht at 18.5% of market
housing GDV, which equates to o capital cost of £628,136. This is below current market
expectations and our experience of underfaking viability assessments elsewhere, which are
closer to 20% profit on market GOV, parficularly on brownfield sites, given the additional
nsks to the developer. However, the applicant has stated within their Viability Report that profit
levels should be between 17.3% and 20% on market GOV and therefore we have deaded to
adopt a profit level of arca 18.3% which represents an average figure given the range quoted

[IEE LM B T AFPRAISAL ASS0A8 T OB MO A TH O LUOGY | P 7

by the applicant and we believe 15 enfirely reasonable given our experience elsewhere which
suggests a higher profit margin could be applicable.

4.24  |Interest has been calculated by the applicant ot o debit rate of 5.25% per annum with a credit
rate of 1.25% also allowed. This has been applied to all build costs and land poyments. We
have used the rote of 6.23%, however we have not allowed for a credit rate within the
gppraisal. The applicant’s overall cost of interest equates to £99,48%, compared o CBRE's
assessment of £100,44%. This is due to CBRE phasing the sales values following prachcal
completon of the apartments.

CBRE

74
Page 85



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2018 ltem 1.1

APPENDIX 4

Fixed Land Value

4253 The applicant has incleded o fixed land value of £530,000, plus acquisition costs, which they
state represents the 2007 purchase pnce, although no details have been prowided to support
this (i.e. Land Registry confirmation). They state that the inclusion of this figure would represent
a reasonable return to the landowner (who is the applicant as the site has already been
purchasad) in line with the NPPF.

4.26 The applicant has also allowed for an acquisiion cost of £76,850 which is to reflect an
overage clouse based on an uplift of £235 per sg ft over 10,000 sq ft of development. However
the applicant has provided an extract from the report on fitle overage which shows a figure
of £129,639 due to interest payments. For the purposes of CBRE's appraizal, we have
ignored this payment as we are assessing the residual land value and not taking account of
actual purchase costs.

427 The output of CBRE's appraisal is an ELY as opposed fo a residual proht. We then compare
the outturn ELV fo a benchmark land value based on the site and its locotion. This
commentary is provided in the following sechion.

4 28 SDLT hos been odopted by the applicant at £13,700 however given the different FLV
produced under CBRE’s baseline appraisal the SDLT payment is nil.

4.29 Agency and legal fees have been included at 1.75%, which we consider fo be reasonable.

Phasing and Prograomme
4.30 The applicont has assumed the following:

B Construction period — 12 months
B Sgles penied — & months [commenang nine months after the start of construchon)

4.31 We consider the applicant’s timescales to be reasonable, however we have gssumed sales of
the apartments will begin on prachical completion of the apartments.

SALES VALUES ASSUMPTIONS

Residential Values

[IEE LM B T AFPRAISAL ASS0A8 T OB MO A TH O LUOGY | Frges 10

4.32 The applicant has presented to CBRE is anhapated average sales values of £2,684 per sq
m (£249 per sq fi). Thus equates to an averoge copital valve of between £100,000 and
£113,000 for the one bedroom units and £123,000 and £1353,000 for the two bedroom
units and £180 000 for a two bedroom penthouse apartment.

4.33 CBRE has undertaken a review of local market comparable evidence in Sittingbourne and the
surrounding area, which we set out in Appendix 3. We comment that there is very liftle
evidence available in the immediate area of the site, so we have considered new build
developments as well as secoendary evidence within five miles of the site.

4.34 The evidence presented in Appendix 3 indicates that the average new build price range for
one and two bedroom apartments is £216,997. We were unable to oscertain the sizes of
these properties so we cannot analyse these on o price per sq m/sq ft basis. However on a
capital value basis these are significantly higher than those being adopted by the applicant.

435 We would however comment that these apartments are lecated in Bainham which is o
supernor location and are being developed out by Redrow as part of a larger scheme which
is to a high specthcoton. One opartment 15 being marketed in Faversham, which is a

CBRE

75
Page 86



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Item 1.1

APPENDIX 4

conversion of an existing property and is situated obove a commerdial unit, so again not
directly comparable. These properhies assume a “gross asking price” and do not take into
account any incentives that may be offered as part of @ sale which could comprise up to a
3% deduction.

4.36 The secondary evidence presented in Appendix 3 demonsirates an average asking price for
one bedroom opartments of £2,788 per sq m (£239 per sg H), which based on an averoge
size of 45 sg m (483 sq f) equaotes to an average capital value of £123,097.

437 The averoge asking price for two bedroom apartments equates to £2,746 per sg m (E257
per sq ft}, which based on an aoverage size of 43 sq m (678 sg f) equates to an averoge
capital value of £174,244.

4 38 The overall average asking priceffor one and two bedroom apariments) equates to £2,7466
per sq m (£2537 per sq fi).

4.39 From the comporable evidence listed above, CBRE nofes that the evidence is gathered from
arca five miles from the subject site and some of the sites are located in supenor locations to
that of the subject property; they vary in unit size to those provided on site; and/or have been
finished to o high specfication {i.e. Redrow at Rainham). We also note that a significant
amount of the comparable evidence gathered 15 secondary occommodation which is
significantly larger than the proposed apaortments at the subject site.

4.40 As a result we have increased the applicant’s values of the proposed opartments by £63 per
sq m (5 per sq ft), equating to on average value of £2,749 per sq m (£233 per sq fi). We
would expect new build apartments to generate a premium over secondary accommodation,
however we do acknowledge thaot the secondary comparable accommodation is generally
larger than the proposed apartments. We have therefore odopted a rate per sq m /per sq ft
in line with the secondary comparable accommodation gathered.

4.41 The applicant has alse assumed ground rents of £130 per unit per annum for the apartments
and capitalised this income ot a rate of 3%. Bosed on the advice from cur in-house
residential valuation team, the yield applied could be slightly keener. The location of the
development 1s not entirely the determiming factor, it 1s the secunty of income and terms of
the ground lease. We have evidence of schemes in Derby achieving a yield in line wath some
apartments developments in London (circa 3%).

[IEE LM B T AFPRAISAL ASS0A8 T OB MO A TH O LUOGY | P 11

4.42 'We have also undericken research of ground rents which have recently been sold or are
currently being marketed and have found one comparable of o block of 12 flats In
Faversham:

B Ground rent invesiment on development of 12 flats built in 2012
B | andlord manages/insures and recovers from leaseholders

B 12 flats paying total annual ground rent of £3,000 per annum
B Ground rents double every 33 years

B | eoses $99 years from 2013

B Asking price £60,000

B Yield of 3%

CBRE

76
Page 87



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Item 1.1

APPENDIX 4

4.43 We have therefore adopted a rental level of £200 per unit per annum for the one bedroom
apartments and £230 per unit per annum for the two bedroom apartments and have
capitalised at a yield of 3%. We assume that the ground rent structure is on the basis of
minirmum term of 130 year with 10 yearly rent reviews based on BPl uplifis. This structure is
the current inshtubonal standard for investiment purchases and ensures the properhes remain
in line wath mortgoge company standards.

CHEVELY P M T AFPRAISAL ASSUAFT (M5 (MO 6 TH (00 LOGY | Frges 12

CBRE

77
Page 88



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Repaort to Planning Commitiee — 7 March 2019 Iltem 1.1

APPENDIX 4
5.0 Development Appraisal Results

31 ‘We have provided in the fable below a summary of the ELV produced under CBRE’s appraisal
based on the assumptions ocutlined above and provide a commentary which compares the
outcome of CBRE's appraisal to benchmark lond valves considering the site and location.

Table 2
Output of CERE's Appraisal

(BRE Approal (no on-zite  £3,305.439 £2 585 255 £628,156 £148.431
offorduble howsing but (18.5% on (5474089 per
Ak S106) =) gros ao)

CBRE, 2017

Benchmark Land Value

3.2  To ossess whether CBRE considers the baseline scenario fo be “viable” we need fo assess the
reasonableness of the ELV produced when compared to a benchmark land value toking into
account the site and location. We do not consider the applicant’s use of the histeric purchass

price as relevant for the purposes of the viability assessment, given that the site was purchased
in 2007.

Frges 13

3.3  The RICS Financal Viability in Planning Guidance Note (2012) states ot page 19, paragraph
3.6 that ‘zsite purchase price moy or may not be material in arriving of a Site Value for the

assessment of financial viahkility. In some circumstances, the use of actuval purchase price
should be freated os o special cass. The following points should be considered:

B A vigbility appraisal is taken of o point in fime, foking account of costs and voluss af that
dote. A zite may be purchased some time before o viobility aszeszment fokes ploce and
circumstances might changs. Thiz is part of the developer’s risk. Land valuss can go up or

[EVELOFAEM T MFFRASL RESILTS

down hetwsan the dots of purchoze and o viohilify nzsessment foking plocs; in a rising
markst developsrs bensfit, in o falling morkst they may lose out.

B A developer may make unreasonobls foveropfimistic azzumptions regarding the type and
density of development or the sxtent of planning obligations, which meanz that it has
overpaid for the site.

B Whers plots have been acquired fo form the site of the proposed development, without the
benefit of @ compulsory purchasze order, thiz should be reflected sithsr in the level of Site
Value incorporated in the oppraizal or in the development refurn. [n zome insfances, site
assembly may result in synergisfic value orising.

B Ths Site Value should alwoys be reviewed of the dofe of assessment and compaored with
the purchosze price and associoted holding costs ond the specific circumstoncas in each
caze.

It iz for the proctitioner to conzider the relevance or otherwize of the octual purchass prics,
and whether any weight should be ottached to if, having regard to the date of azsezzment and
the Site Value definition set out in this guidonce.”

3.4 Given the site was purchased ten years ogo without the benefit of planning consent and
therefore we connot be sure what assumphions were mode at the point of acguisiion as to
the type of development or extent of planning obligatons we feel that the FLY produced by

CBRE

78
Page 89



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3
Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2018 ltem 1.1

APPENDIX 4

CBRE's appraisal should be compared with the sale of comparable sites in the open market
at the current ime.

3.3  CBEE has therefore undertaken a review of recent sales of development sites in Sithngbouwrne
and the surrounding areas. There is a general lack of recent comparable evidence, however
those sites mest comparable are as follows:

B Development Site, Car park, Albany Road, Sittingbourne — sale of o 0.24 acre site in
March 2013 for £130,000 (E540k per acre). The vendor wos HM Courts and Tribunals
Service and the buyer wos Bailey Investments_ The site, although in a comparable location
and of a similar size was sold as an investment as the site is currently used as a car park;

B  Headcorn Hall - Biddenden Rd, Headcorn, TH27 21D - An undisclosed buyer (residential
developer] purchased the freehold interest in 1.93 ha (4.83 acres) of land from joint
administrators to Brackenall Properhies td for £1,740,000 (£360,248 per gross acre)] for
residenhal development in March 20135, The site is arca 17 miles fram the subject site 1In
a better locohon and had planning consent for 10 luxury dwelings subject to a 5106
agreement. The site was also a distressed sale;

B Egst Haoll Lane, Sithngbourne, MET10 3T) — sale of o 3.23 ocre site in December 20135 for
£575,000 [£178k per ocre). The site compnses broadly level grassland. The site was sold
as an investment to an undisclosed buyer. There is a lapsed consent which was granted
under reserved matters from 12 July 2007. This comprses a supermarket (10,215 sg f)
and % further refail units {including a convenience store and veterinary surgery) ranging
in size from 1,000 sq f to 2,500 sq fi. At first and second floor levels there 11 two bed
and one bed flats. There is also permission for a 4,000 sg #t public house. The location
is comparable but the exsting use is grassland whereas the subject site is a brownfield

Pages 18

site. The type of development also includes commercial uses as well as residential; and

B |ond ot Halfway Road, Sheerness, ME12, 3AR — the 0.92 acre site was sold in February
2010 for £485,000 (E527k per acre). The site was bought by Mew Homes Lid. The site
is in a comparable location

[EVELOFAEM T MFFRASL RESILTS

3.6  The output of CBRE's development appraisal was a residual land value of crca £148,431
[equatng to £1,047 923 per hao/E424 089 per gross acre). We consider the most
comparable sites cbove to be the development site ot Albany Rood in Sithngbourne;
Headcorn Hall; and land at Halfway Road.

3.7 The development site ot Albony Rood was sold as a ‘development site’ ond therefore
potentially has hope value built into the purchase price fo secure chonge of use to residenhal
use. The site ot Headcorn Hall was sold with plonning consent for 10 luxury houses subject
to a 5104 Agreement, but was a distressed sale. We were unable to venfy ot the ime of the
report whether the site at Halfway Road was sold with planning consent.

3.8 Based on the above and given the subject site olready has planning consent for residential
development (albeit assuming o policy compliont level of affordable housing) we believe the
benchmark land value to be in the region of £185,500 (£1,309,630 per ha/E330k per gross
acre).

3.9  We therefore consider the proposed development to be marginally unwviable grven it produces
an FLV circa £37,069 below what we consider to be a benchmark land value.

CBRE

79
Page 90



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1
APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2015 ltem 1.1

APPENDIX 4

Summary

3.10 We therefore consider the applicant’s offer which consists of the following items to be
reasonable:

B nil on-site affordeble housing prowvision;

B o £40,000 5106 contnbuhon (incleding arce £3,809 as a commuted sum for affordable
housing); and

B g vigbility review on the occupation of the 21% unit wath a minimum additional payment

of £31,000 in liev on on-site affordable howsing.

3.11 A formal viability review should be underfaken prior to the occupation of the 21* unit and
this requirement should be o term of the 5.104 Agreement. We would expect the viability to
be reviewed in full based on an agreed baseline appraizal and should the viability of the
scheme improve beyond the £31,000 offer then this would be reflected in the payment ot
that point in fime.

P 15

[EVELOFAEM T MFFRASL RESILTS

CBRE

80
Page 91



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3
Report to Planning Commitiee — 7 March 2019 ltem 1.1

) APPENDIX 4
6.0 Summary and Recommendation

&1 The purpose of this report has been to review the applicant’s development appraisal and
subsequently to provide development appraisal and viability advice to SBC os part of the
planning application process.

6.2  The applicant has presented a Viability Report and an accempanying development appraisal
dated June 2017 which tests the wiability of an apaortment development with nil on-site
affordable housing prowision and 5106 contmbutions of £40000 (incduding o £3,809

commuted sum for afferdable housing).

6.3  The applicant concludes that they are willing to progress on this basis despite the appraisal
producing a developer’s profit of only £21,4617 [or 0.63% profit on GOV), but allowing for
the historic purchase price dating back to 2007 within the appraisal.

&.4  CBEE has modelled a “toolkit’ development appraizal fo establish whether there are wiability
issues associated with the scheme and whether there 15 scope for negohahon on the level of
afferdable housing to allow scheme progression.

6.3 CBRE's “toolkit’ appraisal (ossuming mil affordable housing and $106 contributions of
£40,000), includes a fixed developer's proft wathin the appraisal and residualises the land
value. We then compare the ELV to a benchmark land value given the site and its lecaton.

66 We do not believe that the historic purchase price or the overage payment paid by the
applicant should be included within the appraisal the land was acquired 10 years ago and
we are not aware of the assumphions that informed the acquisition price.

&7  CBEE's ELV equates to £148,431 (£1,047,923 per ha/E424 089 per gross acre). We have
included a fixed profit of £628,1546 (18.5% on GDV). The applicant’s historic purchase pnce
equated to £630k [£1.8 milhon per acre).

Pages 18

6.8  CBRE's ELV con then be compared to a benchmark lond value toking into account the site
and its location. CBRE has reviewed the local market and believes the benchmark land value
to be £185,500 (£530k per gross acre).

SN Y A 0 RECAA B4 DAT M

6.9  As a result CBRE's baseline policy compliont appraisal is currently crea £37 069 below what
we consider to be the benchmark lond valuwe.

RECOMMENDATION

610  In light of the review underfaken and assumptions applied, CBEE’s analysis shows that the
scheme cannot support the delivery of on-site offordable housing in addifion to the £40,000
5106 contnbution allowed for. Therefore we consider the applicont’s offer of £40,000 of
5106 contnbutions and a wiability review following the occupation of the 21% unit with a
minimum additional payment of £31,000 to be reascnable.

&.11 Howewver as noted in paragraph 3.11 above we would suggest that there is a formal viability
review underfaken at the point of cccupation of the 217 unit utilising an agreed baseline
appraisal. We believe this should be incorporated in the 5.104. This should test whether a
payment above the £31,000 offer can be achieved at that point in fime_

CBRE

81
Page 92



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3
Report to Planning Commitiee — 7 March 2019 ltem 1.1
APPENDIX 4
Frepared By: Donna Pickersgill
X Assooate [Chrector, Mahonal FRegenerohen and
Vo i Development Advisory
A fbhjtfzé For and on behalf of CBRE Ltd
Edited and finalised by: Caroline Mitchell-Sanders
Director — Maohonal Regeneration and Development
Advisory
For and on behalf of CBRE Lid
Date of lsswe: 31st August 2017 | Status: FIMAL
z
]
3
=
z
E
H
=
|

CBRE

82
Page 93



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3
Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Item 1.1

APPENDIX 4

APPENDICES

CBRE

83
Page 94



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 ltem 1.1
APPENDIX 4

Appendix 1 - Site Location Plan

Pages 19

SN Y A 0 RECAA B4 DAT M

CBRE

84
Page 95



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Item 1.1
APPENDIX 4

SW/08/1124

Location Plan Scale 11250

85
Page 96



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Item 1.1

APPENDIX 4
Appendix 2 - Additional Land

P 01

SN Y A 0 RECAA B4 DAT M

CBRE

86
Page 97



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

I@e?pun to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019

Jl .
Land REgIStR_.] Title number K944405
y | DFﬁCia! EOpl_.] of %zaﬂiggww map reference TQ896INW
i tlt]E plan Administrative area Kent : Swale

This officlal copy s Incomplete without the preceding notes page.

87
Page 98



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Flanning Commitiee — 7 March 2019 Item 1.1
APPENDIX 4

Appendix 3 - Sales Comparables

P 21

SN Y A 0 RECAA B4 DAT M

CBRE

88
Page 99



Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Def Item No. 1

Planning Committee Report — 4 April 2019

00T abed

APPENDIX 1

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 Item 1.1 APPENDIX 4
153 - 155 Lendon Road, Sittingbourne, Kent, MELD 1PE (Marketing Activity - August 2018) - within 5 miles
New Build
Developer Scheme/Address Plot Type (Gross Asking Price  |Sq ft £ per sq ft
Redrow Mierscourt Road,Rainham Kent, MES 8PH Type A Whitbread Court {84-89) 1 bed apartrment £189,599 of #oivyol
Type D Whitbread Court [91,93,95) 2 bed apartment £234,995 0] #DIv/o!
Type B Whitbread Court {90, 92, 94, 97,99 & 101) 2 bed apartment £234,995 0] #Div/al
Type C Whitbread Court (96,98, 100) 2 bed apartment £234,995 0| #Div/al
£894,984.00| 0| #DIv/0!
Unknown Thomas Road, Faversham 1 bed apartment £190, 000 506 £375.49
£150,000.00 506| £375.49
Second Hand - Sittingbourne Only
Unkneown Wellum Drive, Sittingbourne, Kent 2 bed apartment £180,000 5586| £302.01
Martin Court, Kemsley, Sittingbourne, Kent 2 bed apartment £265,000| 732| £362.02
Onyx Drive, Sittingbourne, Kent 2 bed duplex E£165, 000 710| £232.39
Martin Court, Kemsley, Sittingbourne, Kent 2 bed apartment £ 160,000 0] #Div/al
Limehouse Court, Sittingbourne, Kent, MELD 2 bed apartment £155,000| 0 #Dnvyol
East Hall Walk, Sittingbourne, Kent. MELD 3GA 2 bed apartment E155, 000 B78| £328.61
Fairview Road, Sittingbourne, Kent 2 bed apartment £155,000| 441 E351.47
Reams Way, Kemsley, Sittingbourne, Kent 2 bed apartment £150, 000 0] #Div/al
Abelyn Avenue, Sittingbourne 2 bed apartment £140, 000 63| E£208.02
Shortlands Road, Sittingbourne, Kent 1 bed apartment £130,000| 538 £241.64
Ornyx Drive, Sittingbourne 1 bed apartrment £110,000 331 £332.33
Wictoria Mews East Street, Sittingbourne, MELD 2 bed apartment £ 180,000 872 £206.42
Sanderling Way, lwade, Sittingbourne, ME3 2 bed apartment £170,000| 611] E£278.23
2 bedroom Flat in Diamond Close, Sittingbourne, ME10 2 bed apartment E£165, 000 721 E228.85
2 bedroom Flat in Carnelian House, Diamond Close, Sittingbourne, MELD 2 bed apartment £165,000| 743| E£222.07
1 bedroom Flat in Trinity Court Church Street, Sittingbourne, ME10D 1 bed apartrment £135,000 581| £232.36
Sq ft Price Price per sq ft Price per sq ft - 5%
1 bed apartments 1450.00 E£375,000| £258.62 £246 383
2 bed apartments &777.00| £1,740,000] £256.75 £244 678
Total 8227.00] £2,115,000| £257.08 £244 633

89




Planning Committee Report — 30 May 2019 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 3

Report to Planning Committee — 7 March 2019 ltem 1.1
APPENDIX 4

END OF DOCUMENT

P 72

SN T A ) RECOA BDATOH

CBRE

90
Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 6

Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 M 1.1

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 30 May 2019 PART 1
Report of the Head of Planning
PART 1

Any other reports to be considered in the public session

1.1 REFERENCE NO - TPO No.6 of 2018

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

This report seeks the permission of the Planning Committee to Confirm without modification
Tree Preservation Order No. 6 of 2018 for which objections have been received

ADDRESS Blean Wood, Dunkirk, Kent

RECOMMENDATION To Confirm without modification Tree Preservation Order No. 6 of 2018

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
One objection from local landowner

TPO Served (Date): TPO Expiry Date

30t November 2018 30t May 2019

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.01  Tree Preservation Order (TPO) No. 6 of 2018 was made on the following grounds:

(1) Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017: Policy DM 29 states
that the Borough Council will seek to ensure the protection of important trees in
the local landscape. The wood contributes significantly to the sylvan amenity of
the area and is currently only partly protected by TPO 4 of 1974. Therefore, in
order to secure the entire woodlands long-term retention, it is considered
expedient to revoke the current TPO and to replace it with a new order that
encompasses the entire wood.

A copy of TPO No. 6 of 2018 is attached as an appendix to this report.

1.02 Blean Wood is designated as ancient woodland consisting mainly of mixed deciduous
species of standards over traditional coppice, and as such is considered to be an
important sylvan asset to the local area.

2.0 OBJECTIONS

2.01  Two objections to the TPO were received, one from Mount Ephraim Estate and the
other from the owner of Little Miss Acres Farm, Butlers Hill, Dargate. Following
consultation with the Council’s Tree Consultant, Mount Ephraim Estate have since
revoked their objection, leaving only the one objection from the owner of Little Miss
Acres Farm, the full text of which is replicated below.

A summary of the grounds of the objection are as follows:

o It is privately owned land and imposing such an order significantly devalues
the land;

91
Page 103



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 1.1

3.0

3.01

3.02

4.0

4.01

o It is unfair that such an order can be placed on the land without consultation
with the land owners; and

o The order will prohibit management of the wood and having to apply every
time increases workload and costs.

APPRAISAL
In response to the objections raised in this case, | would say;

The objection is not supported by any evidence to suggest its imposition could or will
devalue the objector’s land.

Consultation with landowners prior to the serving of a TPO is rarely undertaken, as to
do so, could lead to pre-emptive felling before the TPO served. However, the TPO
legislation does allow the affected landowners to object or make comment on the
order with 28 days of its serving. This provides all affected parties the opportunity to
voice their concerns and objections before the TPO is confirmed.

Under the current TPO legislation, the serving of an order is not to prevent or impede
the landowner from carrying out appropriate land management that is in the interests
of sound arboricultural management. Applications to coppice and manage woodland
are actively supported by the Council and when appropriate the Council can provide
free pre-application advice. All tree applications submitted to the Council are
currently free of charge, so there are no added financial costs to the applicant.

Having considered the objections raised above, on balance, they are not considered
to be robust enough to question the validity of the TPO.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Planning Committee confirm, without modification, Tree Preservation Order
No.6 of 2018

FULL TEXT OF LETTER OF OBJECTION
Dear Whom It May Concern.

| write with reference to Tree Preservation Order No. 6 of Blean Wood, north of
Dawes Road. | wish to object to the proposed preservation order on the grounds that
this is privately owned land and imposing such an order significantly devalues this
land. Having only purchased an area of this woodland two years ago with no
preservation order on it, | believe it unfair that such an order can be placed without
consultation with the land owners. If it were council owned land then | would not have
a problem. Such an imposition should be accompanied with compensation to the land
owners.

| own some of the adjoining agricultural land and the trees at the boundary require
maintaining to prevent too much overhang causing loss of production from the land
but also to be able to maintain the drainage ditches and boundary fencing.

The woodland itself is overgrown and needs managing effectively for its long term
health. To have to apply to do this increases workload and costs involved. Why is
there a preservation order being placed on every species of tree in this mixed wood?

92
Page 104



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 1.1

Coppicing, topping and lopping should be permitted to protect its health and allow
new growth and replanting to take place.

| hope my comments are taken into consideration before implementing such an unfair
enforcement order.

93
Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.1

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 30 May 2019 PART 2
Report of the Head of Planning
PART 2

Applications for which PERMISSION is recommended

2.1 REFERENCE NO - 18/506323/FULL

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Retrospective application for the stationing of 37 static caravans including associated
hardstanding and landscaping.

ADDRESS Meadow View Park Irwin Road Minster-on-sea Sheerness Kent ME12 2DB

RECOMMENDATION Grant subject to conditions.

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

amenity concerns.

Application would regularize use of the site for static caravans without giving rise to any serious

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Parish Council objection.

WARD Minster Cliffs PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL APPLICANT Mr Henry Boswell
Minster-On-Sea AGENT Michael Parkes
Surveyors
DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
06/03/19 24/01/19

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining
sites):

App No Proposal Decision | Date
SW/12/0679 Variation of conditions (2) and (6(2)) of Not
planning permission SW/05/0715 to remove proceeded

touring caravan provision, and reduce the total | with.
number of caravans permitted from 43 to 37.

This application was identical to the current application. It was not determined by the Council
and not pursued by the applicant until earlier this year when they sought to regularise the
number of static caravans to facilitate sale of the land. The drawings were significantly
incorrect, however, such that a new application (the current application) was required and as
such this application has been superseded.

SW/06/0764 20 semi-detached holiday chalets with Withdrawn | 24.3.09
associated parking.

Application was withdrawn.

SW/05/0715 Change of use of land to static holiday caravan | Certificate | 03.04.92
site. issued

97
Page 107



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.1

Members determined that use of the land as a static caravan park, with restricted occupancy,
was preferable to unrestricted use as a touring and camping site.

SW/92/0136 Lawful Development Certificate for unrestricted | Granted 15.12.92
touring caravan and camping site.

Evidence was provided to demonstrate that touring caravans had been occupying the site in
breach of the original occupancy conditions (set by SW/82/0850), thereby allowing touring
caravans to use the site 12 months of the year. On the basis of this evidence a Certificate was
issued allowing unrestricted occupancy of the site by touring caravans.

SW/82/0850 Change of use from sewage plant to touring Granted 30.04.2007
caravan and camping site

Use of the land as a camping and caravanning site would provide a useful tourist facility and
would represent an improvement to the character and appearance of the area.

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01  Meadow View Park (formerly known as Riverbank Park) is a static caravan park
situated off The Broadway to the north of Minster. The site is accessed via a private
road (Irwin Road) which serves a wider complex of holiday accommodation, including
Parklands Village immediately to the north of Meadow View, Minster Park beyond that,
and the Abbey Hotel which fronts onto the main road. Parklands and Minster Park
comprise brick-built chalets.

1.02 The site is generally flat and level, and contains a number of static caravans with grass
lawns between the pitches and several empty plots that have not yet had caravan
bases laid out. The site is within flood zone 3, and the Minster marshes lie
immediately to the south and west, with a drainage ditch running along the southern
site boundary.

1.03 The site lies within land formally designated by the adopted Local Plan for holiday park
use, and has been in use as a caravan site since the early ‘80s (as set out above).

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.01 This application seeks planning permission for the siting of 37 static caravans on the
site, some of which are already in place.

2.02 This would be as an amendment to planning permission SW/05/0715 which granted
consent for a total of 43 caravans on the site, of which a maximum of 31 could be static
caravans, leaving a designated area for up to 12 touring caravans. The agent’s
covering letter explains:

“This is a slight variation from the approved application in 2005 (SW/05/0715)
which allowed for the stationing of 43 caravans on the site, of which at least 12
are to be for touring caravans. The spacing has been adjusted to reflect the
reduction in the number of units.”

2.03 The area previously approved for touring caravans was along the north-eastern edge
of the site, along the common boundary with the rear gardens of the chalets on Niwrim
Way. This area has not been used for touring caravans for several years, however,
and the layout applied for has effectively been in place since 2012.

98
Page 108



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.1

2.04

2.05

3.0

4.0

4.01

5.0

5.01

5.02

5.03

6.0

6.01

This application therefore seeks to reduce the total number of caravans permitted on
the site from 43 to 37, all of which would be static caravans.

The static caravans are / will be laid out as shown on the submitted layout plan.
Concrete bases have been installed (or will be installed on the remaining vacant
pitches once permission is granted), and the internal estate road is laid out as shown
on the submitted plan. Each caravan has a small grass amenity area surrounding it
and a private parking space. Further shared amenity space and parking is available
across the wider site.

SUMMARY INFORMATION

Proposed
Site Area (ha) 1.41
Total no. approved caravans 43
Total no. proposed caravans 37

PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

The site is within an area of Potential Archaeological Importance, Flood Zone 3, and a
holiday park allocation (under policy DM4

POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Practice
Guidance (NPPG) generally support proposals that would support tourism and
economic development, subject to consideration of issues such as flood risk and
general amenity.

Policies ST1 (sustainable development), CP1 (strong, competitive economy), CP4
(good design), DM3 (rural economy), DM4 (holiday parks), DM5 (holiday park
occupancy), DM7 (parking), DM14 (general development criteria), and DM21 (water,
flooding, and drainage) of the adopted Swale Borough Local Plan 2017 are relevant.

In particular: policy DM4 allows for upgrading and improvement of existing static
caravan holiday parks; while policy DM5 sets out that the occupancy of parks will be
restricted to a maximum of 10 months.

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

Four letters of objection have been received from occupants of chalets on the adjacent
Irwin Park, raising the following summarised issues:

- The field is not big enough to contain the number of proposed caravans;

- A boundary fence was removed and trees cut down, enabling caravans to be
situated closer to the common boundary with Niwrim Way;

- Unauthorised alterations and additions to some of the caravans, including raised
decking;

- Overlooking and loss of privacy;

- Additional traffic and vehicle movements;

- Additional noise and disturbance from extra caravans;

- Potential for anti-social behaviour;

- Impact on wildlife from removal of trees;

99
Page 109



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.1

6.02

7.0

7.01

7.02

7.03

7.04

7.05

7.06

7.07

7.08

7.09

8.0

8.01

9.0

- The plan approved in 2005 has not been adhered to [NB: the point of this
application is to regularise that situation];

- Delays in the Council determining previous applications at the site;

- Loss of privacy from CCTV at the site [NB: the CCTV poles were removed some
months ago], and

- Comments on a previous, now withdrawn, application at the site.

The applicant has submitted a letter rebuffing a particular objector's comments, but it
does not contribute to the consideration of the matter at hand.

CONSULTATIONS

Minster Parish Council objects to the application, commenting that “this is over-
intensive use of the site” and “the proposal’s close proximity to existing dwellings is a
concern” with regard to the orientation of the static caravans and the potential for
overlooking and loss of privacy for the chalets.

Natural England initially requested further information in respect of potential ecological
impacts. However further to discussions with their officers to explain the nature of the
application (i.e. a reduction in caravans) they have confirmed they have no objection.

The Environment Agency has no objection.

KCC Flooding has no objection, but notes that a nearby ditch is maintained by the
LMIDB and as such consent will be required if the applicant seeks to discharge water
into it.

The LMIDB note that the drainage ditch along the southern site boundary is maintained
by them and, as such, their consent will be required for any works within 8m of the
ditch or to drain the site into it. Given the nature of this application | don’t consider
that a condition is reasonable or justified in this instance, but will add their comments
as an informative for the applicant to act on should they wish to carry out any works
that affect the ditch.

Southern Water has no objections but notes that sewer infrastructure will require
upgrading, and has requested a number of conditions (discussed below).

KCC Highways has no objections.

Kent Police suggest that the applicant should contact them to discuss possible
Secured By Design (SBD) improvements to the site.

The Council’s Environmental Health Manager has no comments.
BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

The application is supported by a proposed layout plan, and the above-noted historic
applications are relevant.

APPRAISAL

100
Page 110



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.1

Principle

9.01

9.02

The site lies within a designated holiday park area, as set out by Policy DM4 of the
adopted Local Plan. The principle of development that supports the wider tourism
aims of that policy is therefore generally acceptable subject to amenity considerations
as set out below.

Because the site is providing holiday accommodation; the principle of permanent
residential use not being acceptable here due to flood risk; the allocation of the site as
a holiday park under policy DM4; the site lying outside of the defined built up area
boundary; and the potential for holiday parks to provide sub-standard permanent
homes, a standard condition is required to restrict occupancy as with the other holiday
parks on the Island.

Amenity

9.03

9.04

9.04

9.05

Layout

9.06

It should be clearly stated that the chalets on Niwrim Way are holiday residences, and
not residential dwellings. | have spoken to a number of occupants of Niwrim Way
during the course of dealing with other applications locally, and while | appreciate that
they consider these chalets to be their primary residence it must be made absolutely
clear to all that they are noft residential dwellings. The Council has won many appeals
against use of these chalets as permanent dwellings, of which the residents should be
aware, and the established position (through Council-issued planning decisions and
Planning Inspectorate appeal decisions) is that they are holiday chalets with 10 month
occupancy.

The chalets on Niwrim Way — and the static caravans here at Meadow View - therefore
benefit from a lower degree of amenity protection under planning regulations and the
issue of potential overlooking is much less heavily weighted. While you would not
expect to be overlooked at close proximity in the lounge of your “normal” house, one
does not normally expect the same privileges on close-quarters holiday camps.
Therefore, whilst | note the objections from residents and the Parish Council in respect
of overlooking and loss of privacy, | am firmly of the opinion that is not a matter on
which a reasonable, justifiable, and defendable refusal of planning permission could
be considered here.

The layout of the park provides good spacing around the caravans and there is
communal open space for all visitors. The park will provide a good level of amenity
for occupants of the caravans, in my opinion.

Removal of the touring caravan spaces means that there would be less manoeuvring
of vehicles on the site and fewer vehicles accessing the park on a regular basis. This
would consequently reduce associated noise and disturbance and improve amenity for
occupiers of both this park and the adjacent chalets.

The site is capable of holding 37 caravans. | have visited the site and, whilst not all
of the pitches have been built out yet, it is evidently open and well spaced. To receive
a site licence from the Council the caravans must be at least 6m apart in all directions
and there is more than enough space available to achieve this on site, as well as
providing appropriate levels of shared amenity space, parking provision, and vehicle
access/turning space.

101
Page 111



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.1

9.07

In this regard | disagree with the Parish Council and local residents suggesting that the
scheme would represent overdevelopment of the land. | consider that there is
evidently sufficient space to provide a well-spaced static caravan site here, even with
additional statics on the former touring caravan spaces, and | do not consider that the
Council would in any way be able to defend a reason for refusal on such grounds at
appeal.

Highways

9.08

I note that KCC Highways have no objections, and | also have no significant concerns
in respect of highway safety or amenity. The loss of touring caravan spaces is likely
to result in fewer vehicle movements than under the current extant permission.

Ecology

9.09

Other

9.10

10.0

10.01

10.02

11.0

Because the application proposes a reduction in the total number of caravans allowed
on the site | do not consider that the development would give rise to any additional
ecological impacts over and above the current permission/lawful use of the site.
Because no additional accommodation is being proposed there is no requirement for
a SAMMS payment in this instance.

Southern Water has requested conditions to secure a phased implementation of the
permission to align with potential future upgrade works to the local sewer network. |
do not consider these conditions to meet the Government’s tests in respect of planning
conditions, however, because i) there is an extant, implemented permission for use of
the site without phasing restrictions, ii) such conditions would make the applicant
entirely beholden upon works to be carried out by a third party, and iii) Southern Water
do not have a firm timescale for any upgrade works, so the applicant could potentially
be left unable to implement their permission for many years. Of these three issues,
however, the fact that the site is already in use under an implemented planning
permission means that there is no recourse for Southern Water to now restrict
occupancy of the site, and | believe that a planning Inspector would look very poorly
on a condition which seeks to do so.

CONCLUSION

This application seeks retrospective consent for replacement of a dedicated touring
caravan area with static caravans, and to reduce the total number of caravans
permitted on an existing approved caravan site from 43 to 37. Whilst | note local and
Parish Council objections | can see no justifiable reason to refuse planning permission,
and do not consider that the proposals would give rise to any serious impacts over and
above the existing approved use of the land.

Taking the above into account | recommend that planning permission should be
granted.

RECOMMENDATION — GRANT Subiject to the following conditions:

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
102
Page 112



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.1

2)

No more than 37 caravans shall be stationed on the site at any time, and none shall
be stationed in a position other than securely anchored to one of the concrete bases
shown on the drawings approved under this permission.

Reason: In accordance with the terms of the permission, and as the site is prominently
located in a wider rural location where uncontrolled development would be likely to be
harmful, and as the site is at risk from flooding, pursuant to policies ST1, ST3, ST6,
DM5, and DM14 of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2017.

The caravans hereby permitted shall only be occupied during the period from 1st
March to 31st October in any year, and the caravans shall not be used for human
habitation at any time during the months of November to February inclusive; all power,
including lighting, shall be cut off during this ‘closed season’.

Reason: The proposed development, by its nature and location, is unsuitable for all
year round occupation and subject to flood risk. Moreover, the site is prominently
located in a wider rural location where both the character and appearance would be
detrimentally changed by activity and lighting in the quiet winter months, in pursuance
of policies St1, DM5, and DM14 of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2017.

Within 6 months from the date of this permission full details of soft landscaping works
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. These details shall
include existing trees, shrubs and other features, planting schedules of plants, noting
species (which shall be native species and of a type that will encourage wildlife and
biodiversity), plant sizes and numbers where appropriate, means of enclosure, hard
surfacing materials, and an implementation programme. Upon approval the agreed
landscaping scheme shall be implemented within the next available planting season.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife
and biodiversity.

Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any trees or shrubs that are
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever
planting season is agreed.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife
and biodiversity.

INFORMATIVES

1.

Kent Police recommend that the site owner contact their Designing Out Crime officer
(pandcr@kent.pnn.police.uk) to discuss potential improvements to the security and
safety of the site.

A formal application for connection to the water supply is required in order to service
this development. Please contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House
Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire S0O21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or
www.southernwater.co.uk.

The watercourse on the southern boundary of the site is a Lower Medway Internal
Drainage Board maintained ditch, and as such section 66 of the Land Drainage Act

103
Page 113


mailto:pandcr@kent.pnn.police.uk
http://www.southernwater.co.uk/

Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.1

1991 applies, and the Board’s consent is required for any works, structure, planting or
fencing within 8m of the ditch.

The Board suggests the applicant seeks to get this approval as soon as possible.

Any surface water drainage from the site dicharging to a local watercourse also
requires attenuating to 7 lites/sec/hec for the 1:100 year storm (+40% cc). Again this
will require the Boards written consent to allow this and fines and court action can apply
should the Boards permission not be sought.

Consent application forms can be found on the Boards website
www.medwayidb.co.uk.

THE COUNCIL’S APPROACH TO THIS APPLICATION

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July
2018 the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a pre-
application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants / agents of any issues that may arise in the
processing of their application.

In this instance the application was considered by the Planning Committee where the
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

If your decision includes conditions, there is a separate application process to discharge them.
You can apply online at, or download forms from, www.planningportal.co.uk (search for
'discharge of conditions').

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

104
Page 114


http://www.medwayidb.co.uk/

ITEM 2.1

ning Committee Report - 30 May 2019

Plan

GGGGGGGGGG

udeenr A P B1trl E GLIEMSIE U0 peu

i N
05ZL: L :els {ﬁ

e MBIA MOpEIW - TITHEZEI0GEL

105

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

2.2 REFERENCE NO - 19/500050/FULL & 19/500051/LBC

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Conversion, part demolition and extension of former school building to provide two 4 bedroom
dwellings, and erection of two detached 4 bedroom dwellings with associated landscaping and
parking.

ADDRESS Tunstall Church Of England Primary School Tunstall Road Tunstall Sittingbourne
Kent ME9 8DX

RECOMMENDATION Grant planning permission subject to a Strategic Access Management
and Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) contribution and listed building consent.

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

In the absence of a full five-year supply of housing land, and as the site is in a fairly sustainable
location, on balance, the proposal is considered to be acceptable

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Parish Council Objection

WARD West Downs PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL APPLICANT Mr G Swift

Tunstall AGENT Penshurst Planning Ltd
DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE
11/03/19 15/02/19 22/01/19

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining
sites):

App No Proposal Decision | Date

18/500738/FULL & | Conversion of former school building to provide | Approved | 30.05.2018
18/500739/LBC three dwellings with associated

demolition/building works, internal and external
alterations, provision of additional floorspace at
first floor level, including three dormer
windows, landscaping, and car parking

17/502970/FULL Part demolition and part rebuilding of former Withdrawn | 13.02.2018
& 17/502971/LBC | school building, conversion with first floor
extension to create two 4 bedroom dwellings,
together with the erection of two detached 4
bedroom dwellings, with associated
landscaping, including removal of three trees
and parking.

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 The property is the former Church of England Primary School, situated within the
village of Tunstall. Itis a grade Il listed building, constructed in 1846, which still displays
an impressive and attractive facade, finished in brick and flint, representing the original
school building. In contrast, the inside of the original part of the building is
disappointingly devoid of any interesting or historical architectural features, which
appear to have long since been removed.

1.02 To the rear of the building a number of less sympathetic extensions were added to the
building in the latter half of the last century. Whilst these changes have perhaps not

106
Page 117



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

1.03

1.04

1.05

1.06

2.0

2.01

2.02

2.03

been made in a manner totally sympathetic to the original building, they clearly mark
the two ages of the school.

To the rear of the building itself is a fairly large area of land, a lot of it given over to
hard surfacing, which served as recreation space and parking for the school, where
portable classrooms once stood. The area at the rear of the property is accessed by a
single track driveway, and | understand that a number of parties enjoy access rights
over this land, which also forms a public right of way. | understand that this route was
used by staff cars when the school was in use as such. Behind the site lies Tunstall
village hall, a fairly modern hall surrounded by attractive grounds and generous parking
provision, accessed separately from another direction.

The site is located outside of any established built-up area boundary; within the
Tunstall conservation area, and near to other listed buildings.

Following the erection of a new school elsewhere the site has been acquired by the
current applicant and planning and listed building consent applications were received
in 2017 for the conversion of the school to two properties, and for the construction of
two new detached four bedroomed houses at the rear. As this latter part of the proposal
would have caused the application to fail at that time, as the Council had a 5.4 years
supply of building land following adoption of the Local Plan in 2017, those applications
were withdrawn by the applicant (17/502970/FULL & 17/502971/LBC).

Following the withdrawal of these applications, new proposals for just the conversion
of the existing building to three new dwellings, with no new build element, were
submitted (18/500738/FULL & 18/500739/LBC) and approved by the Planning
Committee in May 2018. None of this work has yet commenced.

PROPOSAL

Although the 2018 applications noted above were approved without any new build
element, the applicant is now applying for conversion of the former school building to
two dwellings and for the erection of two new dwellings at the rear. The current
proposal is thus for the conversion of the former school building to two four bedroom
houses (involving removal of more recent rear extensions and their replacement with
smaller, more sympathetic extensions), and for the erection of two new four bedroom
detached houses at the rear, both to the same design each with an integral single
garage.

Each property would have its own amenity space, and at least two parking spaces in
addition to the integral garages. The parking spaces are shown to the rear of the
existing building with no parking on the front lawn of the former school. Parking areas
would be accessed by the existing track which previously served as vehicular access
to the rear of the building. This track also forms part of Public Right of Way ZR147,
and | understand that a number of local people also have vehicular access rights
across this land. The school originally had fifteen vehicle parking spaces to the rear;
the proposal now is for ten plus two garages.

The application is accompanied by a Planning Statement; a Heritage Statement; an
Ecological Appraisal; a Viability Report and an Arboricultural Survey. The Planning
statement explains how the applicant has arrived at this proposal and the Heritage
Statement discusses the effect of the proposal on the character and setting of the listed
building. The Viability Report is a lengthy report arguing the case for four dwellings,
rather than three. This statement will be discussed later in this report.

107
Page 118



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

3.0

4.0

5.0

5.01

5.02

5.03

6.0

6.01

SUMMARY INFORMATION

Existing Proposed Change
(+/-)
Site Area (ha) 0.31h 0.31h -
No. of Storeys 2 2 -
Parking Spaces 15 10 (plus garages) | -5 (-3)
No. of Residential Units Nil 4 +4

PLANNING CONSTRAINTS
Conservation Area Tunstall

Listed Buildings SBC Ref Number: 1115/SW
Description: G Il TUNSTALL C E PRIMARY SCHOOL, TUNSTALL

Outside established built-up-area boundary.
POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): Paragraphs 8 (sustainable
development); 11 (The presumption in favour of sustainable development); 55 (re-use
of redundant buildings); 77 — 79 (Rural housing); 131 (creating sustainable uses for
heritage assets); and 132 (significance of designated heritage assets) are relevant to
this proposal.

Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017 — Policies ST1 (delivering
sustainable development in Swale); ST3 (the Swale settlement strategy); CP4
(requiring good design); CP8 (conserving and enhancing the historic environment);
DM?7 (vehicle parking); DM14 (general development criteria); DM16 (alterations and
extensions); DM32 (listed buildings); and DM33 (conservation areas).

The site does not lie within the “Important Local Countryside Gap” between
Siittingbourne and Tunstall as protected by policy DM25.

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

Four letters and emails of objection have been received. Their content may be
summarised as follows:

Danger from cars turning into access to rear

Visibility from access is poor

Design of new houses out of keeping with rural setting

Four bedroom properties not necessary — smaller units are needed

Emergency vehicles would have difficulty accessing rear properties

‘The driving force behind this plan is financial gain’

Intensification of vehicle use; when the area to the rear was used as a parking area for
the school, vehicle movements were only at the start and end of the school day
Tunstall Lane is a ‘rat-run’ to the motorway

Previous applications to KCC for school parking were refused

Number of parking spaces is insufficient

Two new dwellings detrimental to setting of the listed buildings nearby

Loss of countryside gap

108
Page 119



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

6.02

7.0

7.01

Application made as previous application was ‘not financially viable’. Did the applicant
not realise this before?

Plot size slightly reduced compared to that previously approved

Where will rubbish bins be stored?

Removal of existing trees is unacceptable

Remote access gate will cause problems — difficult to access; noise, etc.

One email of support has been received from a local resident:

The retention of the school building, minus the existing rear extensions will be of great
benefit to the conservation area

The expense of converting the listed building justifies the two new builds

Will assist in meeting Swale’s required housing targets

KCC Highways conditions must be included

‘My concern is that without the financial assistance that the two new houses will bring
to the development, the old school building will continue to deteriorate to a stage where
its retention comes into question’

The applicant has responded to the representations in the following manner;

The highways issues and those of the PROW have already been considered and
approved under the previously approved applications (18/500738/ FULL and
18/500739/LBC)

A Construction Management plan has already been approved for the applications
noted above

Scheme meets Kent Vehicle Parking Standards

‘Given the extensive modern rear extension is to be demolished, the site is considered
to be suitably spacious to accommodate the two proposed detached dwellings. The
density of development has increased slightly, due to the gooadwill sale of a small strip
of land to the owners of the neighbouring property ‘The Oast’ to facilitate rear access
to their property’

The proposal is not in open countryside, it is in fact in-fill development

The proposal will improve the character and setting of the listed building by removing
the existing 1970s large extensions to the rear

The proposed scheme complies with Technical Housing Standards

The loss of two trees will be replaced by new planting

‘The revised application is not about increasing profits, but rather seeking approval for
a scheme that is financially viable and capable of implementation, thereby ensuring
the current listed building is brought back into long term beneficial use’

This will not set a precedent; every proposal is judged on its own merits

CONSULTATIONS

Tunstall Parish Council raises objection to the proposal. Their comments are as
follows:

‘Councillors have considered the application and have voted to oppose the proposal
for the following reasons:

1) Whilst the Parish Council is keen to see the old school site developed, it is in the
Conservation Area and it is important that any development is sensitive to this. The
site is located outside any established built-up area boundary, where policies of rural
restraint apply. Policy ST3 of Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017
states that; At locations in the open countryside, outside the built-up area boundaries

109
Page 120



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

7.02

7.03

7.04

7.05

7.06

7.07

8.0

shown on the Proposals Map, development will not be permitted, unless supported by
national planning policy and able to demonstrate that it would contribute to protecting
and, where appropriate, enhancing the intrinsic value, landscape setting, tranquillity
and beauty of the countryside, its buildings and the vitality of rural communities. The
proposed two new build properties would not be in accordance with this policy.

2) Access and egress. The Parish Council recognises the current proposed route is
already in use by two properties and for access to surrounding farm land and that many
more cars used it when the school was operational although this would have been at
the start and end of the school day. The proposed extra dwellings will result in traffic
accessing and egressing the site throughout the day as well as deliveries. There is
insufficient parking for delivery drivers and visitors who will have to park in the layby
opposite or on the road. The sight lines and lighting are poor and the proposed access
needs to be thoroughly risk assessed.

3) Public Right of Way. The Parish Council would like to draw attention to the safety of
the site access keeping in mind a previous application for a new car park was refused
due to such concerns. The proposed vehicular access to site is a Public Right of Way
and walkers could be put in danger as a result of the extra vehicular movements from
the development.

4) The proposal is an erosion of the Strategic Countryside Gap

5) The removal of mature trees within the site is unnecessary for the previous proposal
that has been accepted, whereas this proposal will require the mature trees to be
removed

6) The proposal will result in over intensification of the site.’

Historic England raises no objection.

Natural England raises no objection subject to mitigation relating to SAMMs payments.
The KCC Public Rights of Way Officer notes that;

‘Public footpath ZR147 passes along the proposed vehicular access to the site...There
are no public vehicular access rights along the footpath. The applicant should satisfy
themselves that should consent be granted the relevant permissions are in place to
enable vehicular access to the properties.’

The Swale Footpaths Group notes use of the access as a public footpath and seek to
ensure that walkers are not obstructed or endangered during building works, or
afterwards.

Kent Highways and Transportation raises no objection, subject to the inclusion of
conditions and an informative. One Condition requested was for a dedicated pathway
to bring refuse bins to the proposed bin collection area at the front of the site. | do not
consider this will be in the interests of the character and setting of the listed building,
so have not included this particular condition, and that the details shown on drawing
no. SW/16/147.03C are acceptable.

The Council’s tree consultant raises no objection, subject to conditions included below.

APPRAISAL

110
Page 121



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

8.01

8.02

8.03

8.04

8.05

8.06

8.07

8.08

The main issues to consider are those of the principle of development; issues relating
to the adjacent public right of way and highway safety, and other matters. For the sake
of regularity, | will take these points in turn

Principle of Development — As noted above, the site is situated outside any established
built-up area boundary, where policy ST3 of the Local Plan would normally act to
restrict new residential development to ensure a sustainable pattern of development.
The site is not allocated for housing within the Local Plan. If the Council still had a five
year supply of housing land, it is likely that an application for two new dwellings outside
the built up area boundary would be refused.

However, the Council has, at present, only a 4.6 year supply (as determined by the
recent Housing Delivery Test (HDT)). Whilst this is not a sizeable shortfall, paragraph
11 of the NPPF means that polices for the provision of housing are considered out of
date and this weakens the Council’s position with regard to the matter of new dwellings
outside the established built-up area boundary. In such cases, the sustainability of the
site’s location should be considered paramount. In this context the site is not isolated
and is situated approximately a quarter of a mile outside the established built-up area
boundary, within walking distance of the new Primary School, with the Village Hall
adjacent to the site. Local shops at Northwood Drive are less than a mile away, and
Sittingbourne town centre is less than two miles away with pavements allowing access
by foot. Equally importantly, the site is not situated within the Local Plan defined
Important Local Countryside Gap, which is meant to prevent the coalescence of
Tunstall and Sittingbourne via policy DM25. | consider the location of this previously
developed site to be one where it would be hard to suggest that housing here would
not be sustainable development.

Since the HDT ruling, the Council has still been able to successfully defend against
appeals for housing in the countryside, but these successful defences have been in
locations which were very isolated and unsustainable, with no access to public
transport; no facilities locally, and where all access would have to be by car. None of
these characteristics apply in this case. As such, | am of the opinion that if this proposal
were to be refused and subsequently appealed, there is a strong possibility that such
an appeal would be upheld.

As such, under these very particular circumstances, | consider that the principle of
development here is acceptable.

Issues relating to the adjacent public right of way and highway safety concerns - A

number of local residents have voiced concerns with regard to the use of the vehicle
access route which is also a public right of way. Whist | understand those concerns,
these matters were analysed as part of the previous applications (18/500738/FULL &
18/500739/LBC). On that occasion, Members took the view that the highway and safety
aspects of the proposal were acceptable. In highway terms, the only difference
between that proposal is that the present proposal is for four properties, not three. The
extra property would not have a significant impact on highway or safety matters and,
as such, | am of the opinion that the proposal is also acceptable on these grounds.

| note that there are no public rights of way for vehicular use of the access track.
However, this is not a planning matter and the applicant will need to satisfy himself that
he has the right of access to the site.

Other Matters — In terms of the effect upon the listed building and conservation area,
the removal of the existing circa late 1970s extensions, to be replaced with extensions
111
Page 122



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

8.09

8.10

9.0

9.01

of much more sympathetic design, is to be supported. With regard to the proposed new
houses, though they are not small properties, their design, incorporating features found
in the listed building, such as the flintwork panels, would not have an adverse effect
upon the character or setting of the listed building. As such, | consider this part of the
proposal to be acceptable.

A number of objectors have suggested that the proposed development would
constitute an over-intensive use of the site. With a density of approximately twelve
dwellings per hectare, which would be broadly in line with existing residential
development in Tunstall, the density levels could be described as ‘low’, particularly
when remembering that larger, edge of town developments regularly have a density of
between thirty and fifty dwellings per hectare.

Finally, with regard to the impact of the two new dwellings upon the listed building and
the conservation area, | would note that the two new dwellings are set an acceptable
distance away from the listed building; that the dwellings are designed to be
sympathetic to their location; and that as they are set back, they would not have any
impact upon the streetscene. | am therefore of the opinion that the proposed
development would not have a detrimental impact upon the character and setting of
the listed building or on the appearance of the surrounding conservation area.

CONCLUSION

In view of the fact that the Council no longer has a five year supply of housing land; as
the site is in a fairly sustainable location; and as this proposal represents a net increase
of a single property over that already granted, | recommend that the proposal be
approved, subject to strict accordance with the conditions noted below.

Appropriate Assessment under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017.

This Appropriate Assessment has been undertaken without information provided by
the applicant. The application site is located within 6km of The Swale Special
Protection Area (SPA) which is a European designated sites afforded protection under
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 as amended (the Habitat
Regulations).

SPAs are protected sites classified in accordance with Article 4 of the EC Birds
Directive. They are classified for rare and vulnerable birds and for regularly occurring
migratory species. Article 4(4) of the Birds Directive (2009/147/EC) requires Member
States to take appropriate steps to avoid pollution or deterioration of habitats or any
disturbances affecting the birds, in so far as these would be significant having regard
to the objectives of this Article.

Due to the scale of development there is no scope to provide on site mitigation such
as an on-site dog walking area or signage to prevent the primary causes of bird
disturbance, which are recreational disturbance including walking, dog walking
(particularly off the lead), and predation of birds by cats. The proposal thus has
potential to affect said site’s features of interest, and an Appropriate Assessment is
required to establish the likely impacts of the development.

In considering the European site interest, Natural England (NE) advises the Council
that it should have regard to any potential impacts that the proposal may have.
Regulations 63 and 64 of the Habitat Regulations require a Habitat Regulations
Assessment. For similar proposals NE also advises that the proposal is not necessary

112
Page 123



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

for the management of the European sites and that subject to a financial contribution
to strategic mitigation, the proposal is unlikely to have significant effects on these sites.

The recent (April 2018) judgement (People Over Wind v Coillte Teoranta, ref. C-
323/17) handed down by the Court of Justice of the European Union ruled that, when
determining the impacts of a development on protected area, ‘it is not appropriate, at
the screening stage, to take account of the measures intended to avoid or reduce the
harmful effects of the plan or project on that site.” The development therefore cannot
be screened out of the need to provide an Appropriate Assessment solely on the basis
of the mitigation measures agreed between Natural England and the North Kent
Environmental Planning Group (NKEPG).

NE has stipulated that, when considering any residential development within 6km of
the SPA, the Council should secure financial contributions to the Thames, Medway
and Swale Estuaries Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) Strategy
in accordance with the recommendations of the (NKEPG) and that such strategic
mitigation must be in place before the dwelling is occupied. Based on the
correspondence with Natural England (via the NKEPG), | conclude that off site
mitigation is required.

In this regard, whilst there are likely to be impacts upon the SPA arising from this
development, the mitigation measures to be implemented within the SPA from
collection of the standard SAMMS tariff (to be secured by either s106 agreement or
unilateral undertaking on all qualifying developments) will ensure that these impacts
will not be significant or long-term. | therefore consider that, subject to mitigation,
there will be no adverse effect on the integrity of the SPA.

It can be noted that the required mitigation works will be carried out by Bird Wise, the
brand name of the North Kent Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Scheme
(SAMMS) Board, which itself is a partnership of local authorities, developers and
environmental organisations, including SBC, KCC, Medway Council, Canterbury
Council, the RSPB, Kent Wildlife Trust, and others.

In this case the applicant has agreed to pay the SAMMS contribution, if the proposal
is approved, and any decision to approve the application will need to be subject to
planning permission and building consent being granted.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION — GRANT planning permission and listed building consent
subject to receipt of appropriate SAMMS payment and to the following conditions:
CONDITIONS

19/500050/FULL — Planning Permission

(1)

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details
in the form of samples of external finishing materials to be used in the development
hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority, and works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

113
Page 124



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

Reason: In the interest of conserving the character of the conservation area and the
setting of the listed building.

All new external joinery shall be fabricated in timber, and no development beyond the
construction of foundations shall take place until detailed drawings at a suggested
scale of 1:5 of all new external joinery work and fittings together with sections through
glazing bars, frames and mouldings have been submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: In the interest of conserving the character of the conservation area and the
setting of the listed building.

No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until full
details at a suggested scale of 1:5 of the eaves of the new build dwellings hereby
permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

Reason: In the interest of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of
the surrounding area.

No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place, including any

works of demolition, until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and

approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be

adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:

i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors

ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials

iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development

iv. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction

v. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction
works

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and highway safety and
convenience.

No construction work in connection with the development shall take place on any
Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except between the following times:

Monday to Friday 0730 - 1900 hours, Saturdays 0730 - 1300 hours unless in
association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until full
details of both hard and soft landscape works, including new boundary treatments have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These
details shall include existing trees, shrubs and other features, on and adjacent to the
site, planting schedules of plants, noting species (which shall be native species and of
a type that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity), plant sizes and numbers where
appropriate, means of enclosure, hard surfacing materials, and an implementation
programme.

114
Page 125



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

(10)

(11)

(12)

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife
and biodiversity.

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the
development or in accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife
and biodiversity.

Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any trees or shrubs that are
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever
planting season is agreed.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife
and biodiversity.

In this condition "retained tree" means an existing tree, which is to be retained in
accordance with the approved plans and particulars. Paragraphs i) and ii) below shall
have effect until the expiration of 5 years from the date of completion of the
development for its permitted use.

i) No retained tree shall be damaged, cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall
any retained tree be pruned other than in accordance with the Arboricultural
Tree Survey Report (ref:1589) dated 11/05/2017, without the written approval
of the Local Planning Authority. Any pruning approved shall be carried out in
accordance with British Standard 3998:2010 Tree Work - Recommendations or
any revisions thereof.

ii) If any retained tree dies, or is removed, uprooted or destroyed, another tree
shall be planted at the same place and that tree shall be of such size and
species and shall be planted at such time as may be specified in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

iii)) The installation of tree protection barriers, the methods of working shall be
undertaken in accordance with the Arboricultural Tree Survey Report (ref:1589)
dated 11/05/2017

Reason; in order to protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site and
locality,

The areas shown on approved drawing SW/16/147.03C as parking spaces shall be
kept available for such use at all times and no permanent development, whether
permitted by The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order)
or not, shall be carried out on the land so shown or in such a position as to preclude
vehicular access thereto; such land and access thereto shall be provided prior to the
occupation of the dwellings hereby permitted.

Reason: Development without adequate provision for the parking of cars is likely to
lead to car parking inconvenient to other road users.

No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details
of covered cycle storage for each property shall be submitted to and approved in writing
115
Page 126



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

(13)

(14)

(15)

by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then be carried out in complete
accordance with these approved details.

Reason: In the interests of promoting sustainable means of travel.

No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details
have been submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing, which
set out what measures have been taken to ensure that the development incorporates
sustainable construction techniques such as water conservation and recycling,
renewable energy production including the inclusion of solar thermal or solar photo
voltaic installations, and energy efficiency. Upon approval, the details shall be
incorporated into the development in accordance with the approved details prior to the
first use of any dwelling.

Reason: In the interest of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable development.

The development shall be designed to achieve a water consumption rate of no
more than 110 litres per person per day, and the dwellings shall not be occupied
unless the notice for the dwellings of the potential consumption of water per
person per day required by the Building Regulations 2015 (As amended) has
been given to the Building Control Inspector (internal or external).

Reason: In the interests of water conservation and sustainability.

Upon completion, no further development to the front elevations of the new build
dwellings hereby approved ,whether permitted by Class D of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order) or not, shall be
carried out.

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and the setting of the listed
building.

This permission shall be an alternative to the permission(s) granted on 30/05/3018
under references 18/500738/FULL and 18/500739/LBC and shall not be in addition
thereto, or in combination therewith.

Reason: The exercise of more than one permission would result in an over intensive
use of the land.

Council's approach to this application

The Council recognises the advice in paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) and seeks to work with applicants in a positive and proactive manner by
offering a pre-application advice service; and seeking to find solutions to any obstacles to
approval of applications having due regard to the responses to consultation, where it can
reasonably be expected that amendments to an application will result in an approval without
resulting in a significant change to the nature of the application and the application can then be
amended and determined in accordance with statutory timescales.

In this instance, the application was considered by the Planning Committee where the
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

116
Page 127



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

CONDITIONS

19/500051/LBC - Listed Building Consent

(1)

The works to which this consent relates must be begun not later than the expiration of
three years beginning with the date on which this consent is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 18 of the Listed Building Act 1990 as amended by
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

No development shall take place until details in the form of samples of external finishing
materials to be used in the development hereby approved have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and works shall be implemented
in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

All new external joinery shall be fabricated in timber, and no development shall take
place until detailed drawings at a suggested scale of 1:5 of all new external and internal
joinery work and fittings together with sections through glazing bars, frames and
mouldings have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed
building.

No pipework, vents, ducts, flues, meter boxes, alarm boxes, ductwork or other
appendages shall be fixed to the exterior of the listed building the subject of this
consent without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed
building.

All rainwater goods to be used as part of the development hereby permitted shall be of
cast iron.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed
building.

Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a detailed schedule of works
shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any
works commence. This schedule of works shall be discussed and informally agreed
with the Local Planning Authority's Conservation & Design Manager on site, and then
formally submitted in writing for formal approval by the Local Planning Authority. The
schedule shall include details of repairs to be carried out (including any re-pointing),
the removal of redundant wiring/cabling/pipework and modern insertions, including wall
and floor finishes, suspended ceilings and radiators, etc. The schedule must include
a timetable for the start and estimated completion of each item of work, and include
inspection slots at appropriate intervals to allow the Local Planning Authority's
Conservation & Design Manager to properly monitor the standard of work being
undertaken on the listed building.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed
building.

117
Page 128



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

(7)

(10)

(11)

Before the development hereby permitted commences, drawings at 1:10 elevation and
1:1 or 1:2 part vertical and part horizontal section of each new/replacement window
(including dormer windows) and door type (including for internal doors) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall then be carried out in complete accordance with these approved drawings.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed
building.

Before the development hereby permitted commences, drawings at 1:10 elevation
detail (side and flank) of the proposed dormers shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then be carried out in
complete accordance with these approved drawings.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed
building.

Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, manufacturer's details and
specification of the exact Conservation roof lights to be used in the development shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall then be carried out in complete accordance with these approved
drawings.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed
building.

All making good works to the listed building (including its modern rear extension) shall
be carried out using matching finishes and materials (including colour finish), unless
otherwise specifically previously agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed
building.

Before any works are commenced, a detailed schedule of repairs and necessary
remedial works to the listed building (as identified by the project architect or building
surveyor) shall first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by the LPA. The
schedule of repairs and remedial works to the listed building shall be drawn up drawing
in accordance with the guidance and building conservation objectives set out in the
British Standard document entitled Guide to the conservation of historic buildings (BS
7913: 2013). Thereafter, all of the works listed in the schedule shall have been carried
out and completed (and the LPA notified of this immediately in writing thereafter) before
the new residential conversion units within the listed building are first occupied.

Reason: To protect the special character, architectural interest and integrity of the
listed building, in accordance with the requirements of Section 16 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act, 1990.

INFORMATIVE - The Local Planning Authority recommends that the schedule of works
is drawn up by a competent conservation accredited architect and/or building
surveyor/structural engineer. Details of the conservation accreditation schemes for
architects, engineers and surveyors can be found on page 31 of the British Standard
document referred to in the corresponding planning condition.

118
Page 129



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.2

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

119
Page 130



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019

[ ™ Tunstall G of E

~Primary Schoal

%,

o 19/500050/AULL - Tunstall Primary School
Scale: 1:700
Printed on: 20052019 at 15:21 PM by JossphM

Tunatall Stablas

ITEM 2.2

' ASTUN
ll‘ TECHNOLOGY
& hetun Technology Ltd

120
Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.3

2.3 REFERENCE NO - 18/506384/FULL

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Change of use of land and development of 34no. general industrial units, a secure lorry park,
cafe and associated landscaping. (Resubmission of 18/504147/FULL),

ADDRESS Land South East Of A299 Slip Road Off Thanet Way Highstreet Road Hernhill Kent
ME13 9EN

RECOMMENDATION Grant, subject to conditions as set out below and the further views of
KCC Highways and Transportation, and Highways England, and the receipt further comments
following re-consultation (closing date 29t May 2019)

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION/
Proposal is broadly in accordance with national and local planning policy

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Parish Council and local objections

WARD Boughton And PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL APPLICANT P&S Properties

Courtenay Hernhill Services (South East) Ltd
AGENT Giarti

DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE

21/03/19 01/02/19

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining
sites):

App No Proposal Decision | Date

18/504147/FULL Change of use of land and development of Withdrawn | 29/11/2018
43no. general industrial units, a secure lorry
park, cafe and associated landscaping.

15/505213/FULL Part retrospective application for the Approved | 30/11/2016
importation of waste material and engineering
operations to form landscape bunds,
construction of a 3 metre high Gabion basket
stone wall, change of use of land and
construction of van and HGV lorry park, access
and construction of a roadside transport cafe
for A3/A5 uses plus 24 hour WC and driver
wash

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 The site is located on a vacant parcel of land on the south-east side of the A299 Thanet
Way at the Dargate interchange, north east of Plumpudding Lane, and to the north-
west of the slip road to the A299, which as Members may be aware is part of the local
road network maintained by KCC Highways and Transportation. The site extends to
1.2 hectares and is presently a cleared site. It is partly bounded by trees and vegetation
to the northwest side adjacent to the Thanet Way. The northeast part of the site is
visible from the highway, and there are existing bunds on these sides of the site, as
well as to the southeast.

121
Page 133



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.3

1.02

1.03

1.04

1.05

1.06

2.0

2.01

2.02

2.03

2.04

2.05

2.06

2.07

Directly to the southeast of the site is an existing business park and freight terminal. A
short distance to the north of the site on the coast bound carriageway there is an
established petrol filling station, a shop, a Travelodge and a café. On the London bound
carriageway there is another filling station and a coffee shop.

The site slopes downward from the southwestern end to the northeastern end, in two
distinct but separate gradations. A drawing is included within the application showing
these changes of levels.

To the northeast of the site, on Highstreet Road and Dargate Road, there are a number
of residential properties.

An application for a change of use of the land and construction of a van and HGV lorry
park, access and construction of a roadside transport cafe for A3/A5 uses plus a 24
hour WC and driver washing facilities were approved in November 2016 under
planning reference 15/505213/FULL. This proposal has not been implemented.

In 2018, a similar application for forty one industrial units and a truckstop was
withdrawn when the agent became aware of the fact that part of the boundaries to the
site shown on the site layout for that application were not within the ownership of the
applicants (18/504147/FULL).

PROPOSAL

The proposal is for thirty four new-build small industrial units with associated parking
and landscaping, and a small truckstop café and secure lorry park.

The industrial units would be faced with grey panels with cedarwood panels to provide
a visual variation in the appearance of the units. They would have the appearance of
two-storey buildings, but with no first floor, making each unit single floor only, and have
shallow, steel profile roofs. The units would each measure 8 metres by 12 metres floor
area and extend to a ridge height of 8.5metres. Each unit would have two allocated
parking spaces adjacent to the unit, and one delivery space outside the roller shutter
door serving each unit. Units 10, 28 and 34 will also have side windows, as these units
are in prominent positions, and a window will break up a blank expanse of side wall.

Following amendments to the initially-proposed design of the building, the proposed
truckstop café would be one and a half storeys in height, giving an eaves height of 3.5
metres and a ridge height of 7.2 metres, and finished in a similar manner to the
industrial units, but with large dormer windows to the eaves. The truckstop which would
have a floor area of 16metres by 12 metres would offer café facilities and washrooms
for visiting drivers.

The submitted drawings show parking spaces for fourteen lorries and seven smaller
vehicles surrounding the truckstop

The lorry park proposed would offer free lorry parking.

The proposal is accompanied by a landscaping scheme, which shows a scheme of soft
landscaping to the boundaries of the site as well as landscaping within the site.

Vehicular access to the site would be provided from the slip road leading to/from the
Thanet Way.
122
Page 134



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.3

2.08 The applicant suggests that the development would support 80 jobs. The buildings
would be restricted to the following Use Classes: B2 and B8 for the industrial units and
A3 for the café.

2.08 The proposal is also accompanied by a drainage plan; an ecological and reptile survey;
a surface water management plan and flood risk assessment; a waste assessment
criteria report; a transport statement; and two letters from local estate agents,
confirming a need for small industrial units in the Borough.

3.0 SUMMARY INFORMATION

Existing Proposed Change (+/-)

Site Area (ha) 1.238ha 1.238ha -
Approximate Ridge Height (m) | - 8.2m +8.2m
Industrial Units
Approximate Eaves Height (m) | - 7.2m +7.2m
(Industrial Units)
Approximate Ridge Height (m) - 3.5m +3.5m
(Café)
Approximate Ridge Height (m) - 7.2m +7.2m
(Café)
Approximate Depth (m) (Industrial | - 12m (per unit) | +12m (per unit)
Units)
Approximate Width (m) (Industrial | - 8m (per unit) +8m (per unit)
Units)
Approximate Depth (m) (Café) - 12m +12m
Approximate Width (m) (Café) - 16m +16m
No. of Storeys - 2o0r1 % (Café) | +20or +1 %
Parking Spaces - 68 (Industrial | + 89 (Total)

Units) 21

(Truckstop)

4.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

4.01 Outside established built-up area boundaries.

5.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

5.01 Chapter 2 — Achieving sustainable development
Chapter 6 — Building a strong, competitive economy
Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport
Chapter 12 — Achieving well designed places

Bearing fruits 2013: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017

5.02 Policy ST1 — Delivering sustainable development
Policy CP1 — Building a strong, competitive economy

123
Page 135



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.3

6.0

6.01

6.02

7.0

7.01

Policy CP 4 — Requiring good design

Policy DM 6 — Managing transport demand and impact
Policy DM 7 — Vehicle parking

Policy DM 14 — General development criteria

Policy DM 19 — Sustainable design and construction
Policy DM 21 — Water, flooding and drainage

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

The Yorkletts Residents’ Committee has raised the following comments with regard to
the application:

The developer has met with us to discuss the proposal

Concern over traffic travelling along narrow lanes, which have no pavements and few
street lights

Local lanes used by walkers, cyclists and horse riders

Represents an unsustainable increase in traffic

Public transport for area is poor

Disagree with KCC Highways and Transportation’s assessment of the traffic impact

Four letters and emails of objection have been received from local residents. Their
comments may be summarised as follows:

Dargate Road is narrow and winding

Satellite Navigation system issues (not specified)

HGVs will not pay for parking and will park on the public road, which has just been
resurfaced

Lorry park will create litter

‘Overnight parking of vehicles is open to security issues from theft and vandalism which
effect properties in the vicinity putting them in danger of a higher chance of burglary
and therefore increasing insurance premiums and decreasing property value.’

We have more industrial units in the area than we need

Drivers will attempt to access the site via Fox’s Cross Hill and Dargate Road, rather
than the Thanet Way; these roads are narrow and for the most part unlit

Site is too near to Dover; lorries want to get nearer to or further from the port before
they stop

The proposal will lead to increased road signage

There is too much café competition locally to allow this one to succeed

| have re-consulted 3 parties on the amendments and will let Members know if any
further comments are received.

CONSULTATIONS
Hernhill Parish Council raises objection to the application, noting:

‘The Parish Council objects to the proposal. Whilst there has been a reduction in the
number of units the proposal still over intensifies the use of the site; there is concern
over the visual impact of the proposals due to a lack of information on the proposed
landscaping and site levels; there is a significant change in level from the site to the
Thanet Way and units 1-10 in particular would appear to be too close to the highway.
The Parish Council consider that the approved plans for a lorry park (15/605213/Full)
to be a more appropriate use of the site.’

124
Page 136



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.3

7.02

7.03

7.04

7.05

7.06

7.07

7.08

7.09

7.10

8.0

8.01

8.02

| have re-consulted 3 parties on the amendments and will let Members know if any
further comments are received.

KCC Highways and Transportation have requested further parking/turning details.
These have been received, and | await their further comments. | shall report these at
the meeting. They also comment that the impact of the development on the
surrounding highways network would not be severe, and note a number of minor
changes to the layout, which have been incorporated into the amended site plan by
the applicant. As noted above, a swept path analysis has also been requested. | shall
report progress to the Committee at the meeting.

Highways England has also requested further highways details, though they note that
the A299 does not form part of the strategic road network for which they are
responsible. | await such details and | will report these, and Highways England’s
comments, at the meeting.

The Environment Agency raises no objection.

The Environmental Protection Team Leader raises no objection, subject to the
inclusion of a Construction Environmental Management Plan, noting that ‘I
acknowledge that there are residential properties to the north of Highstreet Road and
the issue of potential noise disturbance by this proposal was considered, however, it
was deemed that the background noise level is likely to be already elevated due to
existing industry and the Thanet Way traffic noise.”

Southern Water raises no objection, subject to the inclusion of an Informative listed
below.

No response has been received from KCC Ecology. | have again requested same, and
will report any response to the Planning Committee at the meetings.

Kent Police has requested a number of Informatives to be included; those specific to
this site are listed below.

Natural England raises no objection

KCC Flood and Water Management raises no objection, subject to the inclusion of
drainage conditions listed below.

APPRAISAL

The key material planning issues to consider in this case are those of the principle of
development, effect upon local highway safety and convenience; the effect upon
residential amenity; and the effect upon visual amenity and the local landscape. For
the sake of regularity, | shall consider each of these in turn.

Principle of Development — The site is situated some distance outside any established
built-up area boundary, where policies of rural restraint apply. The Council generally
would not support development outside the established boundaries, but | am of the
opinion that the proposal should be treated as an exception for the following reasons:

125
Page 137



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.3

8.03

8.04

8.05

8.06

8.07

8.08

Members will note the planning history, particularly the previous permission for a
truckstop and lorry parking granted under reference 15/505213/FULL, which shows
that the principle of development on this site is acceptable.

Historical use — The proposed site has seen various works to its levels in the past, all
of which were regularised by the previous application for a truckstop/ lorry park

The site does not currently present a pleasing visual aspect

The location has superb road transport links, adjacent to the Thanet Way and
approximately two miles from both the M2 and A2 ultimately connecting with the port
of Dover in one direction and London in the other direction. As such, the site is in a
sustainable location

The site is not situated in an isolated rural location; existing freight and industrial
facilities are also to be found in the immediate vicinity

As such, the site is in a very sustainable location, in accordance with Policy ST1 of
Bearing Fruits 2031 — The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017, and offers a well-placed
location for this use. | therefore find the principle of development to be acceptable in
this case, noting that the development would support up to approximately 80 jobs.

Highway Safety and Convenience - | note the comments from local residents with
regard to highways concerns, but have to acknowledge that this is anecdotal evidence
which is not supported by the views expressed by KCC Highways and Transportation.
Much as | have every sympathy with the concerns of local residents, in this matter |
must take the expert advice of the Highway Authority responsible for the A299 and the
other roads in the vicinity of the site.

| also acknowledge concerns raised that many drivers, if going to Canterbury, might
choose to drive via Dargate Road, Fox’s Cross Hill and Fox’s Cross Road. However,
it is far more likely that HGVs and delivery vehicles would be travelling either east
towards the coast, or west towards London. Nonetheless, even assuming that some
drivers will need to go to Canterbury from the site, unless they have local knowledge
of the nearby roads system, it seems unlikely that this will have a significant detrimental
impact on road safely and amenity. My own satellite navigation, when on site and
programmed for a location in Canterbury, gave a route along the Thanet Way and onto
the A2, not via the rural lanes.

Residential Amenity - With regard to the effect of the proposal on residential amenity,
I note that the nearest property to the site is situated approximately 120 metres away.
Bearing in mind that the dual-carriageway Thanet Way is a similar distance away from
these dwellings, | consider it unlikely that the proposal, if approved, would increase
any instance of noise issues. The main residential amenity issues raised are traffic
issues which would have a knock-on effect on residential amenity; this issue is
considered in the previous two paragraphs.

Members will also note that the Environmental Protection Team Leader raises no
objection.

It should also be noted that there are a number of nearby sites which have industrial
units on them for heavy and light industry, storage and distribution, etc. This suggests
that the immediate area is a suitable area to provide such commercial sites, supporting
local businesses and encouraging enterprise, probably due to the excellent transport
links provided.

Moving onto the issue of visual amenity, it should be noted that Officers have held
extensive negotiations with the applicants and their agent in order to achieve a well-

126
Page 138



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.3

8.09

8.10

8.11

9.0

9.01

10.0

designed scheme, with a good level of landscaping both softening and screening the
development visually. It is difficult to produce visually pleasing industrial units, but the
applicant has taken pains to amend the proposal to show modest units, with suitable
cladding options, and with a conscious effort to visually break blank elevations by the
insertion of windows.

I note the comments received from a local resident noting that there are already cafes
at both of the nearby petrol stations, but the proposed truckstop, with its commensurate
parking for HGVs, is likely to attract a different clientele from the cafes (lorry drivers,
delivery drivers, etc.), and would thus not be detrimental to their commercial viability.
In any event, this is a not an issue upon which the application could be determined.

As such, | am of the opinion that the proposal, if approved, will bring benefits far in
excess of any detrimental impact of the scheme, which | consider to be minor. The
preamble to Policy CP1 of Bearing Fruits 2031 — The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017
notes at paragraph 5.1.14 that ‘priority locations’ for appropriate sites for employment
include those which are ‘well related to either the A249, A2, Sittingbourne Northern
Relief Road or A299 Thanet Way’. The applicant estimates that 80 new jobs wold be
created by the proposal, which further supports the aims of Policy CP1 in supporting
the local economy and creating new jobs for the area. Similarly, Policy DM3 (the rural
economy) states that ‘planning permission will be granted for the sustainable growth
and expansion of business and enterprise in the rural area.” As such, | am of the
opinion that the proposal is in full accord with both the NPPF and the adopted Local
Plan.

Ecology — It is important that ecological gain is an aspect of any permission granted.
The detailed planting scheme submitted, with the inclusion of native species is an
important aspect of this gain. However, to ensure that an ecological gain for the site is
obtained, | have included a condition below.

CONCLUSION

As such, | recommend that the proposal be approved, subject to the conditions set out
below, and subject to the further views of KCC Highways and Transportation, and
Highways England, and to any further comments from 3™ parties or the Parish Council.

RECOMMENDATION — GRANT Subject to conditions as set out below, and the further
comments of consultees and 3" parties as described above:

CONDITIONS

(1)

(2)

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved drawings:

1564.001E; 1564.002A; 1564.003C; 1564.004A; 1564.005B; 1564.006A; 1564.007B;
1564.008A; 1564.009B; 1564.010A; 1564.011B; 1564.012A; 1564.013B; 1564.014A;
1564.015B; 1564.016C; 1564.017C; 1564.019; and 5224-L L B-XX-XX-DR-L-0001-S3-
PO1.

127
Page 139



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.3

3)

(4)

®)

(6)

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt, and in the interests of proper planning.

No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details
in the form of samples of external finishing materials to be used in the construction of
the development hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority, and works shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

No floodlighting, security lighting or other external lighting shall be installed or operated
at the site, other than in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include:

A statement of why lighting is required, the proposed frequency of the use and the
hours of illumination.

A site plan showing the area to be lit relative to the surrounding area, indicating parking
or access arrangements where appropriate, and highlighting any significant existing or
proposed landscape or boundary features.

Details of the number, location and height of the lighting columns or other fixtures.
The type, number, mounting height and alignment of the luminaries.

The beam angles and upwards waste light ratio for each light.

An isolux diagram showing the predicted illuminance levels at critical locations on the
boundary of the site and where the site abuts residential properties.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and the residential amenities of occupiers of
nearby dwellings.

No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The approved
Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall
provide for:

i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors

ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials

iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development

iv. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate

v. wheel washing facilities

vi. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction

vii. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and
construction works

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and highway safety and
convenience.

No construction work in connection with the development shall take place on any
Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except between the following times:

Monday to Friday 0730 — 1900 hours, Saturdays 0730 — 1300 hours unless in
association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

128
Page 140



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.3

(7)

(8)

©)

(10)

No impact pile driving in connection with the construction of the development shall take
place on the site on any Saturday, Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor any other day except
between the following times:-

Monday to Friday 0900-1700hours unless in association with an emergency or with
the written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

Development shall not begin in any phase until a detailed sustainable surface water
drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the
local planning authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall be based upon the
Surface Water Management Strategy incorporating a Flood Risk Assessment (October
2018) by RMB Consultants. The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate that the
surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall durations and intensities
up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be
accommodated and disposed of at an agreed discharge rate without increase to flood
risk on or off-site. The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate (with reference to
published guidance):

[ that silt and pollutants resulting from the site use can be adequately managed to
ensure there is no pollution risk to receiving waters.

[1 appropriate operational, maintenance and access requirements for each drainage
feature or SuDS component are adequately considered, including any proposed
arrangements for future adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker.

The drainage scheme shall then be implemented in accordance with the approved
details.

Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the
disposal of surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the
risk of on/off site flooding. These details and accompanying calculations are required
prior to the commencement of the development as they form an intrinsic part of the
proposal, the approval of which cannot be disaggregated from the carrying out of the
rest of the development.

No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the
development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Verification Report pertaining
to the surface water drainage system, carried out by a suitably qualified professional,
has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority which demonstrates the suitable
modelled operation of the drainage system such that flood risk is appropriately
managed, as approved by the Lead Local Flood Authority. The Report shall contain
information and evidence (including photographs) of earthworks; details and locations
of inlets, outlets and control structures; extent of planting; details of materials utilised
in construction including subsoil, topsoil, aggregate and membrane liners; full as built
drawings; topographical survey of ‘as constructed’ features; and an operation and
maintenance manual for the sustainable drainage scheme as constructed.

Reason: To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those risks to controlled waters,
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed
is compliant with and subsequently maintained pursuant to the requirements of
paragraph 165 of the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018).

The scheme of tree planting and landscaping shown on the submitted Planting Plan
numbered 5224-LL B-XX-XX-DR-L-0001-S3-P01shall be carried out within 12 months
of the completion of the development. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being

129
Page 141



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.3

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(19)

(16)

(17)

severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five years of planting shall
be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as may be agreed in writing
with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.

The trees shown on the plans hereby approved as "existing trees to be retained" shall
be retained and maintained. Any trees removed, dying, being severely damaged or
becoming seriously diseased within five years of the date of this permission shall be
replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as may be agreed with the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

The units hereby permitted shall be used for the purpose of offices, research and
development, light or general industrial uses; or storage and distribution, and for no
other purpose, including any other purposes in Classes B1, B2 or B8 of the Schedule
to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area.

The truckstop/café building hereby permitted shall be used for the purposes of a café
only and for no other purpose, including any other purposes in Class A3 of the
Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area.

Notwithstanding Section 55 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
no additional floor space in the form of a mezzanine floor shall be provided within units
1-34 of the development hereby approved.

Reason: In order to reduce the potential for the intensification of use of the site and in
the interests of residential amenity and highway safety in accordance.

The area shown on the submitted plan as loading, off-loading and parking space shall
be used for or be available for such use at all times when the premises are in use and
no development, whether permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking
or re-enacting that Order) or not, shall be carried out on that area of land or in such a
position as to preclude vehicular access to this reserved area; such land and access
thereto shall be provided prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted.

Reason: Development without adequate provision for the parking, loading or off-
loading of vehicles is likely to lead to parking inconvenient to other road users.

No external storage of parts, equipment, raw materials or products shall take place
within the site.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

No development shall take place until details in the form of cross-sectional drawings
through the site showing existing and proposed site levels and finished floor levels
have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall then be completed strictly in accordance with those approved
details.

130
Page 142



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.3

Reason: In order to secure a record of existing site levels and to ensure a satisfactory
form of development having regard to the sloping nature of the site,

(18) The buildings hereby approved shall be constructed to BREEAM ‘Good’ Standard or
an equivalent standard and prior to the use of the buildings the relevant certification
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority confirming that the required standard
has been achieved.

Reason: In the interests of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable development.

(19) Prior to the use hereby approved commencing, a Biodiversity Enhancement
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved details shall be implemented and thereafter
maintained.

Reason: To ensure that there is a net gain in biodiversity.

Informatives

(1) The following advice is provided by Kent Police:
1. Wave kerbs can be installed to deflect potential of vehicles parking on them and
potentially blocking access routes or causing nuisance.
2. The pedestrian routes between units 4 and 5, 11-14 and 15-18 and 23-28 and 29-
34 should all be gated at both ends to help maintain security.
3. Vehicle parking for each unit inc. visitor spaces to be allocated.
4. Lighting and CCTV: a plan for both is essential to meet security needs without
causing light pollution. CCTV Monitors to be on live feed in the café, reception and rest
areas.
5. Access Control — Essential to all commercial units and the whole café block.
6. An option for security staff 24/7 was suggested by the agent but no details to date.
If an ATM is to be installed, then we would comment further.
7. Doorsets (including rear doors), roller shutter doors, windows and glazing to meet
SBD Commercial standards.
10. Alarms to be fitted to the commercial unit rear doors and a panic alarm should be
installed at the reception.

If the points above are not addressed, they can affect the development and have a
knock on effect for the future services and local policing.

(2) A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in order
to service this development, please contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House,
Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or
www.southernwater.co.uk. Please read our New Connections Services Charging
Arrangements documents which has now been published and is available to read on
our website via the following link:
https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructurecharges

Council’s Approach to this Application

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July
2018 the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused

131
Page 143



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.3

on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a
pre-application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants/ agents of any issues that may arise in the
processing of their application.

In this instance;

Amendments and additional information were submitted by the applicant; and the application
was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had the opportunity to
speak to the Committee and promote the application.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

132
Page 144



Planning Committee Report - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.3

Y
+ Land Off Thanet Way - 18/506384/FULL Vo ASTUN
Scale: 1:1250 alIN TeChnoLoGY
Frinkad on: 21/52019 at 10:52 AM by Josaphh B Astun Technology Ltd

133
Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

2.4 REFERENCE NO - 18/502735/FULL

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Erection of a new supermarket (Use Class A1) and a hotel (Use Class C1) along with
associated accesses, car and cycling parking, lighting, drainage, hard and soft landscaping and
associated infrastructure.

ADDRESS Land At Perry Court Ashford Road Faversham Kent ME13 8YA

RECOMMENDATION - Grant subject to completion of a S106 Agreement and submission of
an amended plan to improve the area available for landscaping within the site of the retail unit.

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

e The site forms part of a strategic mixed use development site as allocated under policy
MUY of the local plan.

e The principle of a hotel has already been established through the grant of outline
permission

e The impact of the retail unit has been assessed and found to be acceptable
e The scale and design of the development is considered to be acceptable.

¢ The scheme would not result in unacceptable impacts upon the highway subject to
financial contributions to mitigate impacts at the A2 / A251 and at Brenley Corner

e Other localised impacts have been assessed and found to be acceptable.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE

The application has been referred to committee by Clir David Simmonds on the basis that the
retail store is much larger than was proposed under the outline permission and would have
significantly more impact on local residents, that he has concerns over the capacity of the A2 /
A251 junction and air quality issues, and regarding shopper / staff car parking and daily
deliveries, including Sunday disturbance.

WARD Watling PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL APPLICANT HDD (Faversham)
Faversham Town Limited And Premier Inn Hotels
Limited
AGENT Pegasus Planning
Group
DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
06/09/18 25/02/19

Planning History

15/504264/0OUT - Outline application (with all matters reserved other than access into the
site) for a mixed use development comprising: up to 310 dwellings; 11,875sqm of B1a
floorspace; 3,800sgm of B1b floorspace; 2,850sgm of B1c floorspace; a hotel (use class
C1)(up to 3,250sgm) of up to 100 bedrooms including an ancillary restaurant; a care home
(use class C2)(up to of 3,800sqm) of up to 60 rooms including all associated ancillary
floorspace; a local convenience store (use class A1) of 200sgm; 3 gypsy pitches: internal
accesses; associated landscaping and open space; areas of play; a noise attenuation bund
north of the M2; vehicular and pedestrian accesses from Ashford Road and Brogdale Road;
and all other associated infrastructure — Approved 27.03.17

134
Page 147



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

17/506603/REM - Approval of reserved matters relating to scale, layout, appearance and
landscaping for the erection of 310 dwellings, pursuant to conditions 1, 4, 10 and 24 of

outline planning permission 15/504264/OUT. Approval sought for residential part of outline
scheme only - Approved 01.03.2019

18/500815/ENVSCR - EIA Screening Opinion for a Mixed use Local Centre Development —
EIA not required (decision made by the Secretary of State) 20/06/18

18/503057 - Erection of a 3 storey, 66 bed care home for older people with associated
access, car park and landscaping - Pending Consideration.

1.01

1.02

1.03

1.04

1.05

1.06

2.01

2.02

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

The application site consists of two parcels of land of just under 2 hectares in area,
located on the west side of Ashford Road. The land is raised above the level of Ashford
Road, by up to 2 metres, and is partially screened by existing hedging.

The land was formerly part of larger agricultural fields, and forms part of the wider Perry
Court development site as allocated under Policy MU7 of the adopted Local Plan. This
wider land benefits from outline permission for a large scale development under
application 15/504264/0OUT, and from reserved matters approval for residential
development of 310 units on a large part of the site (ref 17/506603/REM).

As part of this existing permission, a new roundabout and access point into the site has
been formed from Ashford Road, which has resulted in some re-grading of land levels
and removal of hedging.

The two land parcels subject to this application site are sited on either side of this new
access point.

The application site is surrounded to the north, south and west by the land allocated for
development under Policy MU7 of the Local Plan. Under the terms of the outline
permission and reserved matters approvals, this land would form part of the residential
development to the west and north. The land to the south has approval under the outline
permission for a business park, although to date there has been no reserved matters
application for this.

A line of existing detached dwellings are located on the eastern side of Ashford Road
and face towards the application site.

PROPOSAL
The application seeks planning permission to erect a supermarket and hotel on the site.

The proposed supermarket would be sited on the southern parcel of land, and would
consist of a roughly rectangular shaped building of 1,725 sgm gross floor area, with a
1,254 sgm net sales area. The building would be single storey, under a mono-pitched
roof and would range between 5.5m and 8.5m in height. The footprint would measure
63m x 30m. The building would be mainly finished in brickwork and composite cladding,
with a Brise Soleil detail around the main entrance.

135
Page 148



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

2.03

2.04

2.05

2.06

4.01

4.02

4.03

The building would be sited towards the southern end of the site and the main elevation
would face north, towards the main access road leading from the new roundabout into
the Perry Court development. A 124 space car park would be provided, the majority of
which would be to the front (north) of the building. The layout also includes areas of
landscaping and footpaths to the south and east (adjacent to Ashford Road), which
would tie in with footpath routes and connections approved within the wider Perry Court
development site.

The proposed hotel would be sited on the north parcel of land. The building would be
roughly rectangular in shape and would be over three storeys — with a maximum height
of approximately 11.1 metres (excluding lift shaft). The building would measure 65m in
length, and up to 22m in depth. The building would contain 84 bedrooms, a main
reception area and a bar / restaurant facility. The overall floor area of the hotel would be
approximately 3000sgm.

The building has been designed in a contemporary style, broken down into three main
sections. Each section is articulated to provide slight variations in height. The main
elevational treatment of the building would be in brick and timber-style cladding. The
cladding is used to frame each section of the building.

The building would be sited close to the southern boundary of the site, next to the
proposed access road into the wider development. The car park to the hotel would be
sited to the rear of the building and would accommodate 85 parking spaces.

PLANNING CONSTRAINTS
Within built confines of Faversham
Part of site allocation Policy MU7

A High Pressure Gas Pipe is located to the south of the proposed retail unit.

POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) — paragraphs 2 (determination of
applications), 7 (sustainable development), 8 (the three objectives of sustainable
development), 10 (presumption in favour of sustainable development), 54-57 (use of
conditions and planning obligations), 80 (building a strong economy), 85-90 (ensuring
the vitality of town centres), 108-111 (sustainable transport), 117-121 (Making effective
use of land), 124-131 (good design), 149-154 Planning for climate change, 155-165
(flood risk and drainage), 174-177 (biodiversity)

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG). The following guidance documents are
of relevance - Air Quality, Climate Change, Design, Determining a Planning Application,
Ensuring the vitality of town centres, Planning Obligations, Transport evidence bases in
plan making and decision taking, Travel plans, Transport Assessments and Statements,
Use of Planning Conditions.

Development Plan: Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017:
Policy MU7 of the Local Plan is relevant insofar that it is a specific site allocation policy

for the wider parcel of land at Perry Court, which this application forms a part of. The
policy is copied in full below.

136
Page 149



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

Planning permission will be granted for a mixed use development at Perry Court Farm,
Faversham, as shown on the Proposals Map, to include a minimum of 370 dwellings
(inc. care home), together with 18,525 sq. m of B1a, B1b, B1c class employment uses
(with a further 2 ha reserved for future employment use), supporting uses and
landscaping and open space. Development proposals will:

1. Be in accordance with Policy CP 4 and in particular demonstrate and provide a strong
landscape framework (shown by a submitted Landscape Strategy and Landscape and
Ecological Management Plan, informed by a landscape and visual impact assessment)
to include:

a. substantial width of woodland planting along the site boundary with the M2, which
shall additionally safeguard the setting of the Kent Downs AONB;

b. additional substantial areas of woodland planting and green space e.g. community
orchards and allotments, within the south western quarter of the site near Brogdale
Road;

c. retained, managed and enhanced hedgerows and shelterbelts;

d. footpath and cycle path routes within green corridors linked to the adjacent network;
and

e. planting selected to reinforce the local landscape character area.

2. Be of high quality design, with building siting, form, height and materials related to the
existing built form and topography of the site and the surrounding context and to include
consideration of:

a. the setting of landscape and heritage assets;

b. the rural approaches to the town; and

c. building heights demonstrating they have been influenced by, and show respect for,
views from the south.

3. Provide for a mix of housing in accordance with Policy CP 3, including provision for
affordable housing in accordance with Policy DM 8;

4. Through both on and off site measures, ensure that any significant adverse impacts
on European sites through recreational pressure is mitigated in accordance with Policies
CP 7 and DM 28, including a financial contribution towards the Strategic Access
Management and Monitoring Strategy;

5. Submit a detailed Heritage Assessment to consider the significance of the impact of
development at the local level on the heritage setting of the town and other heritage
assets in accordance with policies DM 32-DM 33. An archaeological assessment should
consider the importance of the site and, if necessary propose mitigation in accordance
with DM 34;

6. Provide the majority of B1 class employment floorspace as B1a (offices). Employment
uses other than B1 will not be permitted unless it is clearly shown that B1 uses would
not be achievable.

Proposals for alternative employment uses must demonstrate they would not diminish
the quality of the development, whilst proposals for main town centre uses will need to
be the subject of an impact assessment;

7. Undertake an Air Quality Assessment to ensure that the Ospringe AQMA is not
compromised, with, if necessary, the use of innovative mitigation measures;

8. Submit a Noise Assessment and implement any mitigation arising;

9. Be supported by a Transport Assessment to determine the need and timing for any
improvements to the transport network and the phasing of development. Development
shall undertake such mitigation as necessary which shall include:

a. interim improvements at Junction 7 of the M2;

b. improvements to the junctions of the A2/A251 and to the A2/Brogdale Road;

c. pedestrian and cycling routes;

d. public transport enhancements to improve links to the town centre; and

e. implementation of an agreed travel Plan; and

137
Page 150



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

4.04

4.05

4.06

5.01

5.02

10. Provide infrastructure needs arising from the development, including those matters
identified by the Local Plan Implementation and Delivery Schedule, in particular those
relating to libraries, education and health.

The supporting text to the policy states that “The impact of locating main town centre
uses, such as offices, leisure and retail development may require the submission of an
impact assessment in accordance with Policy DM 2, but it is the Council's view that
larger scale retail and leisure development is unlikely to be acceptable due to adverse
impacts on the town centre.”

Policy DM2 relates specifically to proposals for main town centre uses. This includes
both retail and hotel development as is proposed under this application. The policy states
that proposals for main town centre uses will be permitted subject to —

1. Taking into account the scale and type of development proposed in relation to the
size, role and function of the centre,

2. Being located within the town centres as defined on the Proposals Map; or

3. Where demonstrated that a town centre site is not available, being located on a site
on the edge of a town centre, subject to criteria 4a to 4c; or

4. Where demonstrated that there are no suitable sites available at locations within 2.
and 3. above, proposals elsewhere within the built-up areas of Faversham, Sheerness
and Sittingbourne, as shown on the Proposals Map will only be permitted if:

a. it is demonstrated by an impact assessment (when the proposal is above the defined
floorspace threshold in national planning policy) that it would not individually, or
cumulatively with those trading or proposed, undermine the vitality and viability of
existing town centres, or of other local centres and the facilities and services of other
locations;

b. it does not materially prejudice the provision of other land uses, particularly the supply
of land for 'B' use class uses, housing, community use and open space; and

c. it is well located in relation to the main road network and easily accessible by public
transport, pedestrians and cyclists.

Other relevant policies are ST1 (Delivering sustainable development), ST7 (The
Faversham Area Strategy), CP1 (Building a strong economy), CP2 (Sustainable
transport), CP4 (good design), DM6 (Managing Transport Demand),DM7 (vehicle
parking), DM14 (general Development criteria)), DM19 (sustainable design), DM28
(biodiversity),

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

This process has included sending notification letters to nearby neighbouring properties,
display of a site notice and advertisement of the application in a local paper.

Following this, 21 letters of objection have been received (some multiple letters from the

same household), raising the following matters —

Overlooking / lack of privacy

Additional traffic generated (including cumulative impacts)

Impact upon the A251 / A2 / Mall Junction

Creation of noise, smells and disturbance arising from commercial uses

Impact of additional traffic on air quality (including cumulative development

impacts)

The convenience store permitted under the outline scheme is now a supermarket

o The supermarket will be open for long hours with associated noise, disturbance
and pollution.

e A supermarket is not needed in Faversham

138
Page 151



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

No significant mitigation of traffic on the A251 is proposed

The location would force people to drive to the supermarket

Impact of deliveries to the supermarket at unsociable times

No need for a hotel in Faversham

The hotel will be a four-storey building and will cause significant privacy issues.
The size and scale of the hotel would be out of keeping with the area

Small hotels in the area could go out of business

The additional traffic and impacts on the A251 will affect the operation of the Fire
and Ambulance Services stationed on Ashford Road and Canterbury Road
Ecological [ screening impacts through removal of hedgerows and trees
Cumulative impacts arising from wider development of Perry Court

The height difference of the hotel is exacerbated by the higher land levels of the
site

There is still no resolution in place to upgrade the A2 / A251 junction

Light pollution

Impact on the Ospringe AQMA

Loss of agricultural land

Lack of crossing point on the A2

The development would compromise any future proposals to create a bypass
The highway network is already over capacity

The original outline indicated the hotel would be lower than now proposed
Disturbance from the hotel if a licence is granted

Lack of screening on Ashford Road frontage

Impact on drainage

The walking / cycling experience on Ashford Road is not safe / pleasant
Objections raise by residents are ignored

Additional HGV movements arising from the supermarket operation

This will encourage people to park on the A251 verges

Impacts of signage and illumination

Restrictions should be placed to prevent removal of trolleys from the site

Noise impacts from hotel users

Noise impacts from use of hotel car park at unsociable hours

Development on the site will be greater than as approved at outline stage.
Existing modern buildings in Faversham do not enhance the town, and the
modern buildings proposed will not do so either

Lack of any proposals to utilise solar energy

The building designs are not in keeping with the area in a key visual location at
the entrance to the town

Lack of EV charging points

The design is generic, with no local influence

The amended plans do not improve the quality of the proposed buildings.
Impact of an out of town supermarket on the town centre

The applications should be considered against other approved and current
applications at Perry Court

5.03 A letter has been received from the Faversham Society which states (summarised)

The supermarket scheme should be supported as it would provide an alternative
type to other supermarkets in Faversham and is located close to approved new
developments in the town.

The standardised hotel design is disappointing and more attention should be
paid to local materials and roof forms. The location of the hotel is appropriate.

139
Page 152



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

5.04 Two letters have been received from Peacock Smith Solicitors, acting for Morrisons

6.01

6.02

6.03

supermarket, and a letter received from MRPP Planning Consultants acting for Tesco.
They object to the application on the following grounds —

o Foodstores are already over-provided in Faversham.

e The trade diversion to the proposed Aldi store would primarily come from the
town centre, as this is where most food stores are located.

e The scheme does not address how the proposal will affect the wider
development and relationship with other land uses within Perry Court.

e The Council’s retail consultant has underestimated the impact of the proposed
Aldi supermarket on the town centre

e The Council’s retail consultant has used benchmark averages which do not
reflect the actual turnover of Morrisons, which operates at a lower turnover and
therefore the forecast impact is greater.

o The benchmark criteria is of little utility as all stores are shown to operate below
benchmark value as a result of the Aldi proposal (i.e because they start at
benchmark without it), and this fails to identify the performance of existing
stores and vulnerability to change.

e That both the Tesco and Morrisons stores are well connected to the town
centre and supports linked trips, which would be reduced if trade was diverted
to the proposed Aldi store.

e There are errors in the Carter Jonas analysis which substantially
underestimates the floorspace of Tesco.

Tesco now trades substantially below benchmark.

e |t is highly likely that other town centre convenience stores are trading below
benchmark levels

o There is no suggestion that Tesco would close, but diverted trade will have
other harmful effects, particularly a reduction in linked trips to the town centre.

e The Local Plan “does not suggest a need to support new floorspace outside
(Faversham’s) existing centre”

o Policy MUY is clear that any proposals for town centre uses on the Perry Court
site will need to be subject to an impact assessment. The applicant has
supplied this, nor has the Council undertaken an assessment that legitimately
meets this.

o The impact on the town centre will be significantly adverse.

o A full and detailed retail study (to include household surveys)

CONSULTATIONS
Faversham Town Council

Original Plans — state that they are not happy with the design and this should be referred
to the Swale Design Panel for review. Raise concern regarding traffic at the A2 / A251
junction upgrade, and that traffic modelling should be undertaken once the upgrade
decision has been taken.

Amended Plans — state that they support the changes to the proposal, and that previous
issues have been addressed, although they remain seriously concerned about the A2 /
A251 junction and seek clarification from KCC Highways on this, and are concerned with
the new roundabout on the A251 which needs further review.

KCC Highways and Transportation

Following the submission of amended / additional material KCC Highways do not raise
objection to the scheme subject to the imposition of conditions and a S106 Agreement

140
Page 153



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

6.04

6.05

6.06

6.07

to secure a financial contribution towards improvements to the A2 / Ashford Road
junction. The following comments are also made -

TRICS data demonstrates two- way AM peak movements of an additional 77 vehicles
and 150 PM peak movements.

Tracking demonstrates that a 16.5 metre long vehicle can safely service both the
proposed hotel and supermarket.

The A2 Canterbury Road / A251 Ashford Road junction is predicted to be subject to
an additional 32 AM and 66 PM movements. The junction analysis demonstrates that
the junction is exceeding capacity and without mitigation the application could not be
permitted.

The A2 London Road / B2041 The Mall junction is predicted to be subject to an
additional 15 AM and 29 PM movements.

The proposed new roundabout junction into Perry Court development would be subject
to an additional 77 AM and 150PM peak movements. The additional movements result
the junction reaching its capacity in the 2028 AM peak assessment.

Car parking for the supermarket element is two spaces over provision and the hotel is
within standards. Appropriate disability bays and cycle parking is provided. Parking
provision is therefore acceptable.

A staff travel plan has been submitted and is acceptable

As outlined in the above the A2/A251 junction exceeds its capacity in the future year
assessments. It is therefore clear that the additional 98 movements through the
junction could not be could be accepted without further works being completed. The
Highway Authority are therefore looking at a second phase of improvements that
incorporate the A2/A251 and the A2/The Mall junctions. Contributions are now being
collected for the junction at a rate of £1020 per peak hour movement through the
junctions and include both The Mall and A251 connections with the A2. A financial
contribution is therefore requested at a level of £99,660 towards Phase 2 of the
A2/A251 Faversham capacity improvement scheme.

Planning conditions are recommended relating to provision of a construction
management plan, provision / retention of parking spaces, cycle spaces and loading /
unloading facilities , completion and maintenance of the access, completion /
maintenance of visibility splays, and provision of a staff travel plan.

Highways England

Raise no objection following the submission of amendments / additional information,
on the basis that the applicant has agreed to enter into a Section 278 Agreement of
the Highways Act 1980 with Highways England for a contribution of £27,105 towards
highway works at M2 Junction 7 Brenley Corner.

Advise that the development will not materially affect the safety, reliability and/or
operation of the strategic road network (the tests set out in DfT Circular 02/2013,
particularly paragraphs 9 & 10, and DCLG NPPF particularly paragraph 109) in this
location and its vicinity.

Advise that the supermarket proposal (which was not part of the outline permission) is
likely to be over and above the ftrips calculated for the outline permission.
Cumulatively, there is likely to be a requirement for an additional contribution to offset
the impacts at Brenley Corner.

Advise that confirmation from KCC Highways should be obtained to ensure that the
scheme of improvements at the A2/A251 will be sufficient to manage the additional
demand placed upon it such that any extent of queuing south along the A251 does
adversely impact on the safe and efficient operation of M2 Junction 6.

141
Page 154



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

6.08

6.09

6.10

6.11

6.12

6.13

6.14

6.15

Environment Agency

No objection subject to conditions relating to contamination, surface water drainage or
foundation design.

Health and Safety Executive

Do not advise against the grant of planning permission. Recommends that SBC should
consider contacting the pipeline operator before deciding the case.

Scotia Gas Networks

No comments received

SBC Economy and Community Services Manager

Supports the hotel development in Faversham as it will provide additional bed spaces
and will support development of the day visitor economy in accordance with the
Council’s Visitor Economy Framework (adopted Feb 2018).

Kent Police

Advise that the application has considered crime prevention and attempted to apply
some of the attributes of CPTED in the plans. Advise that further matters relating to
the supermarket (parking, landscaping, EV points, permeability, CCTV and lighting,
use of shutters / bollards, potential for ATM installation) should be discussed or applied
via a planning condition.

Natural England

Advise they have no comments to make on the application

KCC Ecology

Raise no objection based on the ecological appraisal submitted. Advise that notable
species (including reptiles, breeding birds and badgers) have been recorded within the
wider site, and that development will need to follow a precautionary mitigation strategy.
The mitigation proposed is appropriate. Require conditions relating to bat sensitive
lighting, ecological mitigation, and ecological enhancements to the site.

KCC Drainage

Raise no objection to surface water drainage principles, but these need to be fully
modelled at detailed design stage, and a condition is recommended to deal with this.

142
Page 155



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

6.16

6.17

6.18

6.19

6.20

6.21

6.22

7.01

SBC Environmental Protection Team Manager (EPTM)
Raises no objection to the development, subject to the imposition of conditions.

In respect of air quality, the EPTM advises that the updated Air Quality Assessment is
a competent report, uses acceptable methodology (although the dispersion modelling
method is not named), and up to date guidance. It describes the Swale AQ data with
particular reference to the Ospringe AQMA and models how this development would
impact the AQMA for both NO, and PM,,, comparing it with actual monitored data and
predicting the difference. Appendix | shows that in 2019 there are predicted to be some
moderate impacts at various locations within the AQMA; the predicted impact is
compared with the methodology used in the 2017 EPUK Guidance. These would
reduce the next year 2020 but there were still predicted to be some moderate impacts,
especially near the vicinity of the Ship Inn.

The report concludes that there will not be any significant adverse impacts on the
AQMA or elsewhere as a result of this latest development. This is qualified in the
conclusion by the addition of some mitigation measures.

The EPTM advises they are pleased that mitigation measures have been included, as
there is still a prediction of some ‘moderate’ impacts in 2020 from the development and
in his opinion the measures are necessary. No objection is raised to the report,
provided that the measures outlined in paragraphs 5.34 & 5.35 are employed exactly
as written. This will mean employing a person to act as a travel plan co-ordinator and
there will need to be a sufficient number of electric charging points at the locations
described in the final paragraph of 5.34.

The EPTM is satisfied that impacts relating to noise and operation of the service yard
can be suitably controlled by condition, and recommends a condition requiring details
of any plant or ventilation equipment.

UK Power Networks

Advise that the proposed development is in close proximity to a substation and could
be notifiable under the Part Wall Act. Advise that substations should be a minimum of
7 metres (if enclosed) from living / bedroom accommodation to avoid noise / vibration,
that 24 hr access to a substation has to be maintained.

Southern Water

Advise that foul sewage disposal can be provided to service the proposed
development.

BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

The application includes the following documents: Planning statement, Design and
Access statement, Landscape and Visual Appraisal, Arboricultural Assessment,
Ecological Appraisal, Flood Risk Assessment, Retail Statement, Staff Travel Plan,
Transport Statement. The applicant has also provided written responses to the Carter
Jonas retail statement, the Council’'s new Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment, and
the objections received on behalf of Tesco and Morrisons.

143
Page 156



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

8.

8.01

8.02

8.03

8.04

8.05

8.06

APPRAISAL

Principle of Development

The site is located within the built confines of Faversham under Policy ST3 of the Local
Plan, and as designated through the allocation of the wider site for development under
Policy MUY of the Local Plan.

The wider site also benefits from permission for a mixed use development on the site
under 15/504264/0OUT, incorporating 310 dwellings, a care home, a hotel development
of up to 100 bedrooms and 3250 sgm (with ancillary restaurant), B1 employment land,
and a local convenience store. Reserved matters for the housing development has
been granted under 17/506603/REM.

The land parcels subject to this application were indicatively shown to be allocated for
use as a care home and hotel development on the parameter plans submitted with the
outline application in 2015. The parameter plans set out indicative building heights of
11 metres and Gross Floor space of 3,800 sqm for the care home and 3,200 sgm for
the hotel. It remains an option for the developer to bring forward development of these
parcels in accordance with the outline permission as an alternative to this application
now sought.

The care home is now proposed on land elsewhere within the wider Perry Court site.
This is subject to a separate application which is currently under consideration
(18/503057/FULL). The potential use of this land for the care home, and layout of the
residential development as approved under the reserved matters means that a further
parcel has been identified by the developer to accommodate a supermarket over and
above the quantum of development originally approved at outline stage.

Whilst the land is currently undeveloped former agricultural land (albeit that site access
works and preparatory works for wider development of the site have been undertaken),
it is clear from the allocation of the site for development in the Local Plan, and from the
planning permissions granted on the site and wider surroundings, that development is
accepted in principle.

In my opinion, the key issues relate to the following matters —

e The proposal for a supermarket (rather than a local convenience store) on the
site and the implications of this, including the effect on the town and other
centres, traffic impacts, local impacts, and the ability for the wider Perry Court
site to be developed under the framework of Policy MU7. Members will note that
Policy MU7 does allow for a mixed use development to come forward, and
criteria 6 of the policy explains that proposals for main town centre uses will
need to be subject to an impact assessment. As such this policy does not
prohibit a retail use as a matter of principle, but sets tests against which such
use should be considered.

e | consider the principle of a hotel to be acceptable at Perry Court as this was
permitted under the outline scheme. The hotel as now proposed would fall well
within the parameters for a hotel as set under the outline permission. The
provision of a hotel would help promote the Borough’s visitor economy and

144
Page 157



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

8.07

8.08

8.09

8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

deliver economic benefits.  In my opinion, the main issues for consideration
in relation to the hotel are those of scale, design, and relationship with
surrounding buildings, rather than matters of principle.

As the site is both allocated for development and benefits from permission , matters
such as loss of countryside and loss of best and most versatile agricultural land do not
carry weight in the determination of this application.

Retail Impact

Both the NPPF and the Local Plan policy DM2 seek to protect the vitality and viability
of town centres. As part of this process, proposals for main town centre uses should
follow a sequential test and (where necessary) include a retail impact assessment to
establish the effect of a retail development on the vitality and viability of a centre. Policy
DM2 uses the NPPF threshold that a retail impact assessment should be provided if
the development exceeds 2,500sgm of gross floorspace.

In respect of the hotel element of this scheme (which is also a main town centre use
and normally subject to the sequential test), | am satisfied that this was explored and
found to be acceptable under the outline permission granted. As this could still be
implemented on the site under a reserved matters application for a hotel of up to 100
bedrooms, | do not consider that the hotel now proposed (at 84 bedrooms) needs to
be tested again under an impact assessment..

As the retail unit would be under 2,500 sgm, there is no requirement for the applicant
to submit a retail impact assessment under policy DM2 or the NPPF.  Whilst policy
MU7 of the Local Plan specifies that proposals for town centre uses will need to be
subject to an impact assessment, the supporting text to this policy states that such a
requirement should be in accordance with Policy DM2. As such | am satisfied that the
requirement under MU7 is not more onerous than that under DM2, as has been
suggested by the consultant acting for Tesco.

However, although the threshold is not met to require an applicant to provide a retail
impact assessment, the Council should still consider the impact of a retail development
on the town centre (or other centres) further.

The application includes a retail statement which firstly sets out that the sequential and
impact tests are not required as the provision of a local centre is supported under Policy
MU?7 of the Local Plan. However | would disagree with this approach in respect of the
sequential test. The supporting text to Policy MU7 (para 6.6.108) makes clear that any
large scale retail facility on the site is unlikely to be acceptable (although subject to a
RIA, and | consider the proposal to go well beyond the local convenience offer (200
sqm) as approved under the outline permission.

Notwithstanding this, the retail statement then proceeds to provide a sequential test
and compares the scheme to a range of selected town centre, edge of centre and out
of centre sites. These are (in part) assessed against the locational criteria of the
application site, being 900m south of the defined town centre boundary and 1.1km from
the primary shopping area. The report then discounts a list of potential alternative sites
in Faversham, which include the following —

145
Page 158



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

8.18

e Town Centre — Faversham Post Office and depot, 9 existing vacant units in the
town centre. These were discounted on the basis that the post office site was
still in use and unavailable, and too small in size to accommodate the Aldi store,
and the existing vacant units were far too small (between 40 — 250 sgm) to
accommodate the development.

e Edge of centre (within 300m of Primary Shopping Area) — Buildings at West
Street (unavailable and too small in size), Car Park, Institute Rd (still operational
and limited in size), Tesco car park (unavailable, too small, commercially
unviable), Faversham Leisure centre / Theatre car park (unavailable, too small),
Queens Hall Car Park (well used / unavailable, too small).

e Qut of Centre — Oare Gravelworks (formally allocated but with no retail element
included. Not as accessible or well connected with poorer road connections and
greater distance to the Primary Shopping Area). Land East of Love Lane
(formally allocated, permission granted for other uses, not as accessible / well
connected to the town centre)

This has been further reviewed by my colleagues and the conclusion reached that we
are satisfied that there are no other sequentially preferable sites available. | am
therefore satisfied that the scheme meets the sequential test parameters.

Notwithstanding that the retail unit falls under the threshold for an applicant to provide
a retail impact assessment, such smaller developments may still result in impacts
existing centres. A retail consultant was initially employed by the Council to establish
whether this was likely, and gave advice that the development could result in trade
diversion both from Faversham and, to a lesser degree, from Sittingbourne. Following
this initial advice, the consultant then undertook a retail impact assessment on behalf
of the Council to establish the likely effects of such trade diversion.

The consultant forecast that there would be trade draw from Faversham town centre,
and particularly the existing Tesco and Morrisons supermarket. This forecasting was
primarily based on “benchmark” trading data, as the Council’s own data contained
within its Town Centre Study dated back to 2010 and was out of date. The consultant
forecast trade diversion to be in the region of 11% from the wider convenience offer in
the town centre, and 12% from the Tesco and Morrisons stores, advised that this was
a cause for concern but concluded that the proposal would be unlikely to seriously
undermine the viability of these stores resulting in their potential closure and a
consequent significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of Faversham Town
Centre as a whole.

The Council subsequently received objections from consultants acting for existing
supermarkets in Faversham, as summarised in paragraph 5.04 above. The main
concern relating to the development and the retail report was that these stores are
trading well under benchmark levels — and that as such the retail impact would be
greater than forecast. Alternatively, the applicant’s agent raised concern that predicted
trading for the proposed Aldi store was overestimated, and that the turnover for the
Tesco store was underestimated as it did not factor in an extension to the premises.

In the meantime, the Council has been undertaking a review of its Town Centre Study

(2010) as part of the Local Plan process, and commissioned WYG Planning

146
Page 159



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

8.19

8.20

8.21

8.22

8.23

consultants to undertake such work. An updated Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment
(RLNA) was produced and reported to the Local Plan Panel in March. The report
provides up to date information and data on the health of existing centres, and the
trading performance of existing convenience stores. For Faversham, the report
concludes that the town centre displays good levels of vitality and viability, is well
represented by convenience goods provision, vacancy levels are below national
average, and the town centre is attractive with a good standard of environmental
quality. The report does not identify a need for additional convenience floorspace in
the town during the plan period.

Given the production and publishing of this report, it has been considered necessary
to carry out a further review of the retail impact, based on consideration of the updated
assessment. As WYG Planning consultants undertook the Borough-wide assessment,
they have been employed to re-review the impact of this development. This report (the
WYG report) recognises that existing stores are trading below benchmark level (as set
out in the RNLA), but states that this does not necessarily mean that such stores are
not viable or vulnerable to the opening of new stores. The WYG report also sets out
that the lower turnover of the proposed Aldi store, as set out by the applicant’s
consultant, is consistent with the Aldi Sales density set out in the RLNA.

The WYG report agrees that trade for the new Aldi store will be drawn substantially
from other “discounter stores” such as Aldi in Sittingbourne and Whitstable (both 15%
of the predicted turnover for the proposed store), but also from Tesco in Faversham
town centre (15%), and Morrisons (edge of centre) 10%.

The WYG report then compares the effect of such trade diversion from existing stores,
and the likely reduction in the annual turnover of these stores. It focuses on Faversham
Town centre stores, but recognizes the role of Morrisons as an edge of centre store in
facilitating linked trips to the centre. The report estimates the impact on Faversham
town centre as a whole to be 5-6%, and on Morrisons to be 8%. It concludes that such
impacts would not be “significantly adverse” and that it is unlikely any existing stores
would close as a result of the Aldi proposal. This is on the basis that Aldi trades as a
“discounter retailer” and as such competitive overlap with smaller stores (such as
butchers, bakers, convenience stores, and Iceland) is low.

Subiject to conditions to limit occupation to a “discounter store” and to control the extent
of floorspace and comparison goods offer (see proposed conditions 31-35), the WYG
report considers the scheme to be acceptable when tested against the NPPF (and |
consider the same applies when tested against policy DM2) in relation to the retail
impact tests, with no significant impacts arising, provided the above conditions are
attached.

Overall, | am satisfied that there are no sequentially preferable sites for the retail
development, and that the principle of a hotel development has been accepted through
the grant of outline permission which includes a hotel of up to 100 rooms on the wider
site — and which can still be implemented. Whilst the retail impact assessment
concludes that there would be some loss of trade arising from the proposed
supermarket on Faversham town centre, the advice received from the Council’s
consultant is that this would be unlikely to result in significant adverse impacts, and in
turn | do not consider that it would undermine the vitality or viability of the Faversham
town centre or other centres. On this basis, | consider the retail impact to be acceptable
147

Page 160



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

8.24

8.25

8.26

8.27

8.28

8.29

under the terms of policy DM2 of the Local Plan and the NPPF.

Members should also note that the proposal would create employment opportunities,
and the application forecasts that 75 equivalent full time jobs would be created. The
hotel development would also be likely to increase local spending by overnight visitors.
Policy CP1 of the Local Plan seeks for development proposals to contribute towards
building a strong competitive economy, and to widen the Council’s tourism offer, and
this would contribute towards this.

Visual Impact

Policy CP4 of the Local Plan requires that development proposals should be of high
quality design, appropriate to their surroundings, deliver safe attractive places, promote
/ reinforce local distinctiveness, make safe connections and provide green corridors.
Policy MU7 states that development of Perry Court should demonstrate a strong
landscape framework, hedge and tree planting, and provide footpath and cycle routes
within green corridors. Built form should be high quality design and relate to existing
built form and topography, rural approaches to the town and views from the south.

The proposal would form the primary building frontage into the “gateway” to the Perry
Court wide development, and as such the need for a high quality design is paramount.
Although the developer was encouraged to use the Design Panel for advice, they did
not take up this option. However | am satisfied that my officers have been able to
analyse the design impacts and negotiate design improvements to the scheme.

The principal elevations to both schemes face the primary road leading from the
roundabout on Ashford Road into the site. The buildings would be set between 17 and
30 metres from the Ashford Road frontage, and this space would be used to provide
landscaping and pedestrian footpaths that would connect through the wider Perry
Court site and onto Ashford Road. | consider this “soft” edge to the Ashford Road
frontage to be appropriate, and the footpath / cycle connections provide links through
green corridors in accordance with the policy.

The hotel building would be taller and more prominent than the retail unit, being some
11 metres in height and sited (following advice from my officers) close to the primary
road frontage into the site. This gives greater enclosure and strength to the street
scene, and gives emphasis to the built form rather than car parking, which has been
sited to the rear. The hotel follows a contemporary design, and the scale of the building
has been broken into three sections through use of different materials and slight
variations in height. The darker colour of the cladding and brickwork has been
negotiated between officers and the applicant to provide a more recessive and organic
tone to the building, on this edge-of-settlement location.

The retail unit takes a different approach, with car parking provided to the front and the
unit set back in excess of 50 metres from the primary road. The building would be lower
in height (at 8.5m) and less prominent than the hotel due to its set back into the site.
Whilst my officers would have preferred the building to be close to the primary road to
provide greater strength to the streetscene, this is not a format usually used by
convenience traders, and was not an option that the applicant was willing to follow. As
an alternative, officers are negotiating with the applicant to provide additional
landscaping to the site boundaries, and within the car park, and to agree a form of

148
Page 161



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

8.30

8.31

8.32

8.33

8.34

8.35

public art installation, to enhance the public realm. This is considered to be an
acceptable compromise.

The retail building is proposed to be occupied by Aldi, and the design does follow a
“corporate” approach in part. My officers have negotiated with the applicant to lift this
design substantially from the original submission, through the use of different materials
and provision of a corner detail at the main entrance to the building, which includes a
Brise Soleil system with beige / brown coloured louvres. The intention is that the
materials to be used for both the retail unit and hotel building are similar in appearance,
to provide some visual coherency.

The landscape approach is to provide a tree-lined “Avenue” effect on both sides of
the primary road, and to utilise similar hard and soft landscaping schemes (for the
footpaths / cyclepaths and Ashford Road frontage). This has the potential to provide
an attractive landscaped entrance to the site.

In my opinion, the larger scale of the buildings would be appropriate at the entrance to
this wider development site, and the scale and height (particularly relating to the hotel)
would not be disproportionate to other surrounding existing and proposed residential
dwellings, which are/ would be sited some 50-60 metres from these proposed
buildings. Soft landscaping, particularly on the boundary with Ashford Road, would also
soften the visual impact of the buildings. The contemporary style of the hotel with a flat
roof helps to limit the height of this building, and Members should note that at 11 metres
in height, this would be no greater than the form of development on this plot as shown
on the parameter plans submitted with the outline permission (albeit that the parameter
plans refer to two storey development). The proposed retail unit would be lower in
height than the outline parameter plans, and both buildings would be smaller in floor
area than the parameter plans. Members should also note that the outline permission
includes the provision of employment land allocated to the south of the retail unit of up
to three storeys and 12.5 metres in height.

The application includes a Landscape and Visual Impact assessment which identifies
the landscape character of the surrounding area and viewpoints of the development.
The main “rural view” of the development is from the south, and such views are limited
by landscaping, the effect of the M2 motorway, and the existing built confines of
Faversham. When taking into account the outline permission and the scale of the
development when compared to the outline parameters as described above, the
scheme is not considered to result in any significant adverse effects or any greater
effects then envisaged from the outline scheme.

Taking the above factors into account, | would conclude that the development is well
designed, that the layout provides a substantial degree of landscaping and green
corridors providing pedestrian and cycle connections, in accordance with the above
policies.

The ability to integrate a larger retail development within the Wider Perry Court scheme

The outline permission included a parameters plan that demonstrated how the
quantum of development approved under 15/504264 could be distributed through the
site. This include use of a 0.5 Ha parcel of land as a mixed use retail / residential area,
as well as parcels for employment land, a care home and hotel development.

149
Page 162



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

8.36

8.37

8.38

8.39

8.40

8.41

8.42

8.43

8.44

The residential development as approved under reserved matters application
17/506603 accommodated the 310 residential units without the need to utilise the 0.5
Ha parcel of land. The developer is seeking (under a separate application) to move the
care home onto this 0.5 Ha parcel, which in turn would enable the two parcels of land
subject to this application to be considered for retail / hotel use.

In wider layout terms, | am satisfied that the integration of a larger retail unit as now
proposed would not compromise the wider Perry Court development.

Residential Amenity

Policy DM14 of the Local Plan states that all developments should cause no significant
harm to the amenities of surrounding uses or areas.

In this instance, the closest neighbouring uses are the existing dwellings on the east
side of Ashford Road, and the new dwellings as approved within the wider Perry Court
development site.

The hotel scheme proposes a building of three storeys in height and up to 11 metres
in height. The building would be orientated to face side on to the dwellings on Ashford
Road, and the depth of the building would be up to 22 metres at ground level, and 14
metres at first and second floor level. The supermarket would be up to 8.5 metres in
height, with a flank elevation facing Ashford Road of some 30 metres in depth. Both
buildings have been designed to include a landscaped buffer area to the Ashford Road
frontage.

The buildings would be sited in the region of 55m-60m from the dwellings on the east
side of Ashford Road. In addition, due to levels changes between the site and Ashford
Road, the buildings would be raised above the level of these dwelling by around 1.5
metres. The section drawings submitted with the application indicate that the hotel
building would be some 4.5 metres taller than a typical ridge line of nearby dwellings
on Ashford Road, and the supermarket building would be some 2.6 metres taller.

The buildings would clearly be visible from these existing properties, across an existing
private road, the A251 and through the landscaped buffer. At 3 storeys in height, the
hotel development would also be taller than the indicative plans submitted with the
outline application — which showed the hotel to be a 2 storey building. However
notwithstanding this, given the considerable separation distance (in planning terms),
the intervening A251 road and the ability for some softening through landscaping, | do
not consider the buildings would cause unacceptable impacts on light, privacy or
outlook to these properties.

The new residential development within Perry Court would be located generally to the
west of the application site. This includes land subject to a current application for
development of a care home. A gap of 21 metres would be maintained between the
proposed care home building and the hotel. In amenity terms, | consider this
relationship to be acceptable.

The closest permitted dwellings on the wider Perry Court site would be to the west of
the retail unit, at a distance of 46 metres from the building. These properties would face
the retail unit and car park. Given the relatively low height and form of he retail unit, |
consider this distance to be acceptable to preserve sufficient light, privacy and outlook

150
Page 163



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

8.45

8.46

8.47

8.48

8.49

to these approved dwellings. Further residential development to the north of the hotel
would be separated by an area of public open space, and | consider this to be
acceptable.

The proposals would also attract vehicle movements over long periods of the day.
Given the function of Ashford Road as an A class road and a connection between
Faversham and the M2, | consider that any noise / disturbance generated from
customer vehicle movements and activity within car parks would be unlikely to cause
unacceptable impacts on the amenities of those properties to the east of Ashford Road.
The most trips would be generated by the retail unit, and the entrance to this would not
pass through the approved residential development to the west. Whilst noise from the
car park and activity around the retail unit in particular would most likely be evident to
those new dwellings to the west, | do not consider this to be inherently unacceptable
given the separation distances involved, and | consider that this would be taken into
account by potential occupants of the new development when considering whether to
reside in these units. In addition, | consider that at times earlier in the morning or late
at night when the premises first opens or is soon to shut, the unit is less likely to be
busy and as a result customers are more likely to park in the main car parking area to
the front of the store rather than the car park by the side, which is closest to these
residential units.

The application seeks to permit deliveries to the retail units between the hours of 06:00
to 23:00 hours, and a Delivery Management Plan has been submitted following initial
concerns raised by the Environmental Health Officer. The plan includes measures such
as no use of reversing bleepers and requirements to turn off refrigeration equipment
when vehicles are stationary. These measures are acceptable to the EHO to avoid
unacceptable impacts on surrounding properties.

Taking the above into account, there would clearly be some impacts arising from the
scheme, particularly the change in the outlook of existing properties on the east side
of Ashford Road, and in respect of the hotel the building would be larger than
indicatively shown under the outline permission. Nonetheless, as a full application
there is no reason why the proposed development has to conform to the outline
scheme. Whilst the developments are large and would be clearly visible from these
properties, given the intervening distance and presence of the A251 road, | do not
consider that this would result in unacceptable impacts that could justify a refusal in
planning terms. On this basis, | do not consider the development would be in conflict
with Policy DM14 of the Local Plan.

Highways

Policy DM6 of the Local Plan requires developments that generate significant traffic to
include a Transport Assessment with any application. Where impacts from
development on traffic generation would be in excess of the capacity of the highway
network, improvements to the network as agreed by the Borough Council and Highway
Authority will be expected. If cumulative impacts of development are severe, then the
development will be refused.

Policy DM6 also requires developments to demonstrate that opportunities for
sustainable transport modes have been taken up, and that applications demonstrate
that proposals would not worsen air quality to an unacceptable degree. Developments

151
Page 164



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

8.50

8.51

8.52

8.53

8.54

8.55

should include provision for cyclists and pedestrians, and include facilities for low
emission vehicles.

Policy MU7 of the Local Plan sets out that development of the site should include
interim improvements to J7 of the M2, improvements to the A2 / A251 and the A2 /
Brogdale Road, pedestrian and cycle routes, public transport improvements, and
implementation of an agreed travel plan.

The hotel proposal does not raise any additional highways issues beyond those
previously considered acceptable as part of the outline application for the wider site.
That application was assessed to include a hotel development of up to 100 bedrooms.
Although this is a separate application, it would effectively replace the hotel
development proposed under the outline permission, and proposes an 84 bed hotel,
which would have less traffic impacts than the modelling undertaken for the outline
scheme.

The retail proposal does raise additional highways issues, as this is a larger
development to the scheme permitted at outline stage. The application includes a
Transport Assessment (as amended) which sets out the highways implications relating
to the scheme. In this respect, KCC Highways advise that the modelling forecasts two
way AM peak movements of an additional 77 vehicles and 150 PM peak movements
on the new Perry Court Roundabout. The proposals would also result in an additional
32 AM and 66 PM movements on the Ashford Road / A2 junction, and an additional 15
AM and 29 PM movements on the A2 / Mall junction. KCC Highways advise that the
A2 / A251 junction analysis demonstrates that this junction is exceeding capacity and
that without mitigation the application could not be permitted.

This is not unsurprising as the need for improvements to this junction has already been
identified. The wider outline permission for Perry Court has secured a sum of £300,000
for this purpose and other nearby development schemes are also contributing to this.
KCC have been working on plans for either signalisation or a roundabout scheme for
this junction, although these are currently being reviewed with the aim to provide a
more comprehensive scheme with greater land-take, in order to provide greater
capacity. In order to mitigate against the traffic impacts arising from this application,
KCC Highways advise that an additional sum of £99,660 is required towards phase 2
of the junction improvement works. This will be secured via S106 Agreement. KCC
Highways will be taking a report to the Joint Transportation Board on the 24" June
which will set out the intended approach for the junction improvement.

Highways England have also identified that the retail element of the scheme will result
in traffic impacts over and above those assessed under the outline scheme. Highways
England seek a financial contribution towards improvements to Brenley Corner to
mitigate this, and a sum of £27,105 has been agreed. On this basis, Highways England
do not object to the proposal.

In terms of sustainability, the site is within walking distance from large areas of the
town, although this does need to be tempered by the likelihood that many shoppers
will use cars for ease or to carry shopping that could not be done by foot or bike.
Nonetheless, the development would provide pedestrian access onto Ashford Road
via the newly installed crossing point, and further footpath and cycle connections would
be provided through the wider Perry Court development, leading to the A2 via the
public footpath through Abbey School. In addition, | understand that part of the wider
highways mitigation proposals being considered by KCC Highways are to install a
crossing facility onto the A2, which would make the pedestrian connection to
Faversham easier and more attractive.

152
Page 165



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

8.56

8.57

8.58

8.59

8.60

8.61

8.62

8.63

The proposals both include car parks that would meet the parking requirements of
KCC.

To summarise, the proposal would lead to greater traffic generation, and both KCC
Highways and Highways England have identified that mitigation is required to deal with
such impacts. The applicant has agreed to make the necessary financial contributions
as requested to enable KCC Highways and Highways England to carry out the required
mitigation. On this basis, | consider the proposal would not cause unacceptable
highways impacts, and would accord with Policies DM6 and DM7 of the Local Plan.

Air Quality

Policy DM6 (2) (d) of the adopted Local Plan states that developments involving
significant transport movements should integrate air quality management and
environmental quality into developments and, in doing so, demonstrate that proposals
do not worsen air quality to an unacceptable degree, especially taking into account the
cumulative impact of development schemes within or likely to impact upon Air Quality
Management Areas. Paragraph 181 of the NPPF states that planning policies and
decisions should sustain and contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values
or national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality
Management Areas and Clean Air Zones, and cumulative impacts from individual sites
in local areas.

The site is not located within an Air Quality Management Area. However an AQMA is
designated at Ospringe, approximately one kilometre to the west as the crow flies (or
1.4km by road) of the site.

The applicant has submitted an air quality assessment which models the wider Perry
Court development flows with the proposed supermarket traffic, together with other
committed developments. The modelling takes into account existing base conditions
against a “maximum development flow” scenario.

The worst case nitrogen dioxide (N02) impacts arising from the development (modelled
on maximum development flows present in 2020) are classed as moderate at the
Public House on the northwest corner of the junction with Ospringe Road and at a few
other receptors at similar positions relative to London Road. However, the report states
that actual changes relative to the air quality assessment level (the AQAL) are small at
0.3 ug/m3 or less, which represents a change of only 1% relative to the AQAL. Other
modelled changes are calculated to be either slight or mainly negligible.

The reports sets out that by the time maximum development flows would be present in
practice (i.e. that the worst case 2020 scenario above will not in practice occur as all
committed development will not be built by this time), future changes to background
concentrations and emission factors indicate that all of the modelled receptors within
the AQMA would experience a negligible impact due to development traffic.

In respect of PM10 emissions (organic pollutants measuring 10 ug or less), the report
sets out that, modelled concentrations show no changes arising from the development,
that all modelled concentrations continue to lie well below the air quality objectives,
and for all receptors the significance of development is defined as negligible.

153
Page 166



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

8.64

8.65

8.66

8.67

8.68

8.69

9.01

9.02

The report states that the above effects are similar to those modelled for the original
Perry Court development that was given outline planning permission. As such the
additional/revised traffic generated by the local centre developments (the Aldi store
and the hotel) will not significantly alter the local air quality, and the effects that were
considered acceptable for approval of the Perry Court development will also be
acceptable for the local centre developments.

The Council’s Environmental Protection Team Manager accepts the results of the
report that that there will not be any significant adverse impacts on the AQMA or
elsewhere as a result of this latest development. However as some ‘moderate’ impacts
are forecast in 2020 from the development, it will be necessary to include mitigation
measures. No objection is raised subject to securing a travel plan coordinator and
electric charging points measures outlined in the AQ report.

On this basis the application is not considered to worsen air quality to an unacceptable
degree, and mitigation is provided to help offset any air quality impact. This is
considered to comply with Policy DM6 of the Local Plan and the NPPF.

Ecology

The ecological impacts of development on the wider Perry Court site have been
previously considered and found to be acceptable under the outline permission. The
KCC Ecologist advises that notable species (including reptiles, breeding birds and
badgers) have been recorded within the wider site, and that as such that development
will need to follow a precautionary mitigation strategy, which can be secured via a
planning condition, and likewise ecological enhancements.

Natural England has not identified any conflict with the protection of the Swale and
Thames Estuary SPA and Ramsar sites, and as this is not a residential development
there is no requirement to contribute towards SAMMS.

| am satisfied that, subject to this, the scheme would not cause adverse impacts on
biodiversity, and would comply with policy DM28.

CONCLUSION

This application would deliver development on a strategic site allocated for mixed use
development in the Local Plan. The scheme would essentially add a supermarket to
the quantum of development previously approved under outline permission 15/504264,
and the retail impact associated with this has been found to be acceptable, subject to
conditions to control the type of retail offer and floorspace. The proposed hotel would
be in accordance with the parameters previously agreed for such use under the outline
permission. The scheme would deliver economic benefits through additional jobs and
improvements to the tourism offer

The scale and design of the scheme are acceptable, subject to agreement on the
provision of further landscaping, and whilst the scheme would clearly change the
outlook from dwellings on Ashford Road, this would not be to an unacceptable degree.
Highways impacts are acceptable, subject to financial contributions towards identified
mitigation, and air quality impacts are not considered to be unacceptable.

154
Page 167



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

9.03 Overall, | am of the opinion that the scheme is acceptable and accords with the
development plan and the NPPF.

10.

RECOMMENDATION

Delegate to officers to GRANT permission subject to —

1)

e Completion of a S106 Agreement to secure the additional highways contributions
identified

o Submission of an amended plan to improve the extent of landscaping to the front
of the retail site and car park.

¢ and the following conditions:-

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

General

2)

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved
plans: 1416-PP Rev B, 1416-PCL Rev D, 1416-90 Rev E, 1416-300 Rev J, 1416-
301 Rev K, 1416-350 Rev D, 1416-206 Rev C, 1416-205 Rev F, 1416-201 Rev D,
1416-200 Rev H, 1416-110 Rev EE

Reason: To accord with the application, in the interests of proper planning

No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place in any
phase until details in the form of samples of external finishing materials to be used
in the construction of the development hereby approved for that phase have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and works shall
be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

No development beyond the construction of foundations for the hotel shall take place
until the following building details (drawings to be at a suggested scale of 1:5) have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
Section drawings of window frames and glazing bars, to include depth of window
reveal from the external face of the building.
Manufacturer’s colour brochure and specification details of the window product.
Section drawings of the junction between the cladding materials, brickwork and
facing materials on the elevations of the building.
A section drawing of the wall capping detail
Facing materials for the lift overrun and plant enclosure on the roof of the hotel
building.
Details of rainwater goods

The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and design quality.

155
Page 168



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

o)

The development hereby permitted shall incorporate measures to minimise the risk
of crime. No development in any phase beyond the construction of foundations shall
take place until details of such measures, according to the principles and physical
security requirements of Crime Prevention through Environmental Design (CPTED)
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved measures shall be implemented before the development is occupied and
thereafter retained.

Reasons: In the interest of Security, Crime Prevention and Community Safety

The buildings hereby approved shall be constructed to BREEAM ‘Very Good’
Standard or an equivalent standard and prior to the use of the building the relevant
design stage certification shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority
confirming that the required standard has been achieved.

Reason: In the interest of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable development.

Construction

7)

No development in any phase shall take place until a Construction and
Environmental Method Statement for that phase has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statements shall
be adhered to throughout the construction period for those phases. These shall
include details relating to:

(i) The control of noise and vibration emissions from construction activities including
groundwork and the formation of infrastructure, along with arrangements to monitor
noise emissions from the development site during the construction phase;

(ii) The loading and unloading and storage of plant and materials on site;

(iii) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;

(iv) The control and suppression of dust and noise including arrangements to monitor
dust emissions from the development phase during construction;

(v) Measures for controlling pollution/sedimentation and responding to any
spillages/incidents during the construction phase;

(vi) Measures to control mud deposition off-site from vehicles leaving the site,
including the provision of wheel washing facilities;

(vii) The control of surface water drainage from parking and hard-standing areas
including the design and construction of oil interceptors (including during the
operational phase);

(viii)The use if any of impervious bases and impervious bund walls for the storage of
oils, fuels or chemicals on-site;

(ix) The location and size of temporary parking and details of operatives and
construction vehicle loading, off-loading and turning and personal, operatives and
visitor parking;

(x) Lighting strategy for the construction phase, designed to minimise light spillage
from the application site; and

(xi) Measures to manage the routeing and timings for construction and delivery
vehicles

Reason: To ensure the development does not prejudice conditions of residential
amenity, highway safety and convenience, and local ecology, through adverse levels
of noise and disturbance during construction.

156
Page 169



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

8) No construction work in connection with each phase of the development shall take
place on any Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except between the
following times:- Monday to Friday 0730 - 1900 hours, Saturdays 0730 - 1300 hours
unless in association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity

9) No impact pile driving in connection with the construction of each phase of the
development shall take place on the site on any Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor any
other day except between the following times:- Monday to Friday 0800-1800hours,
Saturday 0800 — 1300, unless in association with an emergency or with the written
approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

Highways

10) The access details (including footpath connections)for each phase shown on the

approved plans shall be completed prior to the occupation of that phase hereby
approved, and the accesses shall thereafter be maintained.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

11) The area shown on the submitted plans as loading, off-loading and vehicle parking

spaces shall be used for or be available for such use at all times when the premises
are in use and no development, whether permitted by the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or
any order revoking or re-enacting that Order) or not, shall be carried out on that area
of land or in such a position as to preclude vehicular access to this reserved area;
such land and access thereto shall be provided prior to the commencement of the
use hereby permitted.

Reason: Development without adequate provision for the parking, loading or off-
loading of vehicles is likely to lead to parking inconvenient to other road users

12) Prior to the commencement of the external works for each phase, details of the

secure covered cycle storage facilities for that phase have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details and maintained thereafter.

Reason: in the interests of sustainable development

13) No occupation of each phase shall take place until a Staff Travel Plan, to reduce

dependency on the private car, has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan shall include objectives and modal-
split targets, a programme of implementation and provision for monitoring, review
and improvement (including the appointment of a travel plan coordinator).
Thereafter, the Travel Plan shall be put into action and adhered to throughout the
life of the development, or that of the Travel Plan itself, whichever is the shorter.

Reason: in the interests of sustainable development

14) Prior to the commencement of the external works for each phase, details of electric

changing facilities to be provided in that phase shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be completed

157
Page 170



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

prior to first public use of the buildings, and maintained thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of sustainable development.

15) No development in any phase shall be brought into use until the visibility splays as
shown on the approved plans have been provided, and such splays shall thereafter
be maintained with no obstructions over 0.9 metres above carriageway level within
the splays.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

Landscaping

16) No development in any phase shall take place until full details of all existing trees
and/or hedges in that phase, details of any trees or hedges proposed for removal,
and measures to protect any trees or hedges shown to be retained within or
immediately adjacent to the site, have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include
(@) a plan showing the location of, and allocating a reference number to each
existing tree and hedge on the site to be retained and indicating the crown spread of
each tree, and extent of any hedge, and identifying those trees and hedges to be
removed.

(b) details of the size, species, diameter, approximate height and an assessment
of the general state of health and stability of each retained tree and hedge.

(c) details of any proposed arboricultural works required to any retained tree or
hedge

(d) details of any alterations in ground levels and of the position of any excavation
or other engineering works within the crown spread of any retained tree.

(e) details of the specification and position of fencing and of any other measures
to be taken for the protection of any retained tree or hedge from damage before or
during the course of development .

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and
the approved protection measures shall be installed in full prior to the
commencement of any development, and retained for the duration of construction
works. No works, access, or storage within the protected areas shall take place,
unless specifically approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority

In this condition “retained tree or hedge” means any existing tree or hedge which is
to be retained in accordance with the drawing referred to in (a) above.

Reason: In the interests of protecting existing trees and hedges which are worthy of
retention in the interests of the amenities of the area.

17) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until full
details of both hard and soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include existing trees,
shrubs and other features, planting schedules of plants, noting species (which shall
be native species and of a type that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity), plant
sizes and numbers where appropriate, means of enclosure, hard surfacing
materials, measures to prevent vehicles from overhanging onto paths and
landscaped areas within the car park, and an implementation programme.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife
and biodiversity.

158
Page 171



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

18) All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of each
phase of the development or in accordance with the programme, taking account of
the planting seasons, as agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife
and biodiversity.

19) Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any trees or shrubs that are
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever
planting season is agreed.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife
and biodiversity.

20) No development beyond the construction of foundations to the retail unit shall take
place until details of the design and siting of a public art installation have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
details shall be installed prior to first opening of the retail unit to the public, or in
accordance with a timetable approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.

21)The open space for each phase, as identified on drawing 1416 OSA shall be
provided and made available for public use at all times prior to first occupation of
that phase of the development, and maintained as such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that the development contributes to wider space objectives as
set out under Policy MU7 of the Local Plan.

Contamination

22) Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be
permitted within the relevant phase other than with the express written prior consent
of the Local Planning Authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where
it has been demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater.
The development of that phase shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

Reason: To protect controlled water and comply with the NPPF.

23) If, during development of a relevant phase, contamination not previously identified
is found to be present in that phase then no further development (unless otherwise
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out in that phase
until the developer has submitted a remediation strategy to the Local Planning
Authority detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and
obtained written approval from the Local Planning Authority. The remediation
strategy shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To protect controlled waters and comply with the NPPF.

Drainage

159
Page 172



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

24) No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground in any phase is permitted
other than with the written consent of the Local Planning Authority for that phase.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with any such approved details.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water
pollution caused by mobilised contaminants in line with paragraph 109 of the
National Planning Policy Framework

25) No development shall commence in any phase until details of the proposed means
of foul sewerage disposal for that phase have been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure adequate foul drainage facilities are provided

26) No development in any phase shall take place until a detailed sustainable surface
water drainage scheme for that phase has been submitted to (and approved in
writing by) the local planning authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall
demonstrate that the surface water generated by each phase of the development
(for all rainfall durations and intensities up to and including the climate change
adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be accommodated and disposed of within the
curtilage of the site, as detailed within the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage
Strategy prepared by BSP Consulting referenced 17-0303/FRA-DS, without
increase to flood risk on or off-site. The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate that
silt and pollutants resulting from the site use and construction can be adequately
managed to ensure there is no pollution risk to receiving waters.

Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the
disposal of surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate
the risk of on/off site flooding. These details and accompanying calculations are
required prior to the commencement of the development as they form an intrinsic
part of the proposal, the approval of which cannot be disaggregated from the carrying
out of the rest of the development.

27) No building hereby permitted in any phase shall be occupied until an operation and
maintenance manual for the proposed sustainable drainage scheme for that phase
is submitted to (and approved in writing) by the local planning authority. The manual
at a minimum shall include the following details:

* A description of the drainage system and it's key components

* A general arrangement plan with the location of drainage measures and critical
features clearly marked

» An approximate timetable for the implementation of the drainage system

» Details of the future maintenance requirements of each drainage or SuDS
component, and the frequency of such inspections and maintenance activities

* Details of who will undertake inspections and maintenance activities, including the
arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or any other
arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage system throughout
its lifetime

The drainage scheme as approved shall subsequently be maintained in accordance
with these details.

Reason: To ensure that any measures to mitigate flood risk and protect water quality
on/off the site are fully implemented and maintained (both during and after
construction), as per the requirements of paragraph 103 of the NPPF and its
associated Non-Statutory Technical Standards.

160
Page 173



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

28) No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the
development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Verification Report
pertaining to the surface water drainage system for that phase, carried out by a
suitably qualified professional, has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority
which demonstrates the suitable operation of the drainage system such that flood
risk is appropriately managed, as approved by the Lead Local Flood Authority. The
Report shall contain information and evidence (including photographs) of
earthworks; details and locations of inlets, outlets and control structures; extent of
planting; details of materials utilised in construction including subsoil, topsail,
aggregate and membrane liners; full as built drawings; and topographical survey of
‘as constructed’ features.

Reason: To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters,
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed
is compliant with the National Planning Policy Framework.

Environmental

29)No dust or fume extraction or filtration equipment, or air conditioning, heating,
ventilation or refrigeration equipment shall be installed on each phase of the
development until full details of its design, siting, discharge points and predicted
acoustic performance for that phase of development have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of nearby residential properties.

30) No deliveries shall take place outside the hours of 0600 - 2300 hours Monday to
Saturday, and deliveries between the hours of 0600 - 0700 shall be conducted in
line with the Delivery Management Plan dated November 2018. No deliveries shall
take place on a Sunday, bank or public holiday outside of the hours of 08:00 — 20:00,
and deliveries between the hours of 08:00 and 09:00 shall be conducted in line with
the Delivery Management Plan dated November 2018.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

Retail impact

31) The development hereby approved shall only be used as a Class A1 retail foodstore
and shall be restricted to ‘limited product line deep discount retailing’ and shall be
used for no other purpose falling within Class A1 of the Town and County Planning
(Use Classes) Order 1987 (or any order revoking or re-enacting or amending that
Order with or without modification). ‘Limited product line deep discount retailing’ shall
be taken to mean the sale of no more than 2,000 individual product lines.

Reason: To prevent unacceptable impacts arising from the development upon the
vitality and viability of Faversham Town Centre

32) The Total Class A1 (retail) floorspace hereby permitted shall not exceed 1,725 sqm
gross internal area. The net sales area (defined as all internal areas to which
customers have access, including checkouts and lobbies) shall not exceed 1,254
sgm without the consent of the Local Planning Authority.

161
Page 174



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

Reason: To prevent unacceptable impacts arising from the development upon the
vitality and viability of Faversham Town Centre

33) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting
or amending that Order with or without modification), the Class A1 (retail) floorspace
hereby permitted shall be used primarily for the sale of convenience goods with a
maximum of 251 sgm of the net sales area devoted to comparison goods

Reason: To control the extent of comparison goods retailing, Reason: to prevent
unacceptable impacts upon the vitality and viability of Faversham Town Centre

34) The Class A1 (retail) unit hereby permitted shall be used as a single unit and shall
not be sub-divided into two or more units, and no concessions shall be permitted
within the unit.

Reason: To prevent unacceptable impacts arising from the development upon the
vitality and viability of Faversham Town Centre

35) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting or
amending that Order with or without modification), no mezzanine floor or other form
of internal floor to create additional floorspace other than that hereby permitted shall
be constructed in the herby permitted Class A1 (retail) unit.

Reason: To prevent unacceptable impacts arising from the development upon the
vitality and viability of Faversham Town Centre

36) The class A1 retail use hereby permitted shall not be open to customers or any other
persons not employed within the business operating from the site outside the
following times 0700 - 2200 on weekdays, Saturdays and Bank and Public Holidays
and any 6 hours between 1000 - 1800 on Sundays.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

Ecology

37) No installation of an external lighting scheme for each phase shall take place until a
bat sensitive lighting scheme to minimise impacts on bats, for each phase, is
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of amenity and biodiversity

38) No development of any phase shall take place until a detailed mitigation strategy for
all protected species has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local
Planning Authority for that phase. The development shall then be implemented in
accordance with the agreed strategy.

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity

39) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place in any
phase until a detailed scheme of ecological enhancements for that phase have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
enhancement measures shall be completed prior to first use of the building.

162
Page 175



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

NB

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity.

Archaeology

40) No development of any phase shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or

successors in title, has secured the implementation of the following, for each phase:

(1) archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority; and

(2) following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure
preservation in situ of important archaeological remains and/or further
archaeological investigation and recording in accordance with a specification and
timetable which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason: To ensure appropriate assessment of the archaeological implications of any
development proposals and the subsequent mitigation of adverse impacts through
preservation in situ or by record

INFORMATIVES

1) A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in
order to service this development, please contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove
House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119)
or www.southernwater.co.uk. Please read our New Connections Services
Charging Arrangements documents which has now been published and is
available to read on our website via the following link
https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructure-charges.

The Council’s approach to the application

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF),
July 2018 the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development
proposals focused on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and
creative way by offering a pre-application advice service, where possible, suggesting
solutions to secure a successful outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants /
agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application.

In this case, the application was considered by the Planning Committee where the
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the
application.

For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

163
Page 176


https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructure-charges

Planning Committee - 30 May 2019 ITEM 2.4

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

164
Page 177



Planning Committee - 30 May 2019

ITEM 2.4

~Hs
CE

I-.l"—‘.
Lr

!

] | =
|
L

E{E‘J

::] '__'_"||
L

3]
—J

Y/ |

]

i
|

. Land At Perry Court - 18/502735FULL
W Scale: 1:1415

: I:q_jr_’j[—

/

][]

I.—.I"l

,,d']

U

i
L"'l

ry

Vi ASTUN
dll TECHNOLOGY
& fatun Technology Lid

N Frinted on: 212019 at 12:04 PM by JossphM

165
Page 178



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 PART 5

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 30 MAY 2019 PART 5

Report of the Head of Planning

PART 5

Decisions by County Council and Secretary of State, reported for information

Item 5.1 — 30 Ferry Road, lwade

APPEAL DISMISSED

COMMITTEE REFUSAL

Observations

Full support for the Council’'s adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance in respect of
householder extensions.

Item 5.2 — Friston, Lower Road, Eastchurch

APPEAL DISMISSED

DELEGATED REFUSAL

Observations

Full support for the Council’s adopted policies and Supplementary Planning Guidance,
which strengthens the Council’s position for future applications.

Item 5.3 — 10 Athelstan Road, Faversham

APPEAL ALLOWED

DELEGATED REFUSAL

Observations

Whilst the Inspector accepts that consideration of outlook for a neighbour is a planning
consideration, and in my view the two storey elongation of the original rear wing of this
Victorian L shaped house makes an already poor situation worse, the Inspector has
said the neighbour already has a restricted outlook and that the extension would not
make matters worse for them.

Item 5.4 — Ashfield Court Farm, Newington

APPEAL ALLOWED

DELEGATED REFUSAL

166
Page 179



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 PART 5

Observations
The Inspector has provided useful commentary that will assist officers in determining
future similar applications.
o Item 5.5 — 19 Victory Street, Sheerness
APPEAL ALLOWED
DELEGATED REFUSAL
Observations
The Inspector is clear that the harm arising from the development is not so significant
as to justify refusal of permission in this instance.
¢ Item 5.6 — Coronation Drive, Leysdown
APPEAL DISMISSED
DELEGATED REFUSAL
Observations
The Inspector supported the Council’'s position that harm to the countryside

outweighed housing supply issues due to the unsustainable location of the site. Full
support for the Council’s refusal.

167
Page 180



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.1

| @ The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 26 March 2019

by Philip Willmer BSc Dip Arch RIBA
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 17 April 2019

Appeal Ref: APP/V2255/D/19/3221434

30 Ferry Road, Iwade, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME9 8RR.

+ The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

* The appeal is made by Mr Roger Ware-Lane against the deasion of Swale Borough
Council.

+ The application Ref 18/505113/FULL, dated 28 September 2018, was refused by notice
dated 13 December 2018.

* The development proposed is for a second storey addition over garage to side elevation.
Pitched roof to match existing.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Main Issue

2. I consider the main issue to be the effect of the proposed extension on the
character and appearance of the area.

Reasons

3. The appeal property, number 30 Ferry Road, is one half of a semi-detached
pair of two-storey dwellings. It is one of 2 number of similar semi-detached
houses set back from Ferry Road. The neighbouring property, number 28, has
been extended up to the boundary of number 30 by way of a single storey side
extension, linked and attached garage. However, as I saw despite these
ground floor additions generally there is a significant gap between the pairs of
dwellings, particularly at first floor level, giving this side of the street an open
and spacious appearance. In contrast the newer development on the opposite
side of the road comprises terraced housing.

4, Further, as identified by the appellant, a significant proportion of the new
housing development in Iwade likewise comprises terraced, link-detached and
three-storey apartment blocks. From my observations on site, therefore,
although contrasting with the new development, the openness of the semi-
detached houses here represents the local distinctiveness of this side of the
road.

5. In addition to the conversion of the garage into a utility room, toilet and
additional kitchen space, the appellant proposes the construction of a first floor
extension over the existing garage to provide an additional bedroom and

https:/fwww.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

168
Page 181



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.1

Appeal Decision APP/V2255/0/19/3221434

ensuite at first floor level, The addition would extend the building at first floor
level virtually hard up to the boundary with number 28.

6. The proposed first floor addition would be set back behind the front wall of the
existing dwelling and has been designed with a hipped roof the ridoe of which
is set down below that of the host property. In itself the proposed addition
would be a well mannerad design subservient to the semi-detached pair.

7. The Council’'s Supplementary Planning Guidance - Designing an Extension — A
Guide for Householders (SPG) states that where a two-storey side extension to
g house is proposed in an area of mainly detached or semi-detached housing,
the Council is anxious to see that the area should not become terraced in
character, losing the sense of openness. It goes on to advise that a gap of 2.0
metres between a first floor extension and the side boundary is normally
required.

8. I understand that the gap between the flank wall of number 30 as extended
and the side boundary of number 28 at both ground and first floor level would
in this case only be about 0.25 metres. Accordingly, even allowing for the
staggered frontage, the hip roof form of the extension and the fact that the
appeal property and its neighbours are set well back from the road, the
proposal, as designed, would result in such a significant loss of openness in the
street scene as to result in harm to the open and spacious character of the
development hera.

9, My attention has been drawn to two recent appeal decisions
APPMNZ2255/D/17/3187449 and APP/V2255/D/17/3187449 where it would
appear from the limited information before me that not dissimilar side additions
have been allowed. However, the circumstances surrounding these decisions
appear to be different to this matter which, in any case, I have considerad on
its individual planning merits.

10. I therefore conclude, in respect of the main issue, that the proposed two-storey
side extension, by virtue of its projection to the side boundary at first floor
level, would result in a2 harmful loss of openness between dwellings at first floor
level, which would give rise to significant harm to the spacious character and
appearance of the street scene. This would be contrary to Policies DM14 and
DM16 of The Swale Borough Local Plan — Bearing Fruits 2031 (adopted July
2017) and to Para 5.0 of the Council’s SPG as they relate to the need to reflect
the positive characteristics of the site and loczlity and to reinforce or enhance
as appropriate local distinctiveness.

Conclusions

11. For the reasons given above and having regard to all other matters raised, I
conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.

Philip Willmer

INSPECTOR

169
Page 182



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.2

| @ The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 26 March 2019

by Philip Willmer BSc Dip Arch RIBA
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 17 April 2019

Appeal Ref: APP/V2255/D/19/3220418

Friston, Lower Road, Eastchurch, Sheerness, Kent, ME12 4HN.

+ The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

* The appeal is made by Mr Mark Coates against the decision of Swale Borough Council.

* The application Ref 18/502617/FULL, dated 26 Apnl 2018, was refused by notice dated
29 November 2018.

* The development proposed is described as demolition of existing conservatory to
replace with single storey ground floor extension and first floor alterations.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Procedural Matters

2. The address of the property is given as Eastchurch Road, Eastchurch.
However, from both the Council’s decision notice and from my visit to site I
note that it is located in Lower Road, Eastchurch. I have therefore adopted the
correct road name in the header above.

Main Issue

3. I consider the main issue in this case to be the effect of the proposed
development on the host property and the character and appearance of the
area.

Reasons

4, Friston is a modest detached chalet bungalow, previously extended to the rear
and side with single storey additions. Immediately to the west is a larger
detached chalet bungalow with a pair of semi-detached two-storey cottages to
the east. It is located outside the built up area boundary in open countryside.

5. The appellant proposes the erection of a single storey side extension, first floor
rear extension and a loft extension including raising the roof,

6. Policy DM11 of The Swale Borough Local Plan — Bearing Fruits 2031 (adopted
July 2017) (LP) states that the Council will permit extensions (taking into
goccount any previous additions undertaken) to existing dwellings in rural areas
where they are appropriate in scale, mass and appearance in relation to the
lecation.

7. The Council has also drawn my attention to its Supplementary Planning
Guidance - Designing an Extension-A Guide for Householders (SPG). At

https:/fwww.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

170
Page 183



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.2

Appeal Decision APP/V2255/0/19/3220418

10.

paragraph 2.3 it advises that in the countryside scale 1s of particular
importance and policies are therefore designed to maintain the attractive
character of rural areas. Accordingly it states that the Council will not normally
approve an increase in floorspace of more than 60%. The Council has
calculated, and this is not challenged by the appellant, that taking into account
previous additions, including the conversion of the roof void, the cumulative
increase in floor area, if these further additions were permitted would be about
180%, being some three times more than normally found acceptable.

Due to its three dimensional form and overall massing the proposed first floor
rear addition, when viewed from the rear and sides would be large, prominent
and completely envelop the existing modest chalet.

As a result of the proposal the overall height of the extension would not be
significantly increased and in this respect it would have limited impact on the
street scene. However, although more modest and well articulated, the side
extension, where the roof would be a continuzation of the main roof, would
significantly elongate the principal elevation which in turn would impact on the
street scene.

I conclude in respect of the main issue that notwithstanding the overall
increase in floor area, the proposed development as designed would, by reason
of its three dimensional form and massing, be harmful not only to the host
property but also the character and appearance of the wider countryside. It
would therefore be contrary to LP Policies CP4, DM11, DM14 and DM16 and to
the advice in the SPG as they seek to ensure that, amongst other things
development is appropriately scaled and reinforces local distinctiveness.

Other Matters

11.

The appellant has set cut the particular circumstances of the family that justify
the need for the proposed first floor accommeodation. I acknowledge the health
condition of one family member as outlined in the appellant’s statement. Given
the sensitive nature of the health information supplied to me as part of this
appeal, it would not be appropriate for me to outline the specific health
condition of the individual concerned. However, on the basis of the appellant’s
statement in this regard, I have no doubt that the proposal would be of benefit
for the family member. This is a personal circumstance to which I afford
weight in favour of the appeal. However, this must still be balanced against
other material considerations.

2. I note the proposed use of reclaimed materials that I am sure would help the

proposed side extension blend with the existing building. I also appreciate that
the Council found the proposal would have little impact on the living conditions
of neighbouring cccupiers. Further, I believe, as suggestad, the development
could be undertaken with limited impact on residential amenity. Iam also
aware that the appellant has endeavoured to address the concerns of the
Parish Council. However none of these considerations, either alone or
collectively, outweigh my findings on the main issue.

Planning balance and conclusion

13.

I acknowledge the health issues associated with one member of the family.
This is a matter which weighs in favour of allowing the proposed development.
In considering this matter, I have had due regard to the Public Sector Equality

htzps: Ve, gowlkplanning-inspectorate 2

171
Page 184



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.2

Appeal Decision APP/V2255/0/19/3220418

14,

15.

Duty contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, which sets out the nead
to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and due to
advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between people who
share a protected characteristic and people who do not share it. I have also
had regard to rights conveyed within the Human Rights Act.

In respect of the above, these matters have to be weighed against my
conclusion on the main issue which is that the proposal would have a
significant adverse impact upon the host property and the character and
appsarance of the area. In this case, a refusal of planning permission is a
proportionate and necessary approach to the legitimate aim of ensuring that
significant harm is not caused to the character and appearance of the area.
Indeed, the protection of the public interest cannot be achieved by means that
are less interfering of the human rights of the family member.

Consequently, whilst 1T acknowledge the personal circumstances of the family
member, I conclude that this is not a matter which ocutweighs the significant
harm that would be caused by the proposal in respect of my aforementioned
conclusion on the main issue. Therefore, and taking into account all other
matters raised, the appeal should be dismissed.

Philip Willmer

INSPECTOR

172
Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.3

| @ The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 17 April 2019

by Mr Kim Bennett DipTP MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 24 April 2019

Appeal Ref: APP/V2255/D/19/3221136

10 Athelston Road, Faversham ME13 8Q)

+ The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

+* The appeal is made by Mr P Bennett and Ms P Turner against the decsion of Swale
Borough Council.

+ The application Ref 18/506066/FULL, dated 21 November 2018, was refused by notice
dated 10 January 2019.

* The development proposed is a two storey rear extension.

Decision

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for a2 two storey rear
extension at 10 Athelston Road, Faversham ME13 8QJ in accordance with the
terms of the application, Ref 18/306066/FULL, dated 21 November 2018,
subject to the following conditions:

1)  The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years
from the date of this decision.

[a
—t

The development hereby permitted shall be carmied out in accordance
with the following approved plans: 101/P2; 102/P1; 103/P1; 104/P2;
105/P3 and 106/P2.

3)  The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of
the development hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing
building.

Procedural Matter

2. The application was originally submitted to include a rear dormer and a ground
floor rear extension as well as the two storey rear extension. However,
following discussions with the Council the dormer window and ground floor
extension were deleted from the proposed scheme. These were subsequently
approved separately and individually under permitted development.*

Main Issue

3. The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the living conditions of the
occupiers of No 8 Athelston Road.

! Application reference Nos 18/306497 & 18/306307

https:/fwww.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

173
Page 187



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.3

Appeal Dedsion APP/VZ2255/D/19/3221136

Reasons

4, The appeal site comprises a two storey end of terrace house on the southern
side of Athelston Road and close to its junction with Kingsnorth Road. At the
rear, there is a two storey projection inset from the common boundary with No
8 Athelston Road and a single storey extension beyond that which has recently
been demolished. There is 2@ matching two storey projection at No 10
Athelston Road, although that has been extended further back and also at two
storey level, and with a single storey extension beyond that. The rear dormer
referred to above has since been completad and at the time of my visit,
preparatory building works were underway to commence the ground floor
extension, also approved under permitted development. No 8 Athelston Road
lies to the east and on slightly lower ground because of the rise in the road
level. Itis also two storey but is semi-detached, and the two properties are
separated by a narrow alleyway.

5. The Council is concarned that the proposed extension would detract from the
outlook from Mo 8, particularly bearing in mind that the appeal site is on
slightly higher ground. In reaching that view, the Council took into account
that the proposed extension would breach the Building Ressarch
Establishments (BRE) 45° rule. It would also conflict with advice in the
Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance - "Dasigning an Extension- A guide
for Householders” (SPG), which says that first floor extensions close to the
commaon boundary should not exceed 1.8 metres.

6. The appellant points cut that the BRE tool is more an assessment for daylight
and sunlight than for outlook and questions whether the latter is a proper
planning consideration in any case. I agree with the former point although the
45° rule is not decisive in itself; it merely indicates that daylight and sunlight
may be an issue which might prompt further studies. In this case the appellant
has produced such studies to show that levels of daylight reaching the windows
of Mo 8 would not be significantly impacted by the extension and there Is no
evidence before me to the contrary.

7. Interms of ocutlook being a planning consideration however, I disagree with the
appellant and although more subjective, it nethertheless forms part of an
overall assessment as to whether there would be an adverse impact upon living
conditions that occupiers of adjacent properties could reasonably expect to
enjoy. In that respect, regard needs to be had to the existing character of
properties and the relationship between them. In this instance, outlock has
always besn somewhat restricted because of the plan form of the properties
and the original rear projections at two storey level which reduces wider
outlook.

8. Also of significance in this case, is the permitted development approval for the
ground floor rear extension which extends up to the commen boundary with No
8 and to a significant depth. That extension will impact upon the rear ground
floor living room of No 8 to a far greater extent than the proposed two storey
extension would, and represents a significant material consideration given that
construction work has already commenced. The potential impact is therefore
not just hypothetical. As a result, any impact upon No 8 from the current
appezl proposal would be mainly at first floor level where there is a rear facing
bedroom window. However, outlook from that window is already somewhat
restricted and bearing in mind the first floor element of the proposed two

htzps: Ve, gowlkplanning-inspectorate 2

174
Page 188



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.3

Appeal Dedsion APP/VZ2255/D/19/3221136

10.

11.

13.

storey extension would be 2 metres away from the common boundary with No
8 and would extend only 2 metres further in depth than the existing situation, I
do not consider that outlook would be significantly changed, notwithstanding
the slight increase in height of the appeal site.

With regard to conflict with the SPG, I do not see that being necessarily the
case in this instance, since it specifically refers to a more flexible approach
being taken if there is a gap to the boundary with the neighbour, which is the
case here. In any event, such guidance cannot be prescriptive and much will
depend upon individual relationships between adjoining sites.

Drawing the above together, I am satisfied that there would be no adverse
impact upen the living conditions of the occupiers of No 8 Athelston Road, as a
result of the proposal before me for consideration and bearing in mind current
ongoing development.

The Council does not raise any issue with regard to any adverse impact upon
Mo 12 Athelston Road nor with the design of the proposed extension and I
agree with those assessments.

. Having regard to the above, the proposal is compliant with Policies CP4, DM14

and DM16& of the Council’s Local Plan: Bearing Fruits 2031 in that it would be
appropriate in height, massing and scale and would cause no significant harm
to amenity. Conditions for the development to be built in accordance with the
approved plans and for matching maternals, are necessary in the interests of
certainty and visual amenity.

accordingly, the appeal is allowed and planning permission granted.

K im Bennett

INSPECTOR

175
Page 189



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.3

176
Page 190



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.4

| @ The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision

Site visit made on 2 April 2019

by Kenneth Stone BSC Hons DipTP MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 24 April 2019

Appeal Ref: APP/V2255/D/19/3223271
Ashfield Court Farm, School Lane, Newington ME9 7LB

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

The appeal is made by Mrs Maureen Green against the decsion of Swale Borough
Council.

The application Ref 18/505431/FULL, dated 16 October 2018, was refused by notice
dated 14 December 2018.

The development proposed is the conversion and extension of the existing triple garage
at Ashfield Farm into an annex for a dependent elderly relative.

Decision

1.

The appeal is allowed and planning permissicn is granted for the conversion
and extension of the existing triple garage at Ashfield Farm into an annex for a
dependent elderly relative at Ashfield Court Farm, School Lane, Newington MES
7LB in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 18/505431/FULL,
dated 16 October 2018, subject to the following conditions:

1)  The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years
from the date of this decision.

2
—t

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans: site location plan, 18.33.01; proposed
block plan, 18.33.03; Proposed plans and elevations, 18.33.05.

3)  The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of
the development hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing
garage.

Preliminary matters

2.

The Council are concerned that the scale, form and facilities provided in the
extended garage building are likely to give rise to the creation of a separate
residential dwelling, capable of independent occupation from the main dwelling.
The first question I turn to is whether the proposal would constitute a separate
dwelling or would it be capable of such.

The description of development proposes the conversion and extension of the
existing triple garage into an annexe for a dependent elderly relative. The
plans indicate that the accommodation to be provided would be two bedrooms,
a separate WC, a bathroom with a WC, a living dining area and a separate
utility room. Mo kitchen facilities are shown on the submitted plans. Beyond
the building the ‘annexe’ would not be provided with a separate garden area

https:/fwww.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

177
Page 191



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.4

Appeal Decision APP/V2255/D/19/3223271

and would be accessed along the same access lane, There is no subdivision of
the plot proposad on the plans and there would be no segregation of the front
parking/ hardstanding/ turning area or the rear private garden.

4, Taking these matters together the existing planning unit incorporates the
bungalow and adjacent detached garage the front parking/ hardstanding/
turning area and the rear amenity space. The proposals would not result in the
subdivision of that planning unit and it is the intention of the applicant that the
‘annexe’ accommaodation to be created would be occupied by an elderly relative
who would share living activities with the occcupants of the main dwelling.
Indeed on the basis of the submitted plans there are no cooking facilities for
the new "annexe’ facility. Together with the access, parking and garden area
this would to my mind demonstrate a functional relationship between the main
house and the "annexe’.

5. I accept that the proposed ‘annexe’ could be altered to introduce cooking
facilities, or a small kitchen which may reduce that functional relationship but
as was established in Uttlesford DC v SSE & White [1992] even if the
accommeodation provided facilities for independent day-to-day living, it would
not necessarily become a separate planning unit from the main dwelling. The
use of the building as ancillary accommodation to the main dwelling would
therefore not result in a material change of use.

6. The case may arise in the future that there were subsequent alterations to the
building or plot or cccupation such that would mean that development had
occurred, and this would then be a matter for the local planning authority
dependant on the facts of the case at that time. As the appeal is presented
there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate a functional link and a degree of
inter dependence on the future cccupiers of the development such that it is
appropriate to consider the proposal as an annexe.

7. That being said the guestion then arises as to whether the cccupation should
be secured to ensure its future occupation as an annexe by way of a suitably
worded condition. The Council considered and set aside such a condition as
they considered the functional link could not be adequately secured by the
impaosition of such a condition. The appellant on the other hand has contended
that the lack of kitchen facilities associated with the other functional links
clearly establish the functional nature of the relationship of the future occupiers
and therefore the condition is unnecessary. Also pointing out that the Council
on previcus decisions have relied on the functional associations to determine
whether a proposal is an annexe or not.

8. I have concluded that the proposal before me is an annexe and does not result
in a material change of use. That being the case and on the basis of the
information before me I am satisfied that a condition would not therefore be
nacessary in this case as the establishment of a separate dwelling would create
a new planning unit, result in a matenal change of use and would therefore
require planning permission of its own right, should it occur in the future, and
this would give the Council control.

9, As the proposal would not be an independent unit of accommaodation policy ST3
regarding settlemeant hierarchy and Policy CP2 on transport in the Bearing
Fruits 2031 - The Swale Borough Local Plan, adopted July 2017 (LP) are not
material, in the manner argued by the Council, to the determination of this
appeal.

htzps: Ve, gowlkplanning-inspectorate 2

178
Page 192



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.4

Appeal Decision APP/V2255/D/19/3223271

Main Issue

10. Having dealt with the issue of the use of the *annexe’ the main issue in this
case is then the effect of the proposed development on the character and
appearance of the area.

Reasons

11. The proposal would extend and alter an existing triple garage. The garage sits
adjacent to the main bungalow and has a2 hipped and pitched roof. The
proposed extension would be to the rear and replace existing floorspace that
would be demolished. There would be little alteration to the overall floor space
of the extended building however it would have its bulk and mass increased
due to the additional reofing. The additional roof would be to the rear of the
building, would not result in an increase in the height of the building and would
not be readily visible from the closest main highway, School Lane.

12. Scheool Lane is some 60 or so metres to the front of the properties and there
arz glimpsed views through to the existing bungalow and garage but the rear
or side elevations would not be readily visible. The buildings sit close to
another agricultural work shop building and together the proposed extension
would not significantly add to the scale of built development either the garage
building or the buildings immediately surrounding. If glimpsed views of the
extension were available these would be seen in the context of the existing
garage, bungalow and adjacent building and would not be seen as out of
keeping in terms of scale.

13. For the reasons given above I conclude that the proposals would not result in
material harm to the character and appearance of the surrounding area.
Consequently, it would not conflict with policies CP3 and DM14 of the LP which
together seek to delivery good quality development and homes.

Overall conclusions and conditions

14. I am satisfied that the proposal would not result in material harm to the
character and appearance of the area and that it would be an annexe for a
dependent elderly relative and not the creation of a new dwelling and I have
determined the appeal on that basis. The proposal therefore is in accordance
with the development plan and there are no material considerations that
indicate a decision otherwise would be appropriate.

15. In terms of conditions I have addressed the necessity, or not as the case may
be, for a condition restricting occupation to ancillary accommodation, however
a condition on the approved plans will ensure the development is implemented
as applied for. Otherwise a materials condition is required in the interests of
the character and appearance of the development.

16. For the reasons given above I conclude that the appeal should be allowed.

Kenneth Stone
INSPECTOR

179
Page 193



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019

| @ The Planning Inspectorate

ITEM 5.5

Appeal Decision

Site visit made on 26 March 2019

by N Thomas MA MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 20 April 2019

Appeal Ref: APP/V2255/18/3214285
19 Victory Street, Sheerness, Kent ME12 1NZ

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Flanning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

The appeal is made by Mr Manga Dhillon of Fans UK Umited against the decision of
Swale Borough Counal.

The application Ref 18/502592/FULL, dated 9 May 2018, was refused by notice dated
9 August 2018.

The development proposed is "retrospective planning for’ 1 bedroom flat with external
staircase.

Decision

1.

The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for a 1 bedroom flat
with external staircase at 19 Victory Street, Sheerness, Kent ME12 1NZ in
accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 18/502592, dated 9 May
2018, and the plans submitted with it, subject to the following condition:

1) The use and other operations hereby permitted shall cease and the external
staircase be removed and all equipment and materials brought onto the
land for the purposes of such use and materials resulting from the
demolition shzall be removed within 30 days of the date of failure to meet
any one of the requirements set out in 1) to iv) below:

i) Within 2 months of the date of this decision a scheme for the painting
of the external staircase in black to match the railings shall have been
submitted for the written approval of the local planning authornty and the
scheme shall include a timetable for its implementation.

ii) If within 11 months of the date of this decision the local planning
authority refuse to approve the scheme or fail to give a decision within
the prescribed period, an appeal shall have been made to, and accepted
as validly made by, the Secretary of State.

iii) If an appeal is made in pursuance of i) above, that appeal shall have
been finally detaermined and the submitted scheme shall have been
approved by the Secretary of State.

iv) The approved scheme shall have been carried out and completed in
accordance with the approved timetable.

Upon implementation of the approved scheme specified in this condition,
that scheme shall thereafter be maintained.

In the event of a legal challenge to this decision, or to a decision made
pursuant to the procedure set out in this condition, the operation of the

https:/fwww.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

180
Page 195



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.5

Appeal Decision APP/V2253/18/3215555

time limits specified in this condition will be suspended until that legal
challenge has been finally determined.

Procedural Matter

2. The appeal relates to the first floor of the building which is in use as a one
bedroom flat. It is accessed via a terrace to the rear and an external metal
staircase. The submitted details indicate that permission is sought for the use
of the first floor as a one bedroom flat and the external staircase. I have
amended the description of the development to remove unnecassary wording
and this forms the basis of my decision.

Main Issue

3. The main issue is the effect of the external metal staircase on the character
and appearance of the site and the Sheerness Mile Town Conservation Area
(Ca).

Reasons

4, The CA is centred on the town centre of Sheerness, which is mostly C19 in
origin, having begun its development in anticipation of the seaside resort
potential of the area, with subsequent growth driven by the expansion of the
role of the nearby Naval Dockyard during the Crimea War. Transport links were
improved in the late C19 with the Sittingbourne to Sheermess railway ling, with
its terminus close to the appeal site. During the 19305 the town became a low
cost holiday resort, popular with Londoners, declining in the second half of the
C20.

5. Buildings in the town centre are generally modest but reflect the town’s
developing functions, giving it a practical and bustling character. The appeal
site falls within an area of rectilinear small streets adjacent to the High Street,
which were originally fronted by timber-framed cottages and later C19 brick
built terraced houses. However, much of the area has been redeveloped,
including with large open car parks, although parts of the street layout
continue to provide evidence of the pattern of development. Victory Street
provides evidence of the grid layout, and contains two small terraces and the
former public house at the appeal site, on the edge of the CA. 19 Victory Street
makes a positive contribution to the CA, as a retained older building in an area
which has been subject to redevelopment.

6. The appeal proposal has resulted in an external metal staircase on the flank
elevation of the building, which is open to views from the main A250
Millennium Way and to the front from Victory Street, The flank elevation is
partially screened by vegetation but the staircase is visible in local views, I saw
on my site visit that there is a degree of visual clutter in the immediate area,
including highway railings, street lights, signage and fences. In the wider area,
I saw a variety of metal railings on boundanes, as well as an external metal
staircase which is visible across the open car park on the other side of Victory
Street. Rear elevations of buildings fronting the High Street are also visible,
creating a varied and busy appearance.

7. In this context, the external metal staircase is not a feature that appears
intrinsically out of character. Notwithstanding this, the galvanised metal
elements appear stark and functional, and combined with the black metal

htzps: Ve, gowlkplanning-inspectorate 2

181
Page 196



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.5

Appeal Decision APP/V2253/18/3215555

railings gives the staircase a discordant appearance. I note however that the
appellant is willing to paint the staircase, which would result in a more
harmonious and coherent appearance, and would thereby preserve the
character and appearance of the CA. I therefore find that, subject to a
condition requiring the galvanised metal elements to be painted black to match
the railings, the proposed development would not be harmful to the character
and appearance of the site and the CA. In reaching this conclusion, I have had
regard to the statutory duty under Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the
Conservation Area.

8. As a result, I do not find any conflict with policies DM14 and DM33 of the Swale
Borough Local Plan 2017, insofar as they seek to ensure that new development
conserves and enhances the built environment and preserves or enhances all
features that contribute positively to the special character and appearance of a
conservation area. I also find no conflict with the guidance in the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Other Matters

9, I note that the Council has raised concerns in the Planning Officer’s report
regarding the effect of the extraction system and air conditioning units
associated with the use of the ground floor of 19 Victory Street on the living
conditions of future cccupiers with regard to noise and odour. Howeaver, this did
not form a reason for refusal and the Environmental Health Officer notes that
there is no evidence that nuisance is being caused and that conditions could
not be imposed on the existing use of the ground floor premises. I have no
reason to disagree with this conclusion.

Conditions and Conclusion

10. The purpeose of condition 1 is to require the appellant to comply with a strict
timetable for dealing with the painting of the metal staircase, which needs to
be addressad in order to make the development acceptable. The condition is
drafted in this form because, unlike an application for planning permission for
development yet to commencs, in the case of 2 retrospective grant of
parmission it is not possible to use a2 negatively worded condition precedent to
secure the subsequent approval and implementation of the outstanding
detailed matter because the development has already taken place. The
condition therefore provides for the loss of the effective benefit of the grant of
planning permission where the detailed matters in question are not submitted
for approval during the time set by the condition, approved (either by the local
planning authority ("LPA™) or by the Secretary of State on appeal), and then
implementad in accordance with an approved timetable. Should the
requirements of the condition not be met in line with the strict timetable, then
the planning permission falls away.

11. For the reasons given above, and taking into account all matters raised, I
conclude that the appeal should be allowed.

N Thomas

INSPECTOR

182
Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.6

| @ The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision

Site visit made on 26 March 2019

by N Thomas MA MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 8" May 2019

Appeal Ref: APP/V2255/W/18/3211059

Coronation Drive, Leysdown ME12 4AW

+ The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

* The appeal is made by Mr Brian Mash against the decision of Swale Borough Counal.

* The application Ref 18/500751, dated 7 February 2018, was refused by notice dated
9 May 2018.

* The development proposed is construction of 2 x 3 bedroom dwellings and associated
vehicde parking.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Procedural Matter

2. The application was refused for three reasons. The third reason relates to land
contamination and the main parties are in agreement that this was included on
the decision notice in error and is not being pursued by the Council. T have
therefore dealt with the appeal on the basis of the first two reasons for refusal.

3. Since the Council determined the application, the Government has published
the results of the 2018 Housing Delivery Test (HDT) measurement and the
main parties have been given the opportunity to comment on the implications
for this case.

Main Issues
4, The main issues are:

+  Whether the site is a suitable location for the proposed development
having regard to the Council’s settlement strategy, its implications for
the countryside, and its accessibility to local services and facilities.

+  Whether the site represents an appropriate location for housing having
regard to flood risk.

Reasons
Suitable location

5. The site is adjacent to the small settlement of Bay View, a predominantly
residential area close to the larger settlement of Leysdown-on-Sea. The site is
open land which is part of a builder’s yard, and with open farmland/paddocks
to the rear and east side, adjacent to some stables and a riding arena, beyond

https:/fwww.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

183
Page 199



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.6

Appeal Decision APP/V2255/W/18/321105%

which are some holiday homes. Coronation Drive is lined with detached
bungalows and chalet bungalows. The submitted evidence indicates that the
app=al site is close to but outside of the defined built-up area boundary for Bay
View, which includes dwellings on the opposite side of Coronation Drive to the
app=al site, and the dwellings beyond the holiday homes. The site is therefore
separated from the defined built up area by the road and by other uses. It has
a different character to the adjacent residential area, is relatively free from
built form and is seen within the context of the wider open countryside. 1
therefore conclude that the site is within the open countryside.

6. Policy ST1 of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2017 (the Local Plan) seeks to
deliver sustainable development that accords with the settlement strategy for
the Borough. Policy ST3 sets out the settlement strateay and directs
development to existing defined settlements and allocated sites. The appeal
site is close to but outside of the built up area boundary, where Policy ST3
seeks to restrict development unless it is supported by national planning policy
and able to demonstrate that it would contribute to protecting the intrinsic
value, landscape setting, tranguillity and beauty of the countryside, its
buildings and the vitality of rural communities. Although it is close to the built-
up area boundary, the site is not within a defined settlement and therefore the
proposal is contrary to the settlement strategy for the area.

7. Policy ST2 makes it clear that the open countryside is outside the built-up area
boundaries, and it dees not include an exception for development on previously
developed land. The proposed development has not been put forward as one of
the exceptions that would be supported by paragraph 79 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (the Framework). The site is currently open and
contrasts with the built-up residential character of Coronation Drive, The
proposed dwellings, hard-standings and associated gardens would introduce a
significant degree of urbanisation into the site. I accept that the proposal
includes wider improvements to the ecological value and visual appearance of
the site, but the extension of the built-up area onto the appeal site would result
in an incursion of built form into the open countryside. The urbanisation of the
appearance of the site would be readily apparent from the surrounding area,
and its intrinsic value as part of the open countryside would thereby be
undermined.

8. Policy CP2 seeks to ensure that development minimises the need to travel for
employment and services. Bay View offers very limited facilities, while there
are some day to day facilities in Leysdown-on-S2a, and Eastchurch Primary
School is within walking distance. The main B2231 has a footway and is lit,
although there is no street lighting within Coronation Drive. I understand that
there is an hourly bus service between Leysdown and Rushenden. It would
therefore be possible to walk or use public transport to access some local
facilities and services. However, in view of the limited bus service and the likely
nead to access a wider range of facilities and services in Eastchurch and further
afield, it is unlikely that future cccupiers would have a realistic alternative to
the private motor car. As a result, the site would have relatively poor
accessibility to local services and facilities.

9. For the reasons set out above, I conclude that the site is not a suitable location
for new housing, in terms of the settlement strategy, the implications for the
countryside, and its accessibility to services and facilities. The proposal would
therefore be in conflict with Policy ST3 of the Local Plan which sets out the

htzps: Ve, gowlkplanning-inspectorate 2

184
Page 200



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019

Appeal Decision APP/V2255/W/18/321105%

ITEM 5.6

settlement strategy and seseks to restrict development in the open countryside,
and Policies ST1, 5T6, CP2 and DM14, which seek, amongst other matters to
deliver sustainable development that accords with the settlement strategy;
focus development at allocated sites or within built up area boundaries;
promote sustainable transport through the location of development; and permit
development that accords with the adopted development plan. Policy DM9
relates to rural exception housing and is not relevant to this proposal as it has
not been put forward as affordable housing to meet local needs. It would also
be contrary the Framework.

Flood risk

10. According to the evidence, the entire appeal site lies within Flood Zone 3, which
is defined by the "Planning Practice Guidance: Flood Risk and Coastal Change”
(PPG) as having a high probability of flooding. The submitted Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA)? identifies that the site benefits from existing flood defences.
Policy DM21 of the Local Plan advises that development proposals should
accord with national planning policy and planning practice guidance, aveoid
inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding.

11. Paragraph 155 of the Framework advises that inappropriate development in
arzas at risk of flooding should be aveided by directing development away from
arzas at highest risk. It further outlines the need for development to pass a
Sequential Test, the aim of which is to steer new development to areas with
the lowest risk of flooding. If there are reasonably available sites at a lower risk
of flooding then the development should not be permittad.

12. The Council is of the view that there are other areas within the Borough that
are at less risk of flooding and I have no reason to disagree. Furthermore, 1
have seen no evidence to suggest that there is no land within Flood Zone 1
that would be available for development in the locality. I recognise that the
appellant wishes to carry out the development on this land to provide dwellings
to be occupied by his own family in a convenient location adjacent to their
equestrian facilities. However, no convincing evidence has been provided to
demonstrate why this is necessary, nor that the future cccupation of the
dwellings would be restricted in this manner. Accordingly, these factors attract
limited weight, and do not demonstrate that the catchment for reasonably
available sites should be so restricted. I acknowladge that the proposad
dwellings would be sited on the higher part of the site, and that the site
benefits from flood defences. However, the Sequential Test reguires
consideration of the potential for other sites to meet the need for the
development. It therefore follows that on the evidence before me, it has not
been demonstrated that the Sequential Test has been passed. Consequently,
more vulnerable residential development should be directed away from the
appeal site to reduce the risk of harm from flooding in accordance with the
advice set out in the Framewaork.

13. Given that I do not consider that the Sequential Test has been passed, it is not
nacessary to go on to consider the Exception Test. I note that the FRA indicates
that the development would not increase the risk of flooding at the site or
elsewhere, through the incorporation of a mitigation measures and sustainable
urban drainage features, and that subject to mitigation measures regarding the

! Flood Risk Assessment for the Proposed Development at Land at Coronation Drive, Leysdown-on-Sea, Kent
January 2018 by Herrington Consulting Limited,

htzps: Ve, gowlkplanning-inspectorate 3

185
Page 201



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.6

Appeal Decision APP/V2255/W/18/321105%

14.

finished floor levels that the risk of flooding would be low. On this basis, the
Envircnment Agency had no objection to the proposal. I also recognise that the
proposal would bring modest benefits to the local economy and community
through supporting facilities and services, and would be built to high
environmental standards. However, these factors do not addrass the
Framework's general objective of avoiding such development in higher risk
locations in the first instance.

As the development would fail the Sequential Test, I therefore find that the site
does not represent an appropriate lecation for housing having regard to flood
risk. It would therefore be contrary to Policy DM21 of the Local Plan, insofar as
it seeks to ensure that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding is
avoided, and the flooding implications of development should be considered in
line with national planning pelicy and planning practice guidance. It would also
be contrary to the Framework.

Other Matters

15.

I have had regard to the site's location in relation to a Eurcpean designated
site afforded protection under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2010 as amended. Although not identified as a formal reason for
refusal, the Council has stated that mitigation is required in the form of a
financial contribution. & Unilateral Undertaking has been provided to make
provision for the required mitigation. However, as any consideration of that
matter would not affect my findings on the main issues, and the appeal would
in any case be dismissed, it is not necessary for me to address that objection
any further as part of this decision.

Planning Balance and Conclusion

16.

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with
the development plan, unless material considerations, which include the
Mational Planning Policy Framework, indicate otherwise. I recognise that thers
are policies in the development plan that are supportive of the provision of
additional housing. However, I have identified that the proposed development
would be in conflict with policies ST1, 5T3, STe, CP2, DM14 and DM21 of the
Local Plan. It would therefore be contrary to the relevant development plan
policies.

17. The National Planning Pelicy Framework (the Framework) is a material

consideration in planning decisions and at paragraph 11 it states that where
policies which are most important for determining the application are out of
date, permission should be granted unless specific policies within the
Framework provide a clear reason for refusing the development proposad; or
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits when assessed against the policies in the Framework when taken
as a whole. The Borough has a recently adopted Local Plan and I have seen no
evidence to suggest that it should be considered out of date. In any event, the
first step is to consider whether there are specific policies in the Framework
that indicate that development should be restricted. Footnote & of the
Framework gives examples of such policies, and includes “areas at risk of
flooding”. For the reasons already set out, the proposal would conflict with the
Framework policy in relation to planning and flood risk advice, and specifically
fails to pass the requisite Sequential Test in relation to an area at risk of

htzps: Ve, gowlkplanning-inspectorate 4

186
Page 202



Report to Planning Committee — 30 May 2019 ITEM 5.6

Appeal Decision APP/V2255/W/18/321105%

flooding. This provides a clear reason for refusing the appeal proposal. As such,
the “tilted balance” in paragraph 11d)ii would not apply in these circumstances.

18. For the reasons given above, and taking into account all matters raised, I
conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.

N Thomas

INSPECTOR,

187
Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	5 Deferred Item
	INDEX
	DEF ITEM 1 - 153 London Road Sittingbourne
	Appendix 1 to DEF ITEM 1 - 153 London Road Sittingbourne
	Appendix 2 to DEF ITEM 1 - 153 London Road Sittingbourne
	Appendix 3 to DEF ITEM 1 - 153 London Road Sittingbourne

	6 Report of the Head of Planning Services
	2.1 Meadow View Park Minster
	2.2 Former Tunstall School
	2.3 Thanet Way
	2.4 Land at Perry Court
	Part 5 Index FINAL
	5.1 30 Ferry Road
	5.2 Friston Lower Road
	5.3 10 Athelston Road
	5.4 Ashfield Court Farm
	5.5 19 Victory Street
	5.6 Coronation Drive


